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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Item 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AMGEN INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In millions, except per-share data)
(Unaudited)

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 2021 2020
Revenues:

Product sales $ 6,320 $ 6,104 $ 18,026 $ 17,906 
Other revenues 386 319 1,107 884 

Total revenues 6,706 6,423 19,133 18,790 

Operating expenses:
Cost of sales 1,609 1,561 4,736 4,562 
Research and development 1,422 1,062 3,471 2,978 
Acquired in-process research and development — — 1,505 — 
Selling, general and administrative 1,305 1,346 3,943 3,957 
Other (8) 1 143 162 

Total operating expenses 4,328 3,970 13,798 11,659 

Operating income 2,378 2,453 5,335 7,131 

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (296) (302) (862) (944)
Other income, net 73 55 97 69 

Income before income taxes 2,155 2,206 4,570 6,256 

Provision for income taxes 271 185 576 607 

Net income $ 1,884 $ 2,021 $ 3,994 $ 5,649 

Earnings per share:
Basic $ 3.32 $ 3.45 $ 6.98 $ 9.61 
Diluted $ 3.31 $ 3.43 $ 6.93 $ 9.54 

Shares used in calculation of earnings per share:
Basic 567 585 572 588 
Diluted 570 589 576 592 

See accompanying notes.
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AMGEN INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 2021 2020

Net income $ 1,884 $ 2,021 $ 3,994 $ 5,649 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of reclassification adjustments
and taxes:

(Losses) gains on foreign currency translation (35) 14 (60) (41)
Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges 99 (128) 241 (305)
(Losses) gains on available-for-sale securities (1) 1 (1) (20)
Other (3) (7) (3) (9)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes 60 (120) 177 (375)
Comprehensive income $ 1,944 $ 1,901 $ 4,171 $ 5,274 

See accompanying notes.
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AMGEN INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions, except per-share data)

September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,969 $ 6,266 
Marketable securities 952 4,381 
Trade receivables, net 4,765 4,525 
Inventories 4,152 3,893 
Other current assets 2,542 2,079 

Total current assets 24,380 21,144 

Property, plant and equipment, net 4,982 4,889 
Intangible assets, net 14,659 16,587 
Goodwill 14,665 14,689 
Other noncurrent assets 6,307 5,639 
Total assets $ 64,993 $ 62,948 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 1,171 $ 1,421 
Accrued liabilities 9,383 10,141 
Current portion of long-term debt 4,288 91 

Total current liabilities 14,842 11,653 

Long-term debt 33,291 32,895 
Long-term tax liabilities 6,483 6,968 
Other noncurrent liabilities 2,160 2,023 

Contingencies and commitments

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock and additional paid-in capital; $0.0001 par value; 2,750.0 shares authorized; outstanding—

565.0 shares in 2021 and 578.3 shares in 2020 31,989 31,802 
Accumulated deficit (22,964) (21,408)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (808) (985)

Total stockholders’ equity 8,217 9,409 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 64,993 $ 62,948 

See accompanying notes.
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AMGEN INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In millions, except per-share data)
(Unaudited)

Number
of shares

of common
stock

Common
stock and
additional

paid-in capital
Accumulated

deficit

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss Total

Balance as of December 31, 2020 578.3 $ 31,802 $ (21,408) $ (985) $ 9,409 
Net income — — 1,646 — 1,646 
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes — — — 152 152 
Dividends declared on common stock ($1.76 per share) — — (1,012) — (1,012)
Issuance of common stock in connection with the Company’s

equity award programs 0.7 6 — — 6 
Stock-based compensation expense — 57 — — 57 
Tax impact related to employee stock-based compensation

expense — (59) — — (59)
Repurchases of common stock (3.7) — (865) — (865)

Balance as of March 31, 2021 575.3 31,806 (21,639) (833) 9,334 
Net income — — 464 — 464 
Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes — — — (35) (35)
Issuance of common stock in connection with the Company’s

equity award programs 0.8 47 — — 47 
Stock-based compensation expense — 100 — — 100 
Tax impact related to employee stock-based compensation

expense — (76) — — (76)
Repurchases of common stock (6.5) — (1,592) — (1,592)
Other — — 5 — 5 

Balance as of June 30, 2021 569.6 31,877 (22,762) (868) 8,247 
Net income — — 1,884 — 1,884 
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes — — — 60 60 
Dividends declared on common stock ($1.76 per share) — — (1,017) — (1,017)
Issuance of common stock in connection with the Company’s

equity award programs — 9 — — 9 
Stock-based compensation expense — 111 — — 111 
Tax impact related to employee stock-based compensation

expense — (8) — — (8)
Repurchases of common stock (4.6) — (1,069) — (1,069)

Balance as of September 30, 2021 565.0 $ 31,989 $ (22,964) $ (808) $ 8,217 
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AMGEN INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)

(In millions, except per-share data)
(Unaudited)

Number
of shares

of common
stock

Common
stock and
additional

paid-in capital
Accumulated

deficit

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss Total

Balance as of December 31, 2019 591.4 $ 31,531 $ (21,330) $ (528) $ 9,673 
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles, net of

taxes — — (2) — (2)
Net income — — 1,825 — 1,825 
Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes — — — (134) (134)
Dividends declared on common stock ($1.60 per share) — — (938) — (938)
Issuance of common stock in connection with the Company’s

equity award programs 0.9 10 — — 10 
Stock-based compensation expense — 52 — — 52 
Tax impact related to employee stock-based compensation

expense — (68) — — (68)
Repurchases of common stock (4.3) — (933) — (933)

Balance as of March 31, 2020 588.0 31,525 (21,378) (662) 9,485 
Net income — — 1,803 — 1,803 
Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes — — — (121) (121)
Issuance of common stock in connection with the Company’s

equity award programs 1.0 65 — — 65 
Stock-based compensation expense — 101 — — 101 
Tax impact related to employee stock-based compensation

expense — (81) — — (81)
Repurchases of common stock (2.6) — (591) — (591)
Other — — (2) — (2)

Balance as of June 30, 2020 586.4 31,610 (20,168) (783) 10,659 
Net income — — 2,021 — 2,021 
Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes — — — (120) (120)
Dividends declared on common stock ($1.60 per share) — — (952) — (952)
Issuance of common stock in connection with the Company’s

equity award programs 0.1 5 — — 5 
Stock-based compensation expense — 109 — — 109 
Tax impact related to employee stock-based compensation

expense — (11) — — (11)
Repurchases of common stock (3.0) — (752) — (752)

Balance as of September 30, 2020 583.5 $ 31,713 $ (19,851) $ (903) $ 10,959 

See accompanying notes.
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AMGEN INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)
(Unaudited)

 Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 3,994 $ 5,649 
Depreciation, amortization and other 2,546 2,728 
Deferred income taxes (264) (339)
Acquired in-process research and development 1,505 — 
Other items, net 187 270 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Trade receivables, net (269) (31)
Inventories (215) (316)
Other assets (373) 64 
Accounts payable (260) (202)
Accrued income taxes, net (719) (301)
Long-term tax liabilities 102 110 
Other liabilities 219 712 

Net cash provided by operating activities 6,453 8,344 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (1,639) — 
Purchases of marketable securities (8,901) (5,329)
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 4,403 2,597 
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 7,927 2,338 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (593) (435)
Purchases of equity method investments (154) (3,154)
Other (80) (34)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 963 (4,017)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Net proceeds from issuance of debt 4,946 8,914 
Repayment of debt — (5,000)
Repurchases of common stock (3,532) (2,281)
Dividends paid (3,023) (2,823)
Other (104) (87)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,713) (1,277)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,703 3,050 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 6,266 6,037 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 11,969 $ 9,087 

See accompanying notes.
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AMGEN INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2021
(Unaudited)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

Business

Amgen Inc. (including its subsidiaries, referred to as “Amgen,” “the Company,” “we,” “our” or “us”) is a global biotechnology pioneer that discovers,
develops, manufactures and delivers innovative human therapeutics. We operate in one business segment: human therapeutics.

Basis of presentation

The financial information for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, is unaudited but includes all adjustments (consisting of only
normal, recurring adjustments unless otherwise indicated), which Amgen considers necessary for a fair presentation of its condensed consolidated results of
operations for those periods. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for the full fiscal year.

The condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto contained
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, and with our condensed consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto
contained in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021.

Principles of consolidation

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Amgen as well as its majority-owned subsidiaries. We do not have any
significant interests in any variable interest entities. All material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Property, plant and equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $9.2 billion and $9.0 billion as of
September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued a new accounting standard to ease the financial reporting burdens caused by the
expected market transition from the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) and other interbank offered rates to alternative reference rates, commonly
referred to as reference rate reform. The new standard provides temporary optional expedients and exceptions to current GAAP guidance on contract
modifications and hedge accounting. Specifically, a modification to transition to an alternative reference rate is treated as an event that does not require
contract remeasurement or reassessment of a previous accounting treatment. Moreover, for all types of hedging relationships, an entity is permitted to change
the reference rate without having to dedesignate the hedging relationship. The standard is generally effective for all contract modifications made and hedging
relationships evaluated through December 31, 2022. In January 2021, the FASB issued a new accounting standard to expand on the scope of the original March
2020 standard to include derivative instruments on discounting transactions. We are currently evaluating the impacts that the two standards will have on our
condensed consolidated financial statements.
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2. Acquisitions

On April 16, 2021, Amgen completed its acquisition of Five Prime Therapeutics, Inc. (Five Prime) for total consideration of $1.6 billion, net of cash
acquired. The purchase price was funded with cash on hand. This transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition because substantially all the value of the
assets acquired was concentrated in the intellectual property rights of bemarituzumab, a phase 3 trial-ready, first-in-class program for gastric cancer. Five
Prime’s operations have been included in our condensed consolidated financial statements commencing after the acquisition date.

We allocated the consideration to acquire Five Prime to: the bemarituzumab in-process research and development (IPR&D) program of $1.5 billion,
which was expensed immediately in Acquired IPR&D expense in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income; deferred tax assets of $177 million; and
other net liabilities of $47 million. The acquired IPR&D expense was not tax deductible.
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3. Revenues

We operate in one business segment: human therapeutics. Therefore, results of our operations are reported on a consolidated basis for purposes of
segment reporting, consistent with internal management reporting. Revenues by product and by geographic area, based on customers’ locations, are presented
below. The majority of rest-of-world (ROW) revenues relates to products sold in Europe.

Revenues were as follows (in millions):

Three months ended September 30,
2021 2020

U.S. ROW Total U.S. ROW Total

Enbrel (etanercept) $ 1,263 $ 26 $ 1,289 $ 1,289 $ 36 $ 1,325 
Prolia  (denosumab) 530 273 803 478 223 701 
Otezla (apremilast) 495 114 609 439 99 538 
XGEVA  (denosumab) 372 145 517 363 118 481 
Neulasta (pegfilgrastim) 360 55 415 484 71 555 
Aranesp (darbepoetin alfa) 149 247 396 158 226 384 
Repatha (evolocumab) 139 133 272 92 113 205 
KYPROLIS (carfilzomib) 198 95 293 173 87 260 
Other products 1,052 674 1,726 1,142 513 1,655 
Total product sales $ 4,558 $ 1,762 6,320 $ 4,618 $ 1,486 6,104 
Other revenues 386 319 

Total revenues $ 6,706 $ 6,423 

Nine months ended September 30,
2021 2020

U.S. ROW Total U.S. ROW Total

ENBREL $ 3,270 $ 87 $ 3,357 $ 3,619 $ 105 $ 3,724 
Prolia 1,569 806 2,375 1,341 673 2,014 
Otezla 1,284 335 1,619 1,280 298 1,578 
XGEVA 1,061 412 1,473 1,036 361 1,397 
Neulasta 1,215 168 1,383 1,538 219 1,757 
Aranesp 409 709 1,118 489 704 1,193 
Repatha 421 423 844 331 303 634 
KYPROLIS 547 277 824 527 266 793 
Other products 3,059 1,974 5,033 3,164 1,652 4,816 
Total product sales $ 12,835 $ 5,191 18,026 $ 13,325 $ 4,581 17,906 
Other revenues 1,107 884 

Total revenues $ 19,133 $ 18,790 

Hedging gains and losses, which are included in product sales, were not material for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020.

® 

®

® 

®

® 

® 

® 

® 
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®

®

®

®

®
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®
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____________

(1)    
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4. Income taxes

The effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was 12.6% for both periods, compared with rates of 8.4% and 9.7%,
respectively, for the corresponding periods of the prior year.

The increase in our effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily due to the non-deductible IPR&D expense
arising from the acquisition of Five Prime and prior year favorable items partially offset by a change in earnings mix. The effective tax rates differ from the
federal statutory rate primarily as a result of foreign earnings from the Company’s operations conducted in Puerto Rico, a territory of the United States treated
as a foreign jurisdiction for U.S. tax purposes, that are subject to a tax incentive grant through 2035. In addition, the Company’s operations conducted in
Singapore are subject to a tax incentive grant through 2034. These foreign earnings are also subject to U.S. tax at a reduced rate of 10.5%.

The U.S. territory of Puerto Rico imposes an excise tax on the gross intercompany purchase price of goods and services from our manufacturer in Puerto
Rico. The rate of 4% is effective through December 31, 2027. We account for the excise tax as a manufacturing cost that is capitalized in inventory and
expensed in cost of sales when the related products are sold. For U.S. income tax purposes, the excise tax results in foreign tax credits that are generally
recognized in our provision for income taxes when the excise tax is incurred.

One or more of our legal entities file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various U.S. state jurisdictions and certain foreign jurisdictions.
Our income tax returns are routinely examined by tax authorities in those jurisdictions. Significant disputes may arise with tax authorities involving issues
regarding the timing and amount of deductions, the use of tax credits and allocations of income and expenses among various tax jurisdictions because of
differing interpretations of tax laws, regulations and relevant facts. In 2017, we received a Revenue Agent Report (RAR) and a modified RAR from the
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012 proposing significant adjustments that primarily relate to the allocation of profits between
certain of our entities in the United States and the U.S. territory of Puerto Rico. We disagreed with the proposed adjustments and calculations and pursued a
resolution with the IRS administrative appeals office. As previously reported, we were unable to reach resolution with the IRS appeals office. In July 2021, we
filed a petition in the U.S. Tax Court to contest two duplicate Statutory Notices of Deficiency (Notices) for 2010, 2011 and 2012 that we received in May and
July 2021. The duplicate Notices seek to increase our U.S. taxable income by an amount that would result in additional federal tax of approximately
$3.6 billion, plus interest. Any additional tax that could be imposed would be reduced by up to approximately $900 million of repatriation tax previously
accrued on our foreign earnings. In any event, we firmly believe that the IRS’s positions in the Notices are without merit, and we will vigorously contest the
Notices through the judicial process.

In addition, in 2020, we received an RAR and a modified RAR from the IRS for the years 2013, 2014 and 2015 also proposing significant adjustments
that primarily relate to the allocation of profits between certain of our entities in the United States and the U.S. territory of Puerto Rico, similar to those
proposed for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. We disagree with the proposed adjustments and calculations and have been pursuing resolution with the IRS
administrative appeals office. As a consequence of the Tax Court litigation for the 2010-2012 period, the IRS administrative appeals office recently informed
us that it does not plan to engage in discussions at this time regarding the allocation of profits between our entities in the United States and the U.S. territory of
Puerto Rico for the 2013-2015 period. We are currently under examination by the IRS for the years 2016, 2017 and 2018. We are also currently under
examination by a number of other state and foreign tax jurisdictions.

Final resolution of these complex matters is not likely within the next 12 months. We believe our accrual for income tax liabilities is appropriate based on
past experience, interpretations of tax law, application of the tax law to our facts and judgments about potential actions by tax authorities; however, due to the
complexity of the provision for income taxes and uncertain resolution of these matters, the ultimate outcome of any tax matters may result in payments
substantially greater than amounts accrued and could have a material adverse impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements. We are no longer
subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations for the years ended on or before December 31, 2009.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, the gross amounts of our unrecognized tax benefits (UTBs) increased $70 million and
$180 million, respectively, as a result of tax positions taken during the current year. Substantially all of the UTBs as of September 30, 2021, if recognized,
would affect our effective tax rate.
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5. Earnings per share

The computation of basic earnings per share (EPS) is based on the weighted-average number of our common shares outstanding. The computation of
diluted EPS is based on the weighted-average number of our common shares outstanding and dilutive potential common shares, which primarily include shares
that may be issued under our stock option, restricted stock and performance unit award programs (collectively, dilutive securities), as determined by using the
treasury stock method.

The computations for basic and diluted EPS were as follows (in millions, except per-share data):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 2021 2020
Income (Numerator):

Net income for basic and diluted EPS $ 1,884 $ 2,021 $ 3,994 $ 5,649 

Shares (Denominator):
Weighted-average shares for basic EPS 567 585 572 588 
Effect of dilutive securities 3 4 4 4 
Weighted-average shares for diluted EPS 570 589 576 592 

Basic EPS $ 3.32 $ 3.45 $ 6.98 $ 9.61 
Diluted EPS $ 3.31 $ 3.43 $ 6.93 $ 9.54 

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the number of antidilutive employee stock-based awards excluded from the
computation of diluted EPS was not significant.

6. Collaborations

On July 30, 2021, we closed our collaboration and licensing agreement with Kyowa Kirin Co., Ltd. (KKC) to jointly develop and commercialize an anti-
OX40 fully human monoclonal antibody (AMG 451) worldwide, except in Japan. AMG 451 is for the treatment of atopic dermatitis, with potential in other
autoimmune diseases.

Under the terms of the agreement, we will lead the global development, manufacturing and commercialization of AMG 451, except in Japan. KKC will
co-promote AMG 451 with Amgen in the United States and have opt-in rights to co-promote AMG 451 in various other markets outside the United States,
including in Europe and Asia.

We made an upfront payment of $400 million to KKC that was recognized in Research and development (R&D) expense in the third quarter of 2021.
Amgen and KKC will share equally the global development costs, except in Japan, and the U.S. commercialization costs. Outside of the United States and
Japan, any commercialization costs incurred by KKC will be reimbursed by Amgen. We may also be required to make milestone payments of up to
$850 million contingent upon the achievement of certain regulatory events and commercial thresholds. We will also pay KKC significant double-digit royalties
on global sales, except in Japan.
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7. Investments

Available-for-sale investments

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair values of interest-bearing securities, which are considered available-for-sale,
by type of security were as follows (in millions):

Types of securities as of September 30, 2021
Amortized

cost

Gross
unrealized

gains

Gross
unrealized

losses
Fair

values

U.S. Treasury notes $ 51 $ — $ — $ 51 
U.S. Treasury bills 3,900 — — 3,900 
Money market mutual funds 8,323 — — 8,323 
Other short-term interest-bearing securities 1 — — 1 

Total interest-bearing securities $ 12,275 $ — $ — $ 12,275 

Types of securities as of December 31, 2020
Amortized

cost

Gross
unrealized

gains

Gross
unrealized

losses
Fair

values

U.S. Treasury notes $ 129 $ 1 $ — $ 130 
U.S. Treasury bills 4,948 — — 4,948 
Money market mutual funds 4,765 — — 4,765 
Other short-term interest-bearing securities 2 — — 2 

Total interest-bearing securities $ 9,844 $ 1 $ — $ 9,845 

The fair values of interest-bearing securities by location in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows (in millions):

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets locations September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,323 $ 5,464 
Marketable securities 952 4,381 

Total interest-bearing securities $ 12,275 $ 9,845 

Cash and cash equivalents in the above table excludes bank account cash of $646 million and $802 million as of September 30, 2021 and December 31,
2020, respectively.

The fair values of available-for-sale investments by contractual maturity were as follows (in millions):

Contractual maturities September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Maturing in one year or less $ 12,275 $ 9,795 
Maturing after one year through three years — 50 

Total available-for-sale investments $ 12,275 $ 9,845 

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, realized gains and losses on interest-bearing securities were not material. Realized
gains and losses on interest-bearing securities are recorded in Other income, net, in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. The cost of securities
sold is based on the specific-identification method.

The primary objective of our investment portfolio is to maintain safety of principal, prudent levels of liquidity and acceptable levels of risk. Our
investment policy limits interest-bearing security investments to certain types of debt and money market instruments issued by institutions with investment-
grade credit ratings, and it places restrictions on maturities and concentration by asset class and issuer.
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Equity securities

We held investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values (publicly traded securities) of $608 million and $477 million as of
September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, which are included in Other noncurrent assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. For
the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, net unrealized gains on publicly traded securities were $135 million and $60 million, respectively. For
the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, net unrealized gains on publicly traded securities were $104 million and $65 million, respectively.
Realized gains and losses on sales of publicly traded securities for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were not material.

We held investments of $255 million and $203 million in equity securities without readily determinable fair values as of September 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively, which are included in Other noncurrent assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. For the three months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, gains due to upward adjustments on these securities were $94 million and $12 million, respectively. For the nine months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, gains due to upward adjustments on these securities were $129 million and $20 million, respectively. Downward adjustments on
these securities were not material. Adjustments were based on observable price transactions.

Equity method investments

BeiGene, Ltd.

As of September 30, 2021, we had an ownership interest of approximately 20.3% in BeiGene, Ltd. (BeiGene), which is included in Other noncurrent
assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and accounted for under the equity method of accounting. We amortize the difference between the fair
value of equity securities acquired and our proportionate share of the carrying value of the underlying net assets of BeiGene over the useful lives of the assets
that gave rise to this basis difference. This amortization and our share of the results of operations of BeiGene are included in Other income, net, in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income one quarter in arrears, which began in the second quarter of 2020.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, the carrying value of our equity investment was adjusted by our share of BeiGene’s net loss
of $98 million and $181 million, respectively, and amortization of the basis difference of $44 million and $128 million, respectively. During the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2021, the carrying value increased by $18 million and $56 million, respectively, from the impact of BeiGene ownership
transactions. In addition, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, we increased the carrying value by $50 million as a result of our
purchase of additional shares directly from BeiGene. As of September 30, 2021, the carrying value and fair value of our investment in BeiGene totaled $2.7
billion and $6.9 billion, respectively. As of September 30, 2021, we believe the carrying value of our equity investment in BeiGene is fully recoverable.

Neumora Therapeutics, Inc.

On September 30, 2021, we acquired approximately 25.9% ownership interest in Neumora Therapeutics, Inc. (Neumora), a privately held company, for
$257 million, which is included in Other noncurrent assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, in exchange for a $100 million cash payment and
$157 million in noncash consideration primarily related to future services. Although our equity investment provides us with the ability to exercise significant
influence over Neumora, we have elected the fair value option to account for our equity investment. Under the fair value option, changes in the fair value of the
investment are recognized through earnings each reporting period. We believe the fair value option best reflects the economics of the underlying transaction.

Limited partnerships

We held limited partnership investments of $556 million and $496 million as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, which are
included in Other noncurrent assets in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. These investments, primarily investment funds of early-stage
biotechnology companies, are accounted for by using the equity method of accounting and are measured by using our proportionate share of the net asset
values of the underlying investments held by the limited partnerships as a practical expedient. These investments are typically redeemable only through
distributions upon liquidation of the underlying assets. As of September 30, 2021, unfunded additional commitments to be made for these investments during
the next several years were not material. For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, net unrealized gains and losses on our limited partnership
investments were a net loss of $43 million and a net gain of $63 million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, net unrealized
gains from our limited partnership investments were $122 million and $73 million, respectively.
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8. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following (in millions):

September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Raw materials $ 667 $ 486 
Work in process 2,313 2,437 
Finished goods 1,172 970 
Total inventories $ 4,152 $ 3,893 

9. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill was as follows (in millions):

Nine months ended
September 30, 2021

Beginning balance $ 14,689 
Currency translation adjustment (24)

Ending balance $ 14,665 

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets consisted of the following (in millions):

 September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

 

Gross
carrying
amounts

Accumulated
amortization

Other intangible
assets, net

Gross
carrying
amounts

Accumulated
amortization

Other intangible
assets, net

Finite-lived intangible assets:
Developed-product-technology rights $ 25,575 $ (12,222) $ 13,353 $ 25,591 $ (10,564) $ 15,027 
Licensing rights 3,766 (2,931) 835 3,743 (2,791) 952 
Marketing-related rights 1,362 (1,099) 263 1,367 (1,041) 326 
Research and development technology rights 1,298 (1,120) 178 1,317 (1,065) 252 
Total finite-lived intangible assets 32,001 (17,372) 14,629 32,018 (15,461) 16,557 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
In-process research and development 30 — 30 30 — 30 
Total other intangible assets $ 32,031 $ (17,372) $ 14,659 $ 32,048 $ (15,461) $ 16,587 

Developed-product-technology rights consists of rights related to marketed products. Licensing rights primarily consists of contractual rights to receive
future milestone, royalty and profit-sharing payments; capitalized payments to third parties for milestones related to regulatory approvals to commercialize
products; and upfront payments associated with royalty obligations for marketed products. Marketing-related rights primarily consists of rights related to the
sale and distribution of marketed products. R&D technology rights pertains to technologies used in R&D that have alternative future uses.

IPR&D consists of R&D projects acquired in a business combination that are not complete at the time of acquisition due to remaining technological risks
and/or lack of receipt of required regulatory approvals. We review IPR&D projects for impairment annually, whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable and upon the establishment of technological feasibility or regulatory approval.
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During the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, we recognized amortization associated with our finite-lived intangible assets of $642
million and $708 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, we recognized amortization associated with our finite-
lived intangible assets of $1.9 billion and $2.1 billion, respectively. Amortization of intangible assets is primarily included in Cost of sales in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Income. The total estimated amortization for our finite-lived intangible assets for the remaining three months ending December 31,
2021, and the years ending December 31, 2022, 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026, are $0.6 billion, $2.5 billion, $2.4 billion, $2.4 billion, $2.2 billion and $1.8
billion, respectively.
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10. Financing arrangements

Our borrowings consisted of the following (in millions):

 September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

1.25% €1,250 million notes due 2022 (1.25% 2022 euro Notes) $ 1,448 $ 1,527 
2.70% notes due 2022 (2.70% 2022 Notes) 500 500 
2.65% notes due 2022 (2.65% 2022 Notes) 1,500 1,500 
3.625% notes due 2022 (3.625% 2022 Notes) 750 750 
0.41% CHF700 million bonds due 2023 (0.41% 2023 Swiss franc Bonds) 751 791 
2.25% notes due 2023 (2.25% 2023 Notes) 750 750 
3.625% notes due 2024 (3.625% 2024 Notes) 1,400 1,400 
1.90% notes due 2025 (1.90% 2025 Notes) 500 500 
3.125% notes due 2025 (3.125% 2025 Notes) 1,000 1,000 
2.00% €750 million notes due 2026 (2.00% 2026 euro Notes) 869 916 
2.60% notes due 2026 (2.60% 2026 Notes) 1,250 1,250 
5.50% £475 million notes due 2026 (5.50% 2026 pound sterling Notes) 640 649 
2.20% notes due 2027 (2.20% 2027 Notes) 1,750 1,750 
3.20% notes due 2027 (3.20% 2027 Notes) 1,000 1,000 
1.65% note due 2028 (1.65% 2028 Notes) 1,250 — 
4.00% £700 million notes due 2029 (4.00% 2029 pound sterling Notes) 943 957 
2.45% notes due 2030 (2.45% 2030 Notes) 1,250 1,250 
2.30% notes due 2031 (2.30% 2031 Notes) 1,250 1,250 
2.00% notes due 2032 (2.00% 2032 Notes) 1,250 — 
6.375% notes due 2037 (6.375% 2037 Notes) 478 478 
6.90% notes due 2038 (6.90% 2038 Notes) 254 254 
6.40% notes due 2039 (6.40% 2039 Notes) 333 333 
3.15% notes due 2040 (3.15% 2040 Notes) 2,000 2,000 
5.75% notes due 2040 (5.75% 2040 Notes) 373 373 
2.80% note due 2041 (2.80% 2041 Notes) 1,150 — 
4.95% notes due 2041 (4.95% 2041 Notes) 600 600 
5.15% notes due 2041 (5.15% 2041 Notes) 729 729 
5.65% notes due 2042 (5.65% 2042 Notes) 415 415 
5.375% notes due 2043 (5.375% 2043 Notes) 185 185 
4.40% notes due 2045 (4.40% 2045 Notes) 2,250 2,250 
4.563% notes due 2048 (4.563% 2048 Notes) 1,415 1,415 
3.375% notes due 2050 (3.375% 2050 Notes) 2,250 2,250 
4.663% notes due 2051 (4.663% 2051 Notes) 3,541 3,541 
3.00% notes due 2052 (3.00% 2052 Notes) 1,350 — 
2.77% notes due 2053 (2.77% 2053 Notes) 940 940 
Other notes due 2097 100 100 
Unamortized bond discounts, premiums and issuance costs, net (1,221) (1,188)
Fair value adjustments 371 566 
Other 15 5 
Total carrying value of debt 37,579 32,986 
Less current portion (4,288) (91)

Total long-term debt $ 33,291 $ 32,895 

There are no material differences between the effective interest rates and coupon rates of any of our borrowings, except for the 4.563% 2048 Notes, the
4.663% 2051 Notes and the 2.77% 2053 Notes, which have effective interest rates of 6.3%, 5.6% and 5.2%, respectively.
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During the three months ended September 30, 2021, we issued $5.0 billion of debt consisting of $1.25 billion of the 1.65% 2028 Notes, $1.25 billion of
the 2.00% 2032 Notes, $1.15 billion of the 2.80% 2041 Notes and $1.35 billion of the 3.00% 2052 Notes. In the event of a change-in-control triggering event,
as defined in the terms of the notes, we may be required to purchase all or a portion of these notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the notes
plus accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, these notes may be redeemed at any time at our option, in whole or in part, at the principal amount of the notes
being redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest and a make-whole amount, which are defined by the terms of the notes. The notes may be redeemed without
payment of make-whole amounts if redemption occurs during a specified period of time immediately prior to the maturing of the notes. Such time periods
range from two months to six months prior to maturity.

During the three months ended June 30, 2021, we entered into the following interest rate swap contracts: (i) $1.0 billion notional amount with respect to
the 2.45% 2030 Notes, resulting in an effective interest rate of three-month LIBOR plus 1.0% for that portion of the notes, and (ii) $500 million notional
amount with respect to the 2.30% 2031 Notes, resulting in an effective interest rate of three-month LIBOR plus 0.8% for that portion of the notes.
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11. Stockholders’ equity

Stock repurchase program

Activity under our stock repurchase program, on a trade date basis, was as follows (in millions):

2021 2020
 Shares Dollars Shares Dollars
First quarter 3.7 $ 865 4.3 $ 933 
Second quarter 6.5 1,592 2.6 591 
Third quarter 4.6 1,069 3.0 752 

Total stock repurchases 14.8 $ 3,526 9.9 $ 2,276 

In March 2021, our Board of Directors increased the amount authorized under our stock repurchase program by an additional $3.4 billion. As of
September 30, 2021, $2.9 billion of authorization remained available under our stock repurchase program.

In October 2021, the Board of Directors increased the amount authorized under our stock repurchase program by an additional $4.5 billion.

Dividends

In July 2021, March 2021 and December 2020, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $1.76 per share, which were paid in
September 2021, June 2021 and March 2021, respectively. In October 2021, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $1.76 per share,
which will be paid on December 8, 2021.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

The components of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI) were as follows (in millions):

Foreign
currency

translation
Cash flow

hedges
Available-for-sale

securities Other AOCI
Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ (709) $ (263) $ 1 $ (14) $ (985)

Foreign currency translation adjustments (39) — — — (39)
Unrealized gains — 108 — — 108 
Reclassification adjustments to income — 133 — — 133 
Other — — — 1 1 
Income taxes — (51) — — (51)

Balance as of March 31, 2021 (748) (73) 1 (13) (833)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 14 — — — 14 
Unrealized losses — (31) — — (31)
Reclassification adjustments to income — (28) — — (28)
Other — — — (1) (1)
Income taxes — 11 — — 11 

Balance as of June 30, 2021 (734) (121) 1 (14) (868)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (35) — — — (35)
Unrealized gains (losses) — 16 (1) — 15 
Reclassification adjustments to income — 109 — — 109 
Other — — — (3) (3)
Income taxes — (26) — — (26)

Balance as of September 30, 2021 $ (769) $ (22) $ — $ (17) $ (808)
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Reclassifications out of AOCI and into earnings, including related income tax expenses, were as follows (in millions):

Three months ended September 30,

Components of AOCI 2021 2020
Condensed Consolidated

Statements of Income locations

Cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency contract (losses) gains $ (5) $ 41 Product sales
Cross-currency swap contract (losses) gains (104) 183 Other income, net

(109) 224 Income before income taxes
23 (49) Provision for income taxes

$ (86) $ 175 Net income
Available-for-sale securities:

Net realized gains $ — $ — Other income, net
— — Provision for income taxes

$ — $ — Net income

Nine months ended September 30,

Components of AOCI 2021 2020
Condensed Consolidated

Statements of Income locations

Cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency contract (losses) gains $ (24) $ 158 Product sales
Cross-currency swap contract (losses) gains (190) 101 Other income, net

(214) 259 Income before income taxes
45 (57) Provision for income taxes

$ (169) $ 202 Net income
Available-for-sale securities:

Net realized gains $ — $ 33 Other income, net
— (7) Provision for income taxes

$ — $ 26 Net income

12. Fair value measurement

To estimate the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities, we use valuation approaches within a hierarchy that maximizes the use of observable
inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs
that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the inputs that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability and are developed based on the best
information available in the circumstances. The fair value hierarchy is divided into three levels based on the source of inputs as follows:

Level 1 — Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the abilit
to access

Level 2 — Valuations for which all significant inputs are observable either directly or indirectly—other than Level 1 inputs
Level 3 — Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement

19



The availability of observable inputs can vary among different types of financial assets and liabilities. To the extent that the valuation is based on models
or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value requires more judgment. In certain cases, the inputs used for
measuring fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, for financial statement disclosure purposes, the level in the fair
value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorized is based on the lowest level of input used that is significant to the overall fair value
measurement.

The fair values of each major class of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were as follows (in
millions):

Quoted prices in
active markets for

identical assets
(Level 1)

Significant
other observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)Fair value measurement as of September 30, 2021, using: Total

Assets:
Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. Treasury notes $ 51 $ — $ — $ 51 
U.S. Treasury bills 3,900 — — 3,900 
Money market mutual funds 8,323 — — 8,323 
Other short-term interest-bearing securities — 1 — 1 

Equity securities 608 — 257 865 
Derivatives:
Foreign currency contracts — 127 — 127 
Cross-currency swap contracts — 119 — 119 
Interest rate swap contracts — 29 — 29 

Total assets $ 12,882 $ 276 $ 257 $ 13,415 

Liabilities:
Derivatives:
Foreign currency contracts $ — $ 54 $ — $ 54 
Cross-currency swap contracts — 360 — 360 
Interest rate swap contracts — 105 — 105 

Contingent consideration obligations — — 35 35 
Total liabilities $ — $ 519 $ 35 $ 554 
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Quoted prices in
active markets for

identical assets
(Level 1)

Significant
other observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)Fair value measurement as of December 31, 2020, using: Total

Assets:
Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. Treasury notes $ 130 $ — $ — $ 130 
U.S. Treasury bills 4,948 — — 4,948 
Money market mutual funds 4,765 — — 4,765 
Other short-term interest-bearing securities — 2 — 2 

Equity securities 477 — — 477 
Derivatives:
Foreign currency contracts — 28 — 28 
Cross-currency swap contracts — 255 — 255 
Interest rate swap contracts — 66 — 66 

Total assets $ 10,320 $ 351 $ — $ 10,671 

Liabilities:
Derivatives:
Foreign currency contracts $ — $ 237 $ — $ 237 
Cross-currency swap contracts — 318 — 318 
Interest rate swap contracts — 15 — 15 

Contingent consideration obligations — — 33 33 
Total liabilities $ — $ 570 $ 33 $ 603 

Interest-bearing and equity securities

The fair values of our U.S. Treasury securities, money market mutual funds and equity investments in publicly traded securities are based on quoted
market prices in active markets, with no valuation adjustment. The fair value of equity securities without readily determinable fair values are initially valued at
the transaction price and subsequently valued based upon a combination of entity-specific financial information and publicly available market information for
similar companies that have actively traded equity securities.

Derivatives

All of our foreign currency forward derivative contracts have maturities of three years or less, and all are with counterparties that have minimum credit
ratings of A– or equivalent by Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (S&P), Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (Moody’s) or Fitch Ratings, Inc. (Fitch). We
estimate the fair values of these contracts by taking into consideration valuations obtained from a third-party valuation service that uses an income-based
industry-standard valuation model for which all significant inputs are observable either directly or indirectly. These inputs include foreign currency exchange
rates, LIBOR, swap rates and obligor credit default swap rates. In addition, inputs for our foreign currency option contracts include implied volatility measures.
These inputs, when applicable, are at commonly quoted intervals. See Note 13, Derivative instruments.

Our cross-currency swap contracts are with counterparties that have minimum credit ratings of A– or equivalent by S&P, Moody’s or Fitch. We estimate
the fair values of these contracts by taking into consideration valuations obtained from a third-party valuation service that uses an income-based industry-
standard valuation model for which all significant inputs are observable either directly or indirectly. These inputs include foreign currency exchange rates,
LIBOR, swap rates, obligor credit default swap rates and cross-currency-basis swap spreads. See Note 13, Derivative instruments.

Our interest rate swap contracts are with counterparties that have minimum credit ratings of A– or equivalent by S&P, Moody’s or Fitch. We estimate the
fair values of these contracts by using an income-based industry-standard valuation model for which all significant inputs are observable either directly or
indirectly. These inputs include LIBOR, swap rates and obligor credit default swap rates. See Note 13, Derivative instruments.
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During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, there were no material remeasurements to the fair values of assets and liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

Summary of the fair values of other financial instruments

Cash equivalents

The fair values of cash equivalents approximate their carrying values due to the short-term nature of such financial instruments.

Borrowings

We estimated the fair values of our borrowings by using Level 2 inputs. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the aggregate fair values of
our borrowings were $42.2 billion and $39.4 billion, respectively, and the carrying values were $37.6 billion and $33.0 billion, respectively.

13. Derivative instruments

The Company is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate and interest rate risks related to its business operations. To reduce our risks related to such
exposures, we use or have used certain derivative instruments, including foreign currency forward, cross-currency swap, forward interest rate and interest rate
swap contracts. We do not use derivatives for speculative- trading purposes.

Cash flow hedges

We are exposed to possible changes in the values of certain anticipated foreign currency cash flows resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange
rates primarily associated with our euro-denominated international product sales. Increases and decreases in the cash flows associated with our international
product sales due to movements in foreign currency exchange rates are partially offset by corresponding increases and decreases in the cash flows from our
international operating expenses resulting from these foreign currency exchange rate movements. To further reduce our exposure to foreign currency exchange
rate fluctuations with regard to our international product sales, we enter into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge a portion of our projected
international product sales up to a maximum of three years into the future; and at any given point in time, a higher percentage of nearer-term projected product
sales are being hedged than in successive periods.

As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we had outstanding foreign currency forward contracts with aggregate notional amounts of $5.7
billion and $5.1 billion, respectively. We have designated these foreign currency forward contracts, which are primarily euro based, as cash flow hedges.
Accordingly, we report the unrealized gains and losses on these contracts in AOCI in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, and we reclassify them to
Product sales in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income in the same periods during which the hedged transactions affect earnings.

To hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk associated with certain of our long-term debt denominated in foreign currencies, we enter
into cross-currency swap contracts. Under the terms of such contracts, we paid euros, pounds sterling and Swiss francs and received U.S. dollars for the
notional amounts at the inception of the contracts; and based on these notional amounts, we exchange interest payments at fixed rates over the lives of the
contracts by paying U.S. dollars and receiving euros, pounds sterling and Swiss francs. In addition, we will pay U.S. dollars to and receive euros, pounds
sterling and Swiss francs from the counterparties at the maturities of the contracts for these same notional amounts. The terms of these contracts correspond to
the related hedged debt, thereby effectively converting the interest payments and principal repayment on the debt from euros, pounds sterling and Swiss francs
to U.S. dollars. We have designated these cross-currency swap contracts as cash flow hedges. Accordingly, the unrealized gains and losses on these contracts
are reported in AOCI in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and reclassified to Other income, net, in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Income in the same periods during which the hedged debt affects earnings.
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The notional amounts and interest rates of our cross-currency swaps as of September 30, 2021, were as follows (notional amounts in millions):

Foreign currency U.S. dollars
Hedged notes Notional amounts Interest rates Notional amounts Interest rates

1.25% 2022 euro Notes € 1,250 1.3 % $ 1,388 3.2 %
0.41% 2023 Swiss franc Bonds CHF 700 0.4 % $ 704 3.4 %
2.00% 2026 euro Notes € 750 2.0 % $ 833 3.9 %
5.50% 2026 pound sterling Notes £ 475 5.5 % $ 747 6.0 %
4.00% 2029 pound sterling Notes £ 700 4.0 % $ 1,111 4.5 %

In connection with the anticipated issuance of long-term fixed-rate debt, we occasionally enter into forward interest rate contracts in order to hedge the
variability in cash flows due to changes in the applicable U.S. Treasury rate between the time we enter into these contracts and the time the related debt is
issued. Gains and losses on forward interest rate contracts, which are designated as cash flow hedges, are recognized in AOCI in the Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets and are amortized into Interest expense, net, in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income over the lives of the associated debt
issuances. Amounts recognized in connection with forward interest rate swaps during the nine months ended September 30, 2021, and amounts expected to be
recognized during the subsequent 12 months are not material.

The unrealized gains and losses recognized in AOCI for our derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges were as follows (in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships 2021 2020 2021 2020

Foreign currency contracts $ 136 $ (163) $ 273 $ (25)
Cross-currency swap contracts (120) 223 (180) (107)

Total unrealized gains (losses) $ 16 $ 60 $ 93 $ (132)

Fair value hedges

To achieve a desired mix of fixed-rate and floating-rate debt, we entered into interest rate swap contracts that qualified for and were designated as fair
value hedges. These interest rate swap contracts effectively convert fixed-rate coupons to floating-rate LIBOR-based coupons over the terms of the related
hedge contracts. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we had interest rate swap contracts with aggregate notional amounts of $7.4 billion and
$5.9 billion, respectively, that hedge certain portions of our long-term debt issuances. During the three months ended June 30, 2021, we entered into
$1.5 billion of interest rate swap contracts to hedge portions of our 2.45% 2030 Notes and 2.30% 2031 Notes (see Note 10, Financing arrangements).

For interest rate swap contracts that qualify for and are designated as fair value hedges, we recognize in Interest expense, net, in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Income the unrealized gain or loss on the derivative resulting from the change in fair value during the period, as well as the
offsetting unrealized loss or gain of the hedged item resulting from the change in fair value during the period attributable to the hedged risk. If a hedging
relationship involving an interest rate swap contract is terminated, the gain or loss realized on contract termination is recorded as an adjustment to the carrying
value of the debt and amortized into Interest expense, net, over the remaining life of the previously hedged debt.
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The hedged liabilities and related cumulative-basis adjustments for fair value hedges of those liabilities were recorded in the Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets as follows (in millions):

Carrying amounts of hedged liabilities

Cumulative amounts of fair value hedging adjustments
related to the carrying amounts of the hedged

liabilities
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets locations September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020 September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Current portion of long-term debt $ 840 $ 89 $ 90 $ 89 
Long-term debt $ 6,809 $ 6,258 $ 281 $ 477 

     Current portion of long-term debt includes $87 million and $89 million of carrying value with discontinued hedging relationships as of September 30,
2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. Long-term debt includes $460 million and $525 million of carrying value with discontinued hedging
relationships as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

    Current portion of long-term debt includes $87 million and $89 million of hedging adjustments on discontinued hedging relationships as of September 30,
2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. Long-term debt includes $360 million and $425 million of hedging adjustments on discontinued hedging
relationships as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

(1) (2)

____________

(1)

(2)
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Impact of hedging transactions

The following tables summarize the amounts recorded in income and expense line items and the effects thereon from fair value and cash flow hedging,
including discontinued hedging relationships (in millions):

Three months ended September 30, 2021 Nine months ended September 30, 2021

Product sales
Other income,

net
Interest

expense, net Product sales
Other income,

net
Interest expense,

net
Total amounts recorded in income and (expense) line items
presented in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Income $ 6,320 $ 73 $ (296) $ 18,026 $ 97 $ (862)
The effects of cash flow and fair value hedging:

Losses on cash flow hedging relationships reclassified out of
AOCI:
Foreign currency contracts $ (5) $ — $ — $ (24) $ — $ — 
Cross-currency swap contracts $ — $ (104) $ — $ — $ (190) $ — 

Gains (losses) on fair value hedging relationships—interest
rate swap agreements:
Hedged items $ — $ — $ 54 $ — $ — $ 195 
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments $ — $ — $ (31) $ — $ — $ (128)

Three months ended September 30, 2020 Nine months ended September 30, 2020

Product sales
Other income,

net
Interest

expense, net Product sales
Other income,

net
Interest expense,

net
Total amounts recorded in income and (expense) line items
presented in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Income $ 6,104 $ 55 $ (302) $ 17,906 $ 69 $ (944)
The effects of cash flow and fair value hedging:

Gains on cash flow hedging relationships reclassified out of
AOCI:
Foreign currency contracts $ 41 $ — $ — $ 158 $ — $ — 
Cross-currency swap contracts $ — $ 183 $ — $ — $ 101 $ — 

Gains (losses) on fair value hedging relationships—interest
rate swap agreements:
Hedged items $ — $ — $ 35 $ — $ — $ 215 
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments $ — $ — $ (13) $ — $ — $ (150)

    Gains on hedged items do not exactly offset losses on the related designated hedging instruments due to amortization of the cumulative amounts of fair
value hedging adjustments included in the carrying amount of the hedged debt for discontinued hedging relationships and the recognition of gains on
terminated hedges when the corresponding hedged item was paid down in the period.

No portions of our cash flow hedge contracts were excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. As of September 30, 2021, the net gains
expected to be reclassified on our foreign currency and cross-currency swap contracts out of AOCI and into earnings during the next 12 months are not
material.

(1)

(1)

__________

(1)
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Derivatives not designated as hedges

To reduce our exposure to foreign currency fluctuations in certain assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, we enter into foreign currency
forward contracts that are not designated as hedging transactions. Most of these exposures are hedged on a month-to-month basis. As of September 30, 2021
and December 31, 2020, the total notional amounts of these foreign currency forward contracts were $0.7 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively. Gains and
losses recognized in earnings for our derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments were not material for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020.

The fair values of derivatives included in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows (in millions):

 Derivative assets Derivative liabilities

September 30, 2021
Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets locations Fair values

Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets locations Fair values

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:

Foreign currency contracts
Other current assets/ Other

noncurrent assets $ 127 
Accrued liabilities/

Other noncurrent liabilities $ 54 

Cross-currency swap contracts
Other current assets/ Other

noncurrent assets 119 
Accrued liabilities/

Other noncurrent liabilities 360 

Interest rate swap contracts
Other current assets/ Other

noncurrent assets 29 
Accrued liabilities/

Other noncurrent liabilities 105 
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments $ 275 $ 519 

 Derivative assets Derivative liabilities

December 31, 2020
Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets locations Fair values

Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets locations Fair values

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:

Foreign currency contracts
Other current assets/ Other

noncurrent assets $ 28 
Accrued liabilities/ Other

noncurrent liabilities $ 237 

Cross-currency swap contracts
Other current assets/ Other

noncurrent assets 255 
Accrued liabilities/ Other

noncurrent liabilities 318 

Interest rate swap contracts
Other current assets/ Other

noncurrent assets 66 
Accrued liabilities/ Other

noncurrent liabilities 15 
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments $ 349 $ 570 

Our derivative contracts that were in liability positions as of September 30, 2021, contain certain credit-risk-related contingent provisions that would be
triggered if (i) we were to undergo a change in control and (ii) our or the surviving entity’s creditworthiness deteriorates, which is generally defined as having
either a credit rating that is below investment grade or a materially weaker creditworthiness after the change in control. If these events were to occur, the
counterparties would have the right, but not the obligation, to close the contracts under early-termination provisions. In such circumstances, the counterparties
could request immediate settlement of these contracts for amounts that approximate the then current fair values of the contracts. In addition, our derivative
contracts are not subject to any type of master netting arrangement, and amounts due either to or from a counterparty under the contracts may be offset against
other amounts due either to or from the same counterparty only if an event of default or termination, as defined, were to occur.

The cash flow effects of our derivative contracts in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are included in Net cash provided by
operating activities, except for the settlement of notional amounts of cross-currency swaps, which are included in Net cash used in financing activities.
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14. Contingencies and commitments

Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, we are involved in various legal proceedings, government investigations and other matters that are complex in nature
and have outcomes that are difficult to predict. See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors—
Our business may be affected by litigation and government investigations. We describe our legal proceedings and other matters that are significant or that we
believe could become significant in this footnote; in Note 19, Contingencies and commitments, to the consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020; in Note 12, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated financial statements in our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2021; and in Note 13, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated
financial statements in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2021.

We record accruals for loss contingencies to the extent that we conclude it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the related loss
can be reasonably estimated. We evaluate, on a quarterly basis, developments in legal proceedings and other matters that could cause an increase or decrease in
the amount of the liability that has been accrued previously.

Our legal proceedings involve various aspects of our business and a variety of claims, some of which present novel factual allegations and/or unique legal
theories. In each of the matters described in this filing; in Note 19, Contingencies and commitments, to the consolidated financial statements in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020; in Note 12, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated financial statements
in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2021; or in Note 13, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated
financial statements in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2021, in which we could incur a liability, our opponents seek an
award of a not-yet-quantified amount of damages or an amount that is not material. In addition, a number of the matters pending against us are at very early
stages of the legal process, which in complex proceedings of the sort we face often extend for several years. As a result, none of the matters described in this
filing; in Note 19, Contingencies and commitments, to the consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2020; in Note 12, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated financial statements in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
period ended March 31, 2021; or in Note 13, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated financial statements in our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2021, in which we could incur a liability, have progressed sufficiently through discovery and/or the development of
important factual information and legal issues to enable us to estimate a range of possible loss, if any, or such amounts are not material. While it is not possible
to accurately predict or determine the eventual outcomes of these matters, an adverse determination in one or more of these matters currently pending could
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

Certain recent developments concerning our legal proceedings and other matters are discussed below:

Abbreviated New Drug Application (ANDA) Patent Litigation

Otezla  ANDA Patent Litigation

Amgen Inc. v. Sandoz Inc., et al.

On September 28, 2021, consistent with its September 20, 2021 opinion and order, the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey (the New Jersey
District Court) entered final judgment in favor of Amgen and against Zydus Pharmaceuticals (USA) Inc. (Zydus) with respect to claims 3 and 6 of U.S. Patent
No. 7,427,638 (the ’638 Patent), claim 6 of U.S. Patent No. 8,455,536 (the ’536 Patent) and claims 2 and 27 of U.S. Patent No. 8,093,283 (the ‘283 Patent);
and final judgment in favor of Zydus and against Amgen with respect to claims 1 and 15 of U.S. Patent No. 7,893,101 (the ‘101 Patent) and claims 2, 19 and
21 of U.S. Patent No. 10,092,541 (the ’541 Patent). The final judgment ordered that the effective date of any final approval by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) of Zydus’s ANDA must be after expiration of the three infringed patents (the ’638, ’536 and ’283 Patents) and any regulatory
exclusivity to which Amgen may become entitled. The final judgment also includes an injunction prohibiting Zydus from making, using, offering to sell, or
selling in the United States, or importing into the United States, Zydus’s generic apremilast products during the term of the three infringed patents.
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On October 12, 2021, the New Jersey District Court also entered final judgment in favor of Amgen and against Sandoz Inc. (Sandoz) with respect to
claims 3 and 6 of the ’638 Patent, claim 6 of the ’536 Patent and claims 1 and 15 of the ’101 Patent; and final judgment in favor of Sandoz and against Amgen
with respect to claims 2, 19 and 21 of the ’541 Patent. The final judgment ordered that the effective date of any final approval by the FDA of Sandoz’s ANDA
must be after expiration of the three infringed patents (the ’638, ’536 and ’101 Patents) and any regulatory exclusivity to which Amgen may become entitled.
The final judgment also includes an injunction prohibiting Sandoz from making, using, offering to sell, or selling in the United States, or importing into the
United States, Sandoz’s generic apremilast products during the term of the three infringed patents.

Zydus and Amgen filed notices of appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (the Federal Circuit Court) on October 27, 2021 and
October 28, 2021, respectively.

Sensipar (cinacalcet) ANDA Patent Litigation

Amgen Inc. v. Amneal Pharmaceuticals LLC, et al. (formerly, Amgen Inc. v. Aurobindo Pharma Ltd. et al.)

On October 20, 2021, the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware (the Delaware District Court) issued final judgment in favor of Piramal
Healthcare UK Limited and Slate Run Pharmaceuticals LLC.

ENBREL Patent Litigation

Immunex Corporation, et al. v. Samsung Bioepis Co., Ltd.

On November 2, 2021, Amgen and Samsung Bioepis Co., Ltd. (Bioepis), with the consent of Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (Roche), jointly submitted to the
New Jersey District Court a confidential stipulation and a form of final judgment and order of permanent injunction resolving the dispute between the parties
and enjoining Bioepis from making, using, offering to sell, or selling within the United States, or importing into the United States, any product containing
etanercept until the April 24, 2029 expiry of Roche’s U.S. Patent No. 8,163,522.

Repatha  Patent Litigation

Patent Disputes in the International Region

National litigations in the United Kingdom, France, the Netherlands and Italy have been settled. In Germany, Sanofi-Aventis Deutschland GmbH and
Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc. have filed actions claiming they are entitled to damages arising from the provisional enforcement of an injunction against
PRALUENT that was lifted after the European Patent Office Technical Board of Appeal’s October 29, 2020 ruling that certain claims encompassing
PRALUENT  in Amgen’s European Patent No. 2,215,124 were invalid.

NEUPOGEN  (filgrastim)/Neulasta  Patent Litigation

Amgen Inc., et al. v. Pfizer Inc. et al.

On September 8, 2021, pursuant to joint stipulation, the Delaware District Court dismissed the lawsuits regarding U.S. Patent Nos. 9,643,997 and
10,577,392.

Patent Trial and Appeal Board (PTAB) Challenge

Apotex PTAB Challenge

On September 2, 2021, the Federal Circuit Court issued a remand to permit Amgen to request rehearing of the PTAB’s final written decision holding that
all claims of U.S. Patent No. 8.952,138 as unpatentable.

Pfizer PTAB Challenge

On February 10, 2021, Hospira, Inc. and Pfizer Inc. (collectively, Pfizer) filed a petition to institute inter partes review (IPR) proceeding at the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) of U.S. Patent No. 8,273,707 (the ’707 Patent), challenging claims of the ’707 Patent as unpatentable. Amgen’s
preliminary response was filed on May 18, 2021.

On August 17, 2021, the PTAB of the USPTO granted Pfizer’s petition to institute IPR of the ’707 Patent. On August 23, 2021, the PTAB issued the
schedule for the proceeding, including oral argument (if requested) on May 18, 2022.

® 
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Breach of Contract Action

Novartis Pharma AG v. Amgen Inc.

On October 26, 2021, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York held a status conference with the parties and set the dates for Novartis
Pharma AG’s (Novartis) opening brief for its motion for partial summary judgment on two claims, fraudulent inducement and negligent misrepresentation, to
be due on January 14, 2022, Amgen’s opposition to be due on February 14, 2022 and Novartis’ reply to be due on March 10, 2022. This motion, if granted,
will not dispose of the entire case as other claims related to breach of contract remain pending.

U.S. Tax Litigation

Amgen Inc. & Subsidiaries v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue

See Note 4, Income taxes, for discussion of the IRS tax dispute and the Company’s petition in the U.S. Tax Court.

15. Subsequent event

On October 19, 2021, Amgen completed its acquisition of Teneobio, Inc. (Teneobio), a privately held, clinical-stage biotechnology company developing a
new class of biologics called heavy-chain only antibodies (HCAbs). Amgen acquired all outstanding shares in exchange for a $900 million upfront payment, as
well as future contingent milestone payments potentially worth up to an additional $1.6 billion in cash upon the achievement of certain development and
regulatory events.

The accounting impact of this acquisition and the results of operations for Teneobio will be included in our consolidated financial statements beginning in
the fourth quarter of 2021. The initial accounting for this acquisition is incomplete, pending identification and measurement of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) is intended to assist the reader in
understanding Amgen’s business. MD&A is provided as a supplement to and should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2020, and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021. Our results of operations
discussed in MD&A are presented in conformity with GAAP. Amgen operates in one business segment: human therapeutics. Therefore, our results of
operations are discussed on a consolidated basis.

Forward-looking statements

This report and other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) contain forward-looking statements that are based on
current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about us, our future performance, our business, our beliefs and our management’s assumptions. In
addition, we, or others on our behalf, may make forward-looking statements in press releases, written statements or our communications and discussions with
investors and analysts in the normal course of business through meetings, webcasts, phone calls and conference calls. Such words as “expect,” “anticipate,”
“outlook,” “could,” “target,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,” “estimate,” “should,” “may,” “assume” and “continue” as well as variations of such
words and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and they
involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. We describe our respective risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could
affect the outcome or results of operations in Item 1A. Risk Factors in Part II herein and in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors of our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2020, and in Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2021 and
June 30, 2021. We have based our forward-looking statements on our management’s beliefs and assumptions based on information available to our
management at the time the statements are made. We caution you that actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed, implied or
forecasted by our forward-looking statements. Reference is made in particular to forward-looking statements regarding product sales, regulatory activities,
clinical trial results, reimbursement, expenses, EPS, liquidity and capital resources, trends, planned dividends, stock repurchases, collaborations and effects of
pandemics. Except as required under the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations of the SEC, we do not have any intention or obligation to update
publicly any forward-looking statements after the distribution of this report, whether as a result of new information, future events, changes in assumptions or
otherwise.

Overview

Amgen is a biotechnology company committed to unlocking the potential of biology for patients suffering from serious illnesses. A biotechnology
pioneer since 1980, Amgen has grown to be one of the world’s leading independent biotechnology companies, has reached millions of patients around the
world and is developing a pipeline of medicines with breakaway potential.

Our principal products—those with the most significant annual commercial sales—are ENBREL, Prolia , Otezla , XGEVA , Neulasta , Aranesp ,
Repatha and KYPROLIS . We also market a number of other products, including MVASI (bevacizumab-awwb), Nplate  (romiplostim), Vectibix
(panitumumab), KANJINTI (trastuzumab-anns), EPOGEN  (epoetin alfa), EVENITY (romosozumab-aqqg), BLINCYTO (blinatumomab), AMGEVITA
(adalimumab), Aimovig (erenumab-aooe), Parsabiv (etelcalcetide), NEUPOGEN , Sensipar /Mimpara (cinacalcet) and LUMAKRAS /LUMYKRAS
(sotorasib).

COVID-19 pandemic

A novel strain of coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2, or severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, causing coronavirus disease 19, or COVID-19) was
declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 11, 2020. Since the onset of the pandemic in 2020, we have been closely monitoring
the pandemic’s effects on our global operations. We continue to take appropriate steps to minimize risks to our employees, a significant number of whom have
continued to work virtually. Employee access to company facilities has been in accordance with applicable government health and safety protocols and
guidance issued in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. To date, our remote working arrangements have not significantly affected our ability to maintain
critical business operations, and we have not experienced disruptions to or shortages of our supply of medicines.

® ® ® ® ®

® ® ® ® ®

® ® ® ® ™

® ® ® ® ™ ® ™

30



Since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have seen changes in demand for some of our products driven by changes in patient visits to
doctors’ offices that has impacted providing treatments to existing patients and reduced diagnoses in new patients. Through the third quarter, there has been
gradual recovery in both patient visits and diagnoses, although overall these remain below pre-COVID-19 levels. The cumulative decrease in diagnoses over
the course of the pandemic has suppressed the volume of new patients starting treatment, which we expect to continue to impact our business during the
remainder of the year. We are closely monitoring the effects of emerging COVID-19 variants on patient behavior and access.

Since early 2021, global vaccination efforts have been underway to control the pandemic. However, uncertainty remains as to the length of time required
for vaccination of a meaningful portion of the population and as to the efficacy of such vaccinations on the trajectory of the pandemic. Challenges to
vaccination efforts, new variants and other causes of virus spread may require governments to issue additional restrictions and/or shutdowns in various
geographies. As a result, we expect to see continued volatility for at least the duration of the pandemic as governments respond to current local conditions.

With respect to our drug development activities, we are continuously monitoring COVID-19 infection rates, including changes from new variants, and
working to mitigate effects on future study enrollment in our clinical trials and evaluating the impact in all countries where clinical trials occur. We remain
focused on supporting our active clinical sites in their providing care for patients and in our providing investigational drug supply.

Despite the ongoing pandemic and business impacts noted above, we believe that existing funds, cash generated from operations and existing sources of
and access to financing are adequate to satisfy our needs for working capital, capital expenditures and debt service requirements as well as to engage in the
capital-return and other business initiatives that we plan to pursue. For a discussion of the risks the COVID-19 pandemic presents to our results, see Risk
Factors in Item 1A. Risk Factors in Part II herein and in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2020, and in Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021.

Significant developments

Following is a summary of selected significant developments affecting our business that occurred since the filing of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the period ended June 30, 2021. For additional developments or for a more comprehensive discussion of certain developments discussed below, see our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2021 and June
30, 2021.

Business Development

Acquisition

Teneobio

• On October 19, 2021, Amgen completed its acquisition of Teneobio, a privately held, clinical-stage biotechnology company, for $900 million as
well as future contingent milestone payments potentially worth up to an additional $1.6 billion upon the achievement of certain development and
regulatory events.
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Selected financial information

The following is an overview of our results of operations (in millions, except percentages and per-share data):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change
Product sales

U.S. $ 4,558 $ 4,618 (1)% $ 12,835 $ 13,325 (4)%
ROW 1,762 1,486 19 % 5,191 4,581 13 %

Total product sales 6,320 6,104 4 % 18,026 17,906 1 %
Other revenues 386 319 21 % 1,107 884 25 %

Total revenues $ 6,706 $ 6,423 4 % $ 19,133 $ 18,790 2 %
Operating expenses $ 4,328 $ 3,970 9 % $ 13,798 $ 11,659 18 %
Operating income $ 2,378 $ 2,453 (3)% $ 5,335 $ 7,131 (25)%
Net income $ 1,884 $ 2,021 (7)% $ 3,994 $ 5,649 (29)%
Diluted EPS $ 3.31 $ 3.43 (3)% $ 6.93 $ 9.54 (27)%
Diluted shares 570 589 (3)% 576 592 (3)%

In the following discussion of changes in product sales, any reference to unit demand growth or decline refers to changes in the purchases of our products
by healthcare providers (such as physicians or their clinics), dialysis centers, hospitals and pharmacies. In addition, any reference to increases or decreases in
inventory refers to changes in inventory held by wholesaler customers and end users (such as pharmacies).

Total product sales increased for the three months ended September 30, 2021, primarily driven by higher unit demand for certain brands, including
Prolia , Repatha  and EVENITY , and by favorable changes to estimated sales deductions, partially offset by declines in the net selling prices of certain
products. Total product sales increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, primarily driven by higher unit demand for certain brands, including
Prolia , Repatha  and MVASI , partially offset by declines in the net selling prices of certain products. We expect the trend of net selling price declines to
continue to affect our business. Going forward, we expect that net selling price declines will be driven by ENBREL, Neulasta , Repatha and some of our
biosimilar products. There was gradual recovery through the third quarter of 2021 in patients resuming their treatments and in new patient starts, although
overall, both numbers remain below pre-COVID-19 levels.

Throughout the pandemic, we experienced changes in demand for some of our products. The pandemic has interrupted many physician–patient
interactions, which has led to delays in diagnoses and treatments, with varying degrees of impact across our portfolio. In general, declines in the sales of our
products that were impacted by the dynamics of the pandemic were most significant in the early months of the pandemic with product demand beginning to
show some recovery in late 2020. Through the third quarter of 2021, demand continued to gradually recover from the impact of the pandemic and there was
improvement in patient visits and diagnoses. Healthcare provider activity also stabilized during the third quarter after having improved during the first half of
2021. However, the cumulative decrease in diagnoses over the course of the pandemic has suppressed the volume of new patients starting treatment, which we
expect to continue to impact our business for the remainder of the year. Given the unpredictable nature of the pandemic, we expect there could be ongoing
intermittent disruptions in physician–patient interactions, and as a result, we continue to expect quarter-to-quarter variability. In addition, other changes in the
healthcare ecosystem have the potential to introduce variability into product sales trends. For example, we expect changes in U.S. employment to lead to
changes to the insured population. Growth in numbers of Medicaid enrollees and uninsured individuals may have a negative impact on product demand and
sales. Overall, uncertainty remains around the timing and magnitude of our sales during the COVID-19 pandemic. See Risk Factors in Part II, Item 1A. of this
Form 10-Q and Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, and in Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors
of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021.

Other revenues increased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, primarily driven by the sale of COVID-19 antibody material.

Operating expenses increased for the three months ended September 30, 2021, primarily driven by an upfront payment associated with the KKC licensing
agreement. Operating expenses increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, primarily driven by IPR&D expense related to the bemarituzumab
program acquired as part of the Five Prime acquisition and by an upfront payment associated with the KKC licensing agreement.
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Although changes in foreign currency exchange rates result in increases or decreases in our reported international product sales, the benefit or detriment
that such movements have on our international product sales is partially offset by corresponding increases or decreases in our international operating expenses
and our related foreign currency hedging activities. Our hedging activities seek to offset the impacts, both positive and negative, that foreign currency
exchange rate changes may have on our net income by hedging our net foreign currency exposure, primarily with respect to product sales denominated in
euros. The net impact from changes in foreign currency exchange rates was not material for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020.

Results of operations

Product sales

Worldwide product sales were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change

ENBREL $ 1,289 $ 1,325 (3)% $ 3,357 $ 3,724 (10)%
Prolia  803 701 15 % 2,375 2,014 18 %
Otezla  609 538 13 % 1,619 1,578 3 %
XGEVA 517 481 7 % 1,473 1,397 5 %
Neulasta 415 555 (25)% 1,383 1,757 (21)%
Aranesp 396 384 3 % 1,118 1,193 (6)%
Repatha 272 205 33 % 844 634 33 %
KYPROLIS 293 260 13 % 824 793 4 %
Other products 1,726 1,655 4 % 5,033 4,816 5 %

Total product sales $ 6,320 $ 6,104 4 % $ 18,026 $ 17,906 1 %

Future sales of our products will depend in part on the factors discussed below and in the following sections of this report: (i) Part I, Item 2.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Overview and Selected Financial Information; and (ii) Part II, Item
1A. Risk Factors; and in the following sections of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020: (i) Item 1. Business—Marketing,
Distribution and Selected Marketed Products, (ii) Item 1A. Risk Factors and (iii) Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Overview, and Results of Operations—Product Sales, as well as in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March
31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, in (i) Part I, Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Results of
Operations—Product Sales; and (ii) Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors.

ENBREL

Total ENBREL sales by geographic region were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change
ENBREL — U.S. $ 1,263 $ 1,289 (2)% $ 3,270 $ 3,619 (10)%
ENBREL — Canada 26 36 (28)% 87 105 (17)%

Total ENBREL $ 1,289 $ 1,325 (3)% $ 3,357 $ 3,724 (10)%

The decrease in ENBREL sales for the three months ended September 30, 2021, was driven by a decline in unit demand, unfavorable changes in
inventory and lower net selling price, partially offset by favorable changes to estimated sales deductions. The decrease in ENBREL for the nine months ended
September 30, 2021, was driven by declines in net selling price and unit demand. For the remainder of 2021, we expect the trend of net selling price declines to
continue compared with the prior year.
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We are involved in patent litigation with a company seeking to market its FDA-approved biosimilar version of ENBREL. See Note 19, Contingencies and
commitments, to the consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, and Note 13, Contingencies
and commitments, to the condensed consolidated financial statements in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2021. Companies
with approved biosimilar versions of ENBREL may seek to enter the U.S. market if we are not ultimately successful in our litigations, or even earlier. Other
companies are also developing proposed biosimilar versions of ENBREL.

Prolia

Total Prolia  sales by geographic region were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change

Prolia  — U.S. $ 530 $ 478 11 % $ 1,569 $ 1,341 17 %
Prolia  — ROW 273 223 22 % 806 673 20 %
Total Prolia $ 803 $ 701 15 % $ 2,375 $ 2,014 18 %

The increase in global Prolia sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily driven by higher unit demand.

Otezla

Total Otezla  sales by geographic region were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change

Otezla  — U.S. $ 495 $ 439 13 % $ 1,284 $ 1,280 — %
Otezla  — ROW 114 99 15 % 335 298 12 %

Total Otezla $ 609 $ 538 13 % $ 1,619 $ 1,578 3 %

The increase in global Otezla  sales for the three months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily driven by higher unit demand and favorable changes
to estimated sales deductions, partially offset by lower net selling price. The increase in global Otezla  sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2021,
was driven by higher unit demand, partially offset by lower net selling price.

For a discussion of litigation related to Otezla , see Note 19, Contingencies and commitments, to the consolidated financial statements in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020; Notes 12 and 13, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated financial
statements in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, respectively; and Note 14, Contingencies and
commitments, to the condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report.

XGEVA

Total XGEVA  sales by geographic region were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change

XGEVA  — U.S. $ 372 $ 363 2 % $ 1,061 $ 1,036 2 %
XGEVA  — ROW 145 118 23 % 412 361 14 %

Total XGEVA $ 517 $ 481 7 % $ 1,473 $ 1,397 5 %

The increase in global XGEVA sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was driven by higher unit demand, partially offset by
lower net selling price.

®

®

®

®

®

® 

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

®

® 

34



Neulasta

Total Neulasta sales by geographic region were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change

Neulasta — U.S. $ 360 $ 484 (26)% $ 1,215 $ 1,538 (21)%
Neulasta — ROW 55 71 (23)% 168 219 (23)%

Total Neulasta $ 415 $ 555 (25)% $ 1,383 $ 1,757 (21)%

The decrease in global Neulasta sales for the three months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily driven by the impact of biosimilar competition on
net selling price and unit demand. The decrease in global Neulasta sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, was driven by the impact of
biosimilar competition on net selling price and unit demand, partially offset by favorable changes to estimated sales deductions. Increased competition in the
United States and Europe as a result of biosimilar versions of Neulasta  has had and will continue to have a significant adverse impact on brand sales,
including additional net price erosion and lower unit demand. We also expect other biosimilar versions to be approved in the future.

For a discussion of ongoing patent litigations related to biosimilars, see Note 19, Contingencies and commitments, to the consolidated financial
statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020; Notes 12 and 13, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed
consolidated financial statements in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, respectively; and Note 14,
Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report.

Aranesp

Total Aranesp  sales by geographic region were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change

Aranesp  — U.S. $ 149 $ 158 (6)% $ 409 $ 489 (16)%
Aranesp  — ROW 247 226 9 % 709 704 1 %

Total Aranesp $ 396 $ 384 3 % $ 1,118 $ 1,193 (6)%

The increase in global Aranesp  sales for the three months ended September 30, 2021, was driven by higher unit demand and favorable changes to
estimated sales deductions, partially offset by lower net selling price due to competition. The decrease in global Aranesp  sales for the nine months ended
September 30, 2021, was primarily driven by lower net selling price due to competition.

Aranesp  continues to face competition from a long-acting erythropoiesis-stimulating agent (ESA) and also faces competition from a biosimilar version
of EPOGEN , which will continue to impact sales in the future.

Repatha

Total Repatha  sales by geographic region were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change

Repatha  — U.S. $ 139 $ 92 51 % $ 421 $ 331 27 %
Repatha  — ROW 133 113 18 % 423 303 40 %

Total Repatha $ 272 $ 205 33 % $ 844 $ 634 33 %

The increase in global Repatha  sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily driven by higher unit demand, partially
offset by lower net selling price.
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For a discussion of ongoing litigation related to Repatha , see Note 19, Contingencies and commitments, to the consolidated financial statements in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020; Notes 12 and 13, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated
financial statements for the periods ended March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, respectively; and Note 14, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed
consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report.

KYPROLIS

Total KYPROLIS  sales by geographic region were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change

KYPROLIS  — U.S. $ 198 $ 173 14 % $ 547 $ 527 4 %
KYPROLIS  — ROW 95 87 9 % 277 266 4 %

Total KYPROLIS $ 293 $ 260 13 % $ 824 $ 793 4 %

The increase in global KYPROLIS sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily driven by higher unit demand.

We are engaged in litigation with two companies that are challenging certain of our patents related to KYPROLIS and that are seeking to market generic
carfilzomib products. Separately, we have entered into confidential settlement agreements with other companies developing generic carfilzomib products, and
the court has entered consent judgments enjoining those companies from infringing certain of our patents, subject to terms of the confidential settlement
agreements. See Note 19, Contingencies and commitments, to the consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2020; and Notes 12 and 13, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated financial statements for the periods ended March
31, 2021 and June 30, 2021, respectively. The FDA has reported that it has granted tentative or final approval of ANDAs for generic carfilzomib products filed
by a number of companies. The date of approval of those ANDAs for generic carfilzomib products is governed by the Hatch-Waxman Act and any applicable
settlement agreements between the parties.
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Other products

Other product sales by geographic region were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change

MVASI — U.S. $ 187 $ 185 1 % $ 617 $ 442 40 %
MVASI — ROW 87 46 89 % 245 76 *
Nplate — U.S. 156 118 32 % 404 352 15 %
Nplate — ROW 117 94 24 % 341 271 26 %
Vectibix — U.S. 84 90 (7)% 255 249 2 %
Vectibix — ROW 116 103 13 % 375 341 10 %
KANJINTI — U.S. 92 149 (38)% 354 346 2 %
KANJINTI — ROW 24 18 33 % 79 63 25 %
EPOGEN — U.S. 138 149 (7)% 393 465 (15)%
EVENITY  — U.S. 94 54 74 % 230 131 76 %
EVENITY — ROW 55 5 * 157 129 22 %
BLINCYTO  — U.S. 74 54 37 % 201 167 20 %
BLINCYTO  — ROW 51 35 46 % 139 109 28 %
AMGEVITA — ROW 111 80 39 % 324 228 42 %
Aimovig  — U.S. 77 105 (27)% 225 274 (18)%
Aimovig  — ROW 2 — NM 2 — NM
Parsabiv  — U.S. 24 156 (85)% 107 462 (77)%
Parsabiv  — ROW 37 27 37 % 104 82 27 %
NEUPOGEN — U.S. 32 44 (27)% 86 117 (26)%
NEUPOGEN — ROW 20 21 (5)% 51 62 (18)%
Sensipar  — U.S. — 7 (100)% 4 81 (95)%
Sensipar /Mimpara — ROW 19 32 (41)% 62 162 (62)%
LUMAKRAS — U.S. 33 — NM 42 — NM
LUMYKRAS — ROW 3 — NM 3 — NM
Other — U.S. 61 31 97 % 141 78 81 %
Other — ROW 32 52 (38)% 92 129 (29)%

Total other products $ 1,726 $ 1,655 4 % $ 5,033 $ 4,816 5 %
Total U.S. — other products $ 1,052 $ 1,142 (8)% $ 3,059 $ 3,164 (3)%
Total ROW — other products 674 513 31 % 1,974 1,652 19 %

Total other products $ 1,726 $ 1,655 4 % $ 5,033 $ 4,816 5 %

NM - Not meaningful
* - Change in excess of 100%
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Operating expenses

Operating expenses were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 Change 2021 2020 Change
Operating expenses:

Cost of sales $ 1,609 $ 1,561 3 % $ 4,736 $ 4,562 4 %
% of product sales 25.5 % 25.6 % 26.3 % 25.5 %
% of total revenues 24.0 % 24.3 % 24.8 % 24.3 %

Research and development $ 1,422 $ 1,062 34 % $ 3,471 $ 2,978 17 %
% of product sales 22.5 % 17.4 % 19.3 % 16.6 %
% of total revenues 21.2 % 16.5 % 18.1 % 15.8 %

Acquired in-process research and development $ — $ — — % $ 1,505 $ — NM
% of product sales — % — % 8.3 % — %
% of total revenues — % — % 7.9 % — %

Selling, general and administrative $ 1,305 $ 1,346 (3)% $ 3,943 $ 3,957 — %
% of product sales 20.6 % 22.1 % 21.9 % 22.1 %
% of total revenues 19.5 % 21.0 % 20.6 % 21.1 %

Other $ (8) $ 1 * $ 143 $ 162 (12)%

NM - Not meaningful
* - Change in excess of 100%

Cost of sales

Cost of sales decreased to 24.0% of total revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2021, primarily driven by lower amortization expense from
acquisition-related assets, offset by unfavorable product mix.

Cost of sales increased to 24.8% of total revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, primarily driven by unfavorable product mix, partially
offset by lower amortization expense from acquisition-related assets.

Research and development

The increase in R&D expense for the three months ended September 30, 2021, was driven by a licensing-related upfront payment to KKC, partially offset
by lower late-stage support for existing programs.

The increase in R&D expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily driven by a licensing-related upfront payment to KKC and
higher research and early pipeline spend, partially offset by lower late-stage support for existing programs.

Acquired in-process research and development

Acquired IPR&D expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, is related to the bemarituzumab program acquired as part of the Five Prime
acquisition.

Selling, general and administrative

The decrease in Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense for the three months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily driven by lower
spend in general and administrative activities.

The decrease in SG&A expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily driven by lower spend in general and administrative
activities and favorable adjustments to estimated U.S. healthcare reform federal excise fees, partially offset by higher marketed-product support and investment
in new launches.

___________
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Other

Other operating expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2021, consisted primarily of changes in the fair values of contingent consideration
liabilities. Other operating expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, consisted primarily of expenses related to cost savings initiatives.

Other operating expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, consisted of legal settlement expenses.

Nonoperating expense/income and income taxes

Nonoperating expense/income and income taxes were as follows (dollar amounts in millions):

 Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

 2021 2020 2021 2020
Interest expense, net $ (296) $ (302) $ (862) $ (944)
Other income, net $ 73 $ 55 $ 97 $ 69 
Provision for income taxes $ 271 $ 185 $ 576 $ 607 
Effective tax rate 12.6 % 8.4 % 12.6 % 9.7 %

Interest expense, net

The decrease in Interest expense, net, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily due to lower LIBOR rates in the current year period
on debt for which we effectively pay a variable rate of interest through the use of interest rate swaps, partially offset by higher overall debt outstanding in the
current year period.

The decrease in Interest expense, net, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily due to net costs associated with the early retirement
of debt in the first quarter of the prior year and lower LIBOR rates in the current year period on debt for which we effectively pay a variable rate of interest
through the use of interest rate swaps, partially offset by higher overall debt outstanding in the current year period.

Other income, net

The increase in Other income, net, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily due to net gains recognized on our strategic
equity investments, partially offset by higher losses in connection with our BeiGene investment.

Income taxes

The increase in our effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily due to the non-deductible IPR&D expense
arising from the acquisition of Five Prime and prior year favorable items partially offset by a change in earnings mix.

The Administration and Congress are considering significant changes to existing tax law, including an increase in the corporate tax rate and the tax rate
on foreign earnings. These changes could substantially increase U.S. taxation of our operations both in and outside the United States, including the U.S.
territory of Puerto Rico. In addition, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) recently reached agreement to align countries on
a minimum corporate tax rate and an expansion of the taxing rights of market countries. If enacted, this agreement could result in tax increases in both the
United States and foreign jurisdictions.

In 2017, we received an RAR and a modified RAR from the IRS for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012 proposing significant adjustments that primarily
relate to the allocation of profits between certain of our entities in the United States and the U.S. territory of Puerto Rico. We disagreed with the proposed
adjustments and calculations and pursued a resolution with the IRS administrative appeals office. As previously reported, we were unable to reach resolution
with the IRS appeals office. In July 2021, we filed a petition in the U.S. Tax Court to contest two duplicate Notices for 2010, 2011 and 2012 that we received in
May and July 2021. The duplicate Notices seek to increase our U.S. taxable income by an amount that would result in additional federal tax of approximately
$3.6 billion, plus interest. Any additional tax that could be imposed would be reduced by up to approximately $900 million of repatriation tax previously
accrued on our foreign earnings. In any event, we firmly believe that the IRS’s positions in the Notices are without merit, and we will vigorously contest the
Notices through the judicial process.
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In addition, in 2020, we received an RAR and a modified RAR from the IRS for the years 2013, 2014 and 2015 also proposing significant adjustments
that primarily relate to the allocation of profits between certain of our entities in the United States and the U.S. territory of Puerto Rico, similar to those
proposed for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. We disagree with the proposed adjustments and calculations and have been pursuing resolution with the IRS
administrative appeals office. As a consequence of the Tax Court litigation for the 2010-2012 period, the IRS administrative appeals office recently informed
us that it does not plan to engage in discussions at this time regarding the allocation of profits between our entities in the United States and the U.S. territory of
Puerto Rico for the 2013-2015 period. We are currently under examination by the IRS for the years 2016, 2017 and 2018. We are also currently under
examination by a number of other state and foreign tax jurisdictions.

Final resolution of these complex matters is not likely within the next 12 months. We believe our accrual for income tax liabilities is appropriate based on
past experience, interpretations of tax law, application of the tax law to our facts and judgments about potential actions by tax authorities; however, due to the
complexity of the provision for income taxes and uncertain resolution of these matters, the ultimate outcome of any tax matters may result in payments
substantially greater than amounts accrued as noted above and could have a material adverse impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.

See Note 4, Income taxes, to the condensed consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Financial condition, liquidity and capital resources

Selected financial data were as follows (in millions):

September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 12,921 $ 10,647 
Total assets $ 64,993 $ 62,948 
Current portion of long-term debt $ 4,288 $ 91 
Long-term debt $ 33,291 $ 32,895 
Stockholders’ equity $ 8,217 $ 9,409 

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities

Our balance of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities was $12.9 billion at September 30, 2021. The primary objective of our investment
portfolio is to maintain safety of principal, prudent levels of liquidity and acceptable levels of risk. Our investment policy limits interest-bearing security
investments to certain types of debt and money market instruments issued by institutions with investment-grade credit ratings, and it places restrictions on
maturities and concentration by asset class and issuer.

Capital allocation

We intend to continue to invest in our business while returning capital to stockholders through the payment of cash dividends and stock repurchases,
thereby reflecting our confidence in the future cash flows of our business and our desire to optimize our cost of capital. The timing and amount of future
dividends and stock repurchases will vary based on a number of factors, including future capital requirements for strategic transactions, availability of
financing on acceptable terms, debt service requirements, our credit rating, changes to applicable tax laws or corporate laws, changes to our business model
and periodic determination by our Board of Directors that cash dividends and/or stock repurchases are in the best interests of stockholders and are in
compliance with applicable laws and the Company’s agreements. In addition, the timing and amount of stock repurchases may also be affected by our overall
level of cash, stock price and blackout periods, during which we are restricted from repurchasing stock.

In July 2021, March 2021 and December 2020, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $1.76 per share of common stock, which
were paid on September 8, 2021, June 8, 2021 and March 8, 2021, respectively, an increase of 10% over the quarterly cash dividend paid in each quarter in
2020. In October 2021, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $1.76 per share, which will be paid on December 8, 2021.

We also returned capital to stockholders through our stock repurchase program. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we executed trades to
repurchase $3.5 billion of common stock. As of September 30, 2021, $2.9 billion of authorization remained available under our stock repurchase program. In
October 2021, the Board of Directors increased the amount authorized under our stock repurchase program by an additional $4.5 billion.
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As a result of stock repurchases and quarterly dividend payments, we have an accumulated deficit as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. Our
accumulated deficit is not anticipated to affect our future ability to operate, repurchase stock, pay dividends or repay our debt given our continuing profitability
and strong financial position.

We believe that existing funds, cash generated from operations and existing sources of and access to financing are adequate to satisfy our needs for
working capital, to meet capital expenditure and debt service requirements, to fund our plans to pay dividends and repurchase stock and to fulfill other business
initiatives we expect to strategically pursue, including acquisitions and licensing activities. We anticipate that our liquidity needs can be met through a variety
of sources, including cash provided by operating activities, sales of marketable securities, equity markets and borrowings (including commercial paper and/or
syndicated credit facilities and access to other domestic and foreign debt markets). See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2020, Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors—Global economic conditions may negatively affect us and may magnify certain risks that affect our business.

Certain of our financing arrangements contain nonfinancial covenants. In addition, our revolving credit agreement includes a financial covenant that
requires us to maintain a specified minimum interest coverage ratio of (i) the sum of consolidated net income, interest expense, provision for income taxes,
depreciation expense, amortization expense, unusual or nonrecurring charges and other noncash items (Consolidated EBITDA) to (ii) Consolidated Interest
Expense, each as defined and described in the credit agreement. We were in compliance with all applicable covenants under these arrangements as of
September 30, 2021.

Cash flows

Our summarized cash flow activity was as follows (in millions):

 
Nine months ended

September 30,
 2021 2020
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 6,453 $ 8,344 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $ 963 $ (4,017)
Net cash used in financing activities $ (1,713) $ (1,277)

Operating

Cash provided by operating activities is expected to be our primary recurring source of funds. Cash provided by operating activities during the nine
months ended September 30, 2021, decreased primarily due to (i) the monetization of interest rate swaps in the prior year, (ii) a difference in the timing of
payments to tax authorities and sales deductions paid to customers, (iii) lower Net income, after adjustments for noncash items and (iv) the timing of
collections from customers.

Investing

Cash provided by investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily due to net cash inflows related to marketable
securities of $3.4 billion, partially offset by the acquisition of Five Prime for $1.6 billion, net of cash acquired, and capital expenditures of $593 million. Cash
used in investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2020, was due to our $3.2 billion of equity investments, primarily BeiGene, capital
expenditures of $435 million and net cash outflows related to marketable securities of $394 million. We currently estimate 2021 spending on capital projects to
be approximately $900 million.

Financing

Cash used in financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily due to payments to repurchase our common stock of
$3.5 billion and the payment of dividends of $3.0 billion, partially offset by proceeds from the issuance of debt of $4.9 billion. Cash used in financing activities
during the nine months ended September 30, 2020, was primarily due to the payment of dividends of $2.8 billion and payments to repurchase our common
stock of $2.3 billion, partially offset by proceeds from the issuance of debt, net of repayments, of $3.9 billion. See Note 10, Financing arrangements, and Note
11, Stockholders’ equity, to the condensed consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
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Critical accounting policies

The preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the notes to the financial statements. Some of those judgments can be subjective and complex,
and therefore actual results could differ materially from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions. A summary of our critical accounting
policies is presented in Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Information about our market risk is disclosed in Part II, Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, and is incorporated herein by reference. Except as discussed below, there were no material changes during
the nine months ended September 30, 2021, to the information provided in Part II, Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, of
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Interest rate sensitive financial instruments

To achieve a desired mix of fixed and floating interest rate debt, we entered into additional interest rate swap contracts with an aggregate notional amount
of $1.5 billion during the three months ended June 30, 2021. As of September 30, 2021, an aggregate notional amount of $7.4 billion of interest rate swap
contracts was outstanding. These interest rate swap contracts effectively converted a fixed-interest-rate coupon to a floating-rate LIBOR-based coupon over the
life of the respective notes. A hypothetical 100-basis-point increase in interest rates relative to interest rates at September 30, 2021, would have resulted in a
reduction in fair value of approximately $370 million on our interest rate swap contracts on that date. The analysis of the interest rate swap contracts does not
consider the impact that hypothetical changes in interest rates would have on the related fair value of debt that these interest-rate-sensitive instruments were
designed to offset.

Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as such term is defined under the Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) that are designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed in Amgen’s Exchange Act reports gets recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information gets accumulated and communicated to Amgen’s management, including its Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to facilitate timely decisions regarding required disclosures. In designing and evaluating the disclosure
controls and procedures, Amgen’s management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and in reaching a reasonable level of assurance, Amgen’s management necessarily was
required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost–benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. We carried out an evaluation under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including Amgen’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of Amgen’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on their evaluation and subject to the foregoing, the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2021.

Management determined that as of September 30, 2021, no changes in our internal control over financial reporting had occurred during the fiscal quarter
then ended that materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Notes 12, 13 and 14, Contingencies and commitments, to the condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2021, June 30, 2021 and September 30, 2021, respectively, for discussions that are limited to certain recent
developments concerning our legal proceedings. Those discussions should be read in conjunction with Note 19, Contingencies and commitments, to the
consolidated financial statements in Part IV of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

This report and other documents we file with the SEC contain forward-looking statements that are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and
projections about us, our future performance, our business, our beliefs and our management’s assumptions. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance, and they involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties
our business faces. The risks described below are not the only ones we face. Our business is also subject to the risks that affect many other companies, such as
employment relations, general economic conditions, geopolitical events and international operations. Further, additional risks not currently known to us or that
we currently believe are immaterial may in the future materially and adversely affect our business, operations, liquidity and stock price.

Below we provide in supplemental form the material changes to our risk factors that occurred during the past quarter. Our risk factors disclosed in Part I,
Item 1A, of our Annual Report, on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, provide additional disclosure for these supplemental risks and are
incorporated herein by reference.

RISKS RELATED TO ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND OPERATING A GLOBAL BUSINESS, INCLUDING DURING THE COVID-19
PANDEMIC

The COVID-19 pandemic, and the effort to mitigate the spread of the disease, have had, and are expected to continue to have, an adverse effect, and may
have a material adverse effect, on our clinical trials, operations, manufacturing, supply chains, distribution systems, product development, product sales,
business and results of operations.

The novel coronavirus identified in late 2019, SARS-CoV-2, which causes the disease known as COVID-19, is an ongoing global pandemic that has
resulted in public and governmental efforts to contain or slow the spread of the disease, including widespread shelter-in-place orders, social distancing
interventions, quarantines, travel restrictions and various forms of operational shutdowns. The COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting measures implemented
in response to the pandemic are adversely affecting, and are expected to continue to adversely affect, our business (including our R&D, clinical trials,
operations, manufacturing, supply chains, distribution systems, product development and sales activities), the business activities of our suppliers, customers,
third-party payers and our patients. See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors—The COVID-
19 pandemic, and the public and governmental effort to mitigate against the spread of the disease, have had, and are expected to continue to have, an adverse
effect, and may have a material adverse effect, on our clinical trials, operations, supply chains, distribution systems, product development, product sales,
business and results of operations; see also Our current products and products in development cannot be sold without regulatory approval; and see also We
must conduct clinical trials in humans before we commercialize and sell any of our product candidates or existing products for new indications. Due to the
pandemic and these measures and their effects, we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, unpredictable reductions in demand for certain of
our products, exacerbated by COVID-19 surges resulting in repeated shutdowns and/or disruptions in certain geographies.

Federal, state and local, and international governmental policies and initiatives designed to reduce the transmission of COVID-19 also have resulted in
the cancellation or delay of diagnostic, elective, specialty and other procedures and appointments to avoid non-essential patient exposure to medical
environments and potential infection with COVID-19 and to focus limited resources and personnel capacity toward the treatment of COVID-19. For example,
a recent NPR/Harvard poll found that, with hospitals crowded from COVID-19, one in five U.S. households has had to delay care for serious illnesses in the
past few months. These measures and challenges will likely continue to varying degrees for the duration of the pandemic and have significantly reduced patient
access to, and administration of, certain of our drugs. For example, Prolia  requires administration by a healthcare provider in doctors’ offices or other
healthcare settings that are affected by COVID-19. The U.S. label for Prolia  instructs healthcare professionals who discontinue Prolia  to transition the patient
to an alternative antiresorptive, including oral treatments that do not require administration by a healthcare provider. Further, as a result of COVID-19,
oncology patients, in consultation with their doctors, may be selecting therapies that are less immunosuppressive or
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therapies that do not require administration in a hospital setting, potentially adversely affecting certain of our products. Also, new patients have been, and are
expected to continue to be, less likely to be diagnosed and/or to start therapeutics during the pandemic, and these effects, together with the lower treatment
rates during the pandemic, have had, and are expected to continue to have, a cumulative negative effect on the commercial performance of our business. The
decrease in diagnoses over the course of the pandemic has suppressed the volume of new patients starting treatment, which we expect to continue to impact our
business for the remainder of the year. Once the pandemic subsides, we anticipate there could be a backlog of patients seeking appointments with physicians
relating to a variety of medical conditions, and as a result, patients seeking treatment with certain of our products may have to navigate lower provider capacity,
and this lower provider capacity could have a continued adverse effect on our sales following the opening up of various geographies and/or the end of the
pandemic. Further, the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may result in long-term shifts in preferences among healthcare professionals and patients toward
treatments that do not require administration by healthcare professionals or visits to medical facilities.

As the pandemic continues, and if conditions worsen or if the duration of the pandemic extends significantly, we expect to experience additional adverse
effects on our development, operational and commercial activities, customer purchases and our collections of accounts receivable. It remains uncertain the
degree to which these adverse effects would impact our future operational and commercial activities, customer purchases and our collections as conditions
begin to improve. There has been a resurgence in COVID-19 infections in numerous jurisdictions to date in 2021, resulting in the reinstatement of stricter
restrictions and shutdowns in a number of jurisdictions, including in the United States., Europe and Asia Pacific regions. It is expected that the pandemic will
continue to ebb and flow, with different jurisdictions having higher levels of infections than others over the course of the pandemic. New variants of the SARS-
CoV-2 virus have emerged, including the delta variant, and have been shown to be present in many geographies, and appear to spread more easily and quickly
than other variants. Further, although some studies suggest that antibodies generated with currently authorized vaccines may be effective against these variants,
it remains uncertain whether currently available vaccines will retain their efficacy against future variants of the virus. Further, even while vaccine booster shots
are available for certain patients, persistent vaccine hesitancy may result in under-vaccinated populations which may prolong the duration of the COVID-19
pandemic and continue to disrupt the availability of healthcare services to the patients we serve. Jurisdictions may implement, continue or reinstate border
closures, impose or reimpose prolonged quarantines and further restrict travel and business activity, which could significantly affect our ability to support our
operations and customers and the ability of our employees to get to their workplaces to discover, study, develop and produce our product candidates and
products, disrupt the movement of our products through the supply chain, and further prevent or discourage patients from participating in our clinical trials,
seeking healthcare services and the administration of certain of our products. Further, in connection with the global outbreak and spread of COVID-19 and in
an effort to increase the wider availability of needed medical products, we or our suppliers may elect to, or governments may require us or our suppliers to,
allocate manufacturing capacity (for example pursuant to the U.S. Defense Production Act) in a way that adversely affects our regular operations, customer
relationships and financial results. In the United States, on January 21, 2021, President Biden issued an Executive Order instructing federal agencies to use all
available legal authorities, including the Defense Production Act, to improve current and future pandemic response and biological threat preparedness. The
rapid reallocation of resources for the treatment and prevention of COVID-19 (including the production of COVID-19 vaccinations or related therapies, such as
our agreement to contribute to the production of COVID-19 antibody therapies for Eli Lilly and Company) and/or disruptions and shortages in the global
supply chain caused by the pandemic, could also result in increased competition for, or reduced availability of, materials or components used in the
development, manufacturing, distribution, or administration of our products. For example, during the second quarter of 2021, an industry-wide shortage of
certain lab kit supplies necessary for some activities that support our clinical trials has developed that we are actively monitoring and managing. In addition,
unpredictable increases in demand for certain of our products could exceed our capacity to meet such demand, which could adversely affect our financial
results and customer relationships.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the volatile global economic conditions stemming from it may precipitate or amplify the other risks described in the “Risk
Factors” section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, which could materially adversely affect our business, operations
and financial conditions and results. For example, if a natural disaster or other potentially disruptive event occurs concurrently with the COVID-19 pandemic,
such disaster or event could deplete our inventory levels and we could experience a disruption to our manufacturing or ability to supply our products. Further,
the global pandemic has exacerbated geopolitical tensions, and some countries, such as China, may be especially vulnerable to such dynamics. If relations
between the United States and China or other governments deteriorates, our business and investments in China or other such markets may also be adversely
affected. See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors—Our sales and operations are subject to
the risks of doing business internationally, including in emerging markets.

The rapid development and fluidity of the pandemic preclude any prediction as to the ultimate effect of COVID-19 on us. The duration of the measures
being taken by the authorities to mitigate against the spread of COVID-19 (including the distribution and/or availability of vaccines), and the extent to which
such measures are effective, if at all, remain highly uncertain. The magnitude and degree of COVID-19’s adverse effect on our business (including our product
development,
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product sales, operating results and resulting cash flows) and financial condition will be driven by the severity and duration of the pandemic, the pandemic’s
effect on the United States and global economies and the timing, scope and effectiveness of federal, state, local and international governmental responses to the
pandemic. If mitigation of the pandemic continues to require further shelter-in-place and shutdown orders and/or restrictions on individual and/or group
conduct, any adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic will likely grow and could be enduring and our business and financial position could be materially
adversely affected.

A breakdown, cyberattack or information security breach could compromise the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our information technology
systems, network-connected control systems and/or our data, interrupt the operation of our business and/or affect our reputation.

To achieve our business objectives, we rely on sophisticated information technology systems, including software, mobile applications, cloud services and
network-connected control systems, some of which are managed, hosted, provided or serviced by third parties. Internal or external events that compromise the
confidentiality, integrity and availability of our systems and data may significantly interrupt the operation of our business, result in significant costs and/or
adversely affect our reputation.

Our information technology systems are highly integrated into our business, including our R&D efforts, our clinical and commercial manufacturing
processes and our product sales and distribution processes. Further, as the majority of our employees are working remotely, our reliance on our and third-party
information technology systems has increased substantially and is expected to continue to increase. The complexity and interconnected nature of our systems
makes them potentially vulnerable to breakdown or other service interruptions. Upgrades or changes to our systems or the software that we use may result in
the introduction of new cybersecurity vulnerabilities and risks. Our systems are also subject to frequent cyberattacks. As the cyber-threat landscape evolves,
these attacks are growing in frequency, sophistication and intensity and are becoming increasingly difficult to detect. Such attacks could include the use of
harmful and virulent malware, including ransomware or other denials of service, that can be deployed through various means, including the software supply
chain, e-mail, malicious websites and/or the use of social engineering. We have also experienced unsuccessful denial of service attacks against our network,
and although such attacks did not succeed, there can be no assurance that our efforts to guard against the wide and growing variety of potential attack
techniques will be successful in the future. Attacks such as those experienced by governmental entities (including those that approve and/or regulate our
products, such as the European Medicines Agency (EMA)) and other multi-national companies, including some of our peers, could leave us unable to utilize
key business systems or access or protect important data, and could have a material adverse effect on our ability to operate our business, including developing,
gaining regulatory approval for, manufacturing, selling and/or distributing our products. For example, in 2017, a pharmaceutical company experienced a
cyberattack involving virulent malware that significantly disrupted its operations, including its research and sales operations and the production of some of its
medicines and vaccines. As a result of the cyberattack, its orders and sales for certain products in certain markets were negatively affected. In December 2020,
SolarWinds Corporation, a leading provider of software for monitoring and managing information technology infrastructure, disclosed that it had suffered a
cybersecurity incident whereby attackers had inserted malicious code into legitimate software updates for its products that were installed by myriad private and
government customers, enabling the attackers to access a backdoor to such systems. See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2020, Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors—The COVID-19 pandemic, and the public and governmental effort to mitigate against the spread of the disease, have had,
and are expected to continue to have, an adverse effect, and may have a material adverse effect, on our clinical trials, operations, supply chains, distribution
systems, product development, product sales, business and results of operations for a discussion of the cyberattack on the EMA.

Our systems also contain and utilize a high volume of sensitive data, including intellectual property, trade secrets, financial information, regulatory
information, strategic plans, sales trends and forecasts, litigation materials and/or personal information belonging to us, our staff, our patients, customers and/or
other parties. In some cases, we utilize third-party service providers to process, store, manage or transmit such data, which may increase our risk. Intentional or
inadvertent data privacy or security breaches (including cyberattacks) resulting from attacks or lapses by employees, service providers (including providers of
information technology-specific services), nation states (including groups associated with or supported by foreign intelligence agencies), organized crime
organizations, “hacktivists” or others, create risks that our sensitive data may be exposed to unauthorized persons, our competitors, or the public. For example,
a supplier recently experienced a data breach in which an unauthorized third party acquired access to certain information provided to the supplier in the course
of its provision of services to us, including business documents and certain personally identifiable patient information (not including social security or other
financial or health insurance information). As required, we promptly notified the applicable state attorneys general and the individuals whose personally
identifiable information was affected of this data breach at the supplier. Although the supplier data breach did not result in a material adverse effect on our
business, there can be no assurance that a similar future cybersecurity incident would not result in a material adverse effect on our business or results of
operations. Another vendor experienced a cyberattack and, while initially reporting that our information was not involved, the vendor subsequently informed
us that the attacker had accessed limited, non-significant information. Although this breach did not have a significant
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adverse effect on us, we may not receive timely reporting of future breaches.

Domestic and global government regulators, our business partners, suppliers with whom we do business, companies that provide us or our partners with
business services, and companies we have or may acquire face similar risks, and security breaches of their systems or service outages could adversely affect
our security, leave us without access to important systems, products, raw materials, components, services or information or expose our confidential data or
sensitive personal information. For example, in 2019, two vendors that perform testing and analytical services that we use in developing and manufacturing our
products have experienced cyberattacks, and in April and September of 2020, vendors that provide us with information technology services and clinical data
services, respectively, each experienced ransomware attacks. Although there was no breach of our systems, each of these incidents required us to disconnect
our systems from those vendors’ systems. While we were able to reconnect our systems following restoration of these vendors’ capabilities without
significantly affecting product availability, a more extended service outage affecting these or other vendors, particularly where such vendor is the single source
from which we obtain the services, could have a material adverse effect on our business or results of operations. In addition, we distribute our products in the
United States primarily through three pharmaceutical wholesalers, and a security breach that impairs the distribution operations of our wholesalers could
significantly impair our ability to deliver our products to healthcare providers and patients.

Although we have experienced system breakdowns, attacks and information security breaches, we do not believe such breakdowns, attacks and breaches
have had a material adverse effect on our business or results of operations. We continue to invest in the monitoring, protection and resilience of our critical
and/or sensitive data and systems. However, there can be no assurances that our efforts will detect, prevent or fully recover systems or data from all
breakdowns, service interruptions, attacks and/or breaches of our systems that could adversely affect our business and operations and/or result in the loss or
exposure of critical, proprietary, private, confidential or otherwise sensitive data, which could result in material financial, legal, business or reputational harm
to us or negatively affect our stock price. While we maintain cyber-liability insurance, our insurance is not sufficient to cover us against all losses that could
potentially result from a service interruption, breach of our systems or loss of our critical or sensitive data.

We are also subject to various laws and regulations globally regarding privacy and data protection, including laws and regulations relating to the
collection, storage, handling, use, disclosure, transfer and security of personal data. The legislative and regulatory environment regarding privacy and data
protection is continuously evolving and developing and the subject of significant attention globally. For example, we are subject to the European Union’s
General Data Protection Regulation, which became effective in May 2018, and the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (CCPA), which became effective
in January 2020, both of which provide for substantial penalties for non-compliance. The CCPA was amended in late 2020, to create the California Privacy
Rights Act to create opt-in requirements for the use of sensitive personal data and the formation of a new dedicated agency for the enforcement of the law, the
California Privacy Protection Agency. Since then, Virginia and Colorado both passed similar consumer privacy laws that will go into effect in 2023. Other
jurisdictions where we operate continue to propose similar legislation and/or regulations with others expected to pass in 2021. Failure to comply with these
current and future laws could result in significant penalties and reputational harm and could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.

RISKS RELATED TO GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS AND THIRD-PARTY POLICIES

Our sales depend on coverage and reimbursement from government and commercial third-party payers, and pricing and reimbursement pressures have
affected, and are likely to continue to affect, our profitability.

Sales of our products depend on the availability and extent of coverage and reimbursement from third-party payers, including government healthcare
programs and private insurance plans. Governments and private payers continue to pursue initiatives to manage drug utilization and contain costs. These payers
are increasingly focused on the effectiveness, benefits and costs of similar treatments, which have resulted, and are expected to continue to result, in lower
reimbursement rates for our products or narrower populations for whom payers will reimburse. Continued intense public scrutiny of the price of drugs and
other healthcare costs, together with payer dynamics, have limited, and are likely to continue to limit, our ability to set or adjust the price of our products based
on their value, which can have a material adverse effect on our business. In the United States, particularly over the past few years, a number of legislative and
regulatory proposals have been introduced in an attempt to lower drug prices. These include proposals that would allow the U.S. government to negotiate drug
prices directly, limit drug reimbursement in Medicare and/or the commercial market based on a reference prices or permit importation of drugs from Canada.
Additional proposals would require a rebate to the government for any price increase in excess of the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers and/or to
shift some of the costs of these Medicare Part D reforms to manufacturers to offset the cost. Proposals focused on drug pricing have been implemented and are
likely to continue to be proposed and may be adopted and implemented in some form. See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2020, Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors—Our sales depend on coverage and reimbursement from government and commercial third-party payers, and pricing and
reimbursement pressures have affected, and are likely to continue to affect, our profitability.
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—Changing U.S. federal coverage and reimbursement policies and practices have affected and may continue to affect access to, pricing and sales of
our products

A substantial portion of our U.S. business relies on reimbursement from federal government healthcare programs and commercial insurance plans
regulated by federal and state governments. See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, Part I, Item 1. Business—
Reimbursement. Our business has been and will continue to be affected by legislative actions changing U.S. federal reimbursement policy. Congress has been
focused on drug pricing reforms and oversight since 2018, and is ongoing. For example, in 2020, Amgen participated in House Oversight and Reform
Committee hearings on drug pricing practices. Additionally, in 2019 and 2020, a number of other Congressional committees debated drug pricing reform
proposals. For example, in 2019, the Senate Finance Committee advanced a bill that would, among other things, penalize pharmaceutical manufacturers for
raising prices on drugs covered by Medicare Parts B and/or D faster than the rate of inflation, cap out-of-pocket expenses for Medicare Part D beneficiaries and
require higher/additional manufacturer discounts in Medicare Part D. Additionally, in late 2019, a drug-pricing bill, H.R. 3, passed the House of
Representatives, which would, among other things, enable direct price negotiations by the federal government on certain drugs (with the maximum price paid
by Medicare capped by prices derived from an international index), includes a penalty for failing to reach agreement with the government and requires that
manufacturers offer these negotiated prices to other payers. Further, proposals from H.R. 3 have been incorporated into other proposed legislation, including
the House’s drug pricing provisions based on H.R. 3 in the Build Back Better reconciliation bill, and proposals from H.R. 3 are also likely to be included in the
version of the reconciliation bill that remains to be further debated between the House, Senate and White House. Other legislation has also contained drug
pricing reforms, including the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act passed by the Senate in August 2021, which includes a provision that would, starting in
2023, require manufacturers to provide Medicare with rebates for certain drugs paid under Medicare Part B, and the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, which
includes a provision, to be implemented in 2024, that increases the Medicaid rebate liability for certain medicines that raise prices in excess of inflation. On
November 2, 2021, Congress announced a framework for drug pricing reform that includes inflation penalties, Medicare negotiation for select drugs paid for
under Parts B and D, and a Medicare Part D redesign. As of the date of this filing, this framework remains in discussion with policymakers in Congress and the
Administration.

There are other outstanding proposals that have been introduced by the prior Administration that, if enacted and implemented in whole or in part, could
also affect access to and sales of our products, including, but not limited to, proposals to allow importation of prescription medications from Canada or other
countries and to set Medicare payment rates using international price referencing. Further, in mid-2020, the prior Administration announced a number of
Executive Orders intended to reduce the cost of biopharmaceuticals for patients, including a most favored nation (MFN) policy for Medicare Parts B and D,
under which the Health & Human Services (HHS) was directed to take steps to implement payment models that set Medicare purchase prices based on the
lowest price available in economically comparable countries for certain Part B and Part D medicines. In September 2020, in response to the corresponding
Executive Order, HHS released a final rule to allow states (or other nonfederal government entities) to submit proposals to the FDA allowing for the
importation of certain nonbiologic prescription drugs from Canada. Currently, the rule is being challenged by litigation, however, should such litigation be
unsuccessful and should the Secretary of HHS authorize state proposals for importation, this rule could allow the importation of Canadian versions of certain
of Amgen’s products (including Otezla ), that could have a material adverse effect on Amgen’s business. Further, in November 2020, also in response to the
corresponding Executive Order, HHS released an interim final rule to implement the MFN pricing approach. If implemented, the MFN rule would set the
reimbursement rate for 50 Medicare Part B drugs (including our products, such as Prolia , XGEVA , KYPROLIS , Neulasta , Nplate , EPOGEN  and
Aranesp ) equal to the lowest adjusted price for such products of the 22 OECD nations. Lawsuits have been filed by certain trade groups challenging the
implementation of this MFN rule based on, among other things, procedural defects. Late in 2020, in the case filed by the Biotechnology Innovation
Organization (BIO) and others, the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California issued a preliminary injunction preventing the rule from taking
effect nationwide, pending the government’s completion of required administrative procedures. The case was subsequently stayed by the court and will remain
stayed until at least November 10, 2021, when the parties will be required to submit a joint status report to the court. Another case, filed by the Pharmaceutical
Research and Manufacturers of America and others in the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland, was also stayed until either a final rule based on the
MFN interim rule is published in the Federal Register, or until the court orders a lifting of the stay based on, among other things, the status of the nationwide
preliminary injunction issued in the BIO case. In August 2021, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) released a proposal to withdraw the MFN
rule, noting, however, that the proposal to withdraw “does not reflect any judgment by HHS regarding future policy.” Notwithstanding these stays and the
proposed withdrawal of the rule, the MFN rule’s approach to drug pricing and other similar approaches remain of interest. Further, despite the change in
Administration, we expect continued significant focus on healthcare and similar drug pricing proposals for the foreseeable future, including proposals similar
to the MFN rule or other proposals that would grant the HHS secretary the authority to negotiate drug prices directly with manufacturers. On July 9, 2021, the
Administration issued an Executive Order designed to address anticompetitive behavior across multiple sectors, and for the healthcare sector, called for, among
other things, more scrutiny of anticompetitive activity by the Federal Trade
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Commission (FTC), emphasized the need for actions to allow for greater competition from generics and biosimilars, and called for the FDA to work with states
and Indian Tribes to develop prescription drug importation programs. The Executive Order established a process and timeline for federal agencies to deliver
ideas on drug pricing to the Administration, including requiring HHS to develop a comprehensive plan within 45 days to address drug pricing. Subsequently,
on September 9, 2021, the HHS released a report that presented guiding principles for the Administration’s drug pricing proposals, including changes to
promote competition throughout the prescription drug industry, highlighting potential legislative policies that Congress could pursue (including drug price
negotiation in Medicare Parts B and D, making those negotiated prices available to commercial plans and legislation to speed the entry of biosimilar and
generic drugs) and examples of potential administrative tools available to the HHS (including various testing models and enhanced focus of the FTC and the
USPTO to address impediments to generic drug and biosimilar competition). Also in response to the July 9 Executive Order, the FDA sent a letter to the
USPTO describing ways to strengthen coordination between the two agencies, offered training to help identify prior art, and seeking USPTO’s views on
practices that extend market exclusivities, whether pharmaceutical patent examiners need additional resources, and the effect of post-grant challenges at the
PTAB on drug patents.

Our business has been, and is expected to continue to be, affected by changes in U.S. federal reimbursement policy resulting from federal regulations and
federal demonstration projects. Over the past three years, federal agencies, including the CMS, announced a number of recommendations, policies, proposals
and demonstration projects addressing drug pricing. CMS is the federal agency responsible for administering Medicare and overseeing state Medicaid
programs and Health Insurance Marketplaces and has substantial power to implement policy changes or demonstration projects that can quickly and
significantly affect how drugs, including our products, are covered and reimbursed. CMS issued guidance to allow certain Medicare plans offered by private
insurance companies to require that patients receiving Medicare Part B drugs first try a drug preferred by the plan before covering another therapy (Step
Therapy) and lowered reimbursement rates for new Medicare Part B drugs. Further, HHS issued a final rule under Medicare Part D revising the regulations
under the federal antikickback statute to encourage Pharmacy Benefit Managers (PBMs) to use rebates received from biopharmaceutical manufacturers to
reduce patient cost-sharing at the point of sale. While the implementation date for the rule is January 1, 2023, the rule remains subject to litigation, there are
numerous logistical hurdles to overcome before it can be effectively implemented, and it is unclear how PBMs will respond and what the current
Administration’s position is on the rule. Further, while the prior Administration finalized a rule (effective January 1, 2022) mandating price and cost-sharing
transparency for almost all health plans and insurers in the individual and group commercial markets, the current Administration has delayed implementation
of those drug price transparency provisions and has indicated that there will be future rulemaking on the issue. It is unclear how group health plans and health
insurers may respond. The Administration also could develop and seek to advance a range of policy proposals that could impact U.S. federal reimbursement
policy for drugs and biologics, including changes to Medicare Part B.

CMS policy changes and demonstration projects to test new care, delivery and payment models can significantly affect how drugs, including our
products, are covered and reimbursed. In end-stage renal disease (ESRD), CMS uses bundled payment rates. Between 2018 and 2020, Sensipar  and
Parsabiv , our calcimimetics that are used in dialysis clinics, were eligible for temporary drug add-on payment adjustments (TDAPA) to the bundled rate. In
November 2020, CMS released its final rule ending the TDAPA for calcimimetics and adjusting ESRD Prospective Payment System bundled rates on January
1, 2021 by $9.93 per dialysis treatment for calcimimetics. As a result, sales of Parsabiv  have been materially adversely affected by this rule change.
Additionally, CMS created a new mandatory payment model, effective January 1, 2021, focused on encouraging greater use of home dialysis and kidney
transplants for ESRD patients that could result in changes to treatment of dialysis patients, including reduction of the use of our ESAs. Further, in November
2019, CMS announced additional voluntary payment models for nephrologists and dialysis facility partners that also seek to encourage home dialysis and
preemptive transplantation through increased risk sharing, effective January 1, 2022. CMS has also solicited suggestions regarding other potential care models.
In 2016, CMS initiated the Oncology Care Model demonstration, which provides participating physician practices with performance-based financial incentives
that aim to manage or reduce Medicare costs without negatively affecting the efficacy of care, that has been extended by one year (to 2022) due to COVID-19.
We believe the Oncology Care Model has reduced utilization of certain of our oncology products by participating physician practices and expect it to continue
to do so in the future. Additionally, in late 2019, CMS announced a request for information on the Oncology Care First model, a new voluntary model that
builds on the Oncology Care Model. CMS has indicated a continued interest in exploring demonstrations of mandatory models, and may propose both new
mandatory payment models in the future that could adversely affect our business. For example, HHS’s September 2021 comprehensive plan to address drug
pricing included potential future mandatory models that link payment for prescription drugs and biologics to factors such as: improved patient outcomes,
reductions in health disparities, patient affordability, and lower overall costs; bundled payment models; total cost of care models; models in which Medicare
Part B savings from utilization of biosimilars, generics, or other high-value products are shared between prescribing providers and the government; models that
provide additional Medicare Part D cost-sharing support for biosimilars and generics; and potential expansion of the Part D Senior Savings Model to additional
classes of drugs. CMS recently finalized a rule that, starting January 1, 2023, unless a manufacturer can ensure that the full amount of manufacturer patient
assistance programs is passed on to the patient, such amount will be treated as a price reduction that will be taken into account when
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reporting our Best Price and/or Average Manufacturer Price. Given the use by PBMs and insurers of copay accumulator adjustment programs to apply such
patient assistance for the benefit of such companies and not to defray costs to patients, it could be difficult to impossible for manufacturers to ensure that the
full value of such amounts is being passed on to the patient. This new policy, if implemented, would have significant implications for our ability to offer copay
assistance programs. In this dynamic environment, particularly in light of the pressures on healthcare budgets as a result of the pandemic, we are unable to
predict which or how many federal policy, legislative, regulatory, executive or administrative changes may ultimately be, or effectively estimate the
consequences to our business if, enacted and implemented. However, to the extent that these or other federal government initiatives further decrease or modify
the coverage or reimbursement available for our products, require that we pay increased rebates or shift other costs to us, limit or affect our decisions regarding
the pricing of or otherwise reduce the use of our U.S. products, or limit our ability to offer co-pay payment assistance to commercial patients, such actions
could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We also face risks relating to the reporting of pricing data that affects the reimbursement of and discounts provided for our products. U.S. government
price reporting regulations are complex and may require a biopharmaceutical manufacturer to update certain previously submitted data. If our submitted
pricing data are incorrect, we may become subject to substantial fines and penalties or other government enforcement actions, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In addition, as a result of restating previously reported price data, we also may be required to pay
additional rebates and provide additional discounts.

The adoption and interpretation of new tax legislation or exposure to additional tax liabilities could affect our profitability.

We are subject to income and other taxes in the United States and other jurisdictions in which we do business. As a result, our provision for income taxes
is derived from a combination of applicable tax rates in the various places we operate. Significant judgment is required for determining our provision for
income tax.

One or more of our legal entities file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various U.S. state jurisdictions and certain foreign jurisdictions.
Our income tax returns are routinely examined by tax authorities in those jurisdictions. Significant disputes can arise with tax authorities involving issues
regarding the timing and amount of deductions, the use of tax credits and allocations of income and expenses among various tax jurisdictions because of
differing interpretations of tax laws, regulations and relevant facts, and such tax authorities (including the IRS) are becoming more aggressive in their audits
and are particularly focused on such matters. In 2017, we received a RAR and a modified RAR from the IRS for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012 proposing
significant adjustments that primarily relate to the allocation of profits between certain of our entities in the United States and the U.S. territory of Puerto Rico.
As previously reported, we disagreed with the proposed adjustments and calculations and pursued a resolution with the IRS administrative appeals office.
However, we were unable to reach resolution with the IRS appeals office. In July 2021, we filed a petition in the U.S. Tax Court to contest two duplicative
Notices for 2010, 2011 and 2012 that we received in May and July 2021 which seek to increase our U.S. taxable income. We firmly believe that the IRS’s
positions set forth in the Notices are without merit, and we will vigorously contest the Notices through the judicial process. See Note 4, Income taxes, to the
condensed consolidated financial statements.

In addition, in 2020, we received an RAR and a modified RAR from the IRS for the years 2013, 2014 and 2015 also proposing significant adjustments
that primarily relate to the allocation of profits between certain of our entities in the United States and the U.S. territory of Puerto Rico similar to those
proposed for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. We disagree with the proposed adjustments and calculations and have been pursuing resolution with the IRS
administrative appeals office. As a consequence of the 2010-2012 Tax Court litigation, the IRS administrative appeals office recently informed us that it does
not plan to engage in discussions at this time regarding the allocation of profits between our entities in the United States and the U.S. territory of Puerto Rico
for the 2013-2015 period. We are currently under examination by the IRS for the years 2016, 2017 and 2018. We are also currently under examination by a
number of other state and foreign tax jurisdictions.

Final resolution of these complex matters is not likely within the next 12 months. We continue to believe our accrual for income tax liabilities is
appropriate based on past experience, interpretations of tax law, application of the tax law to our facts and judgments about potential actions by tax authorities;
however, due to the complexity of the provision for income taxes and uncertain resolution of these matters, the ultimate outcome of any tax matters may result
in payments substantially greater than amounts accrued and could have a material adverse effect on the results of our operations.

Our provision for income taxes and results of operations in the future could be adversely affected by changes to our operating structure, changes in the
mix of income and expenses in countries with differing tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities and changes in applicable tax
laws, regulations or administrative interpretations thereof. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the 2017 Tax Act) is complex and a large volume of regulations and
guidance has been issued and could be subject to different interpretations. We could face audit challenges to our application of the 2017 Tax Act. The
Administration and Congress are considering significant changes to existing tax law, including an increase in the corporate tax
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rate and the tax rate on foreign earnings. These changes could substantially increase U.S. taxation of our operations both in and outside the United States,
including the U.S. territory of Puerto Rico. Further, the OECD recently reached agreement to align countries on a minimum corporate tax rate and an
expansion of the taxing rights of market countries. If enacted, this agreement could result in tax increases in both the United States and foreign jurisdictions.
Changes to existing tax law in the United States, the U.S. territory of Puerto Rico, or other jurisdictions that would likely result in tax increases where we do
business and could have a material adverse effect on the results of our operations.

Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

During the three months ended September 30, 2021, we had one outstanding stock repurchase program, under which the repurchase activity was as
follows:

Period

Total number
of shares

purchased

Average
price paid

per share 

Total number
of shares purchased
as part of publicly

announced program

Maximum dollar
value that may

yet be purchased
under the program

July 1 - 31 1,763,784 $ 245.52 1,763,784 $ 3,486,312,736 
August 1 - 31 1,250,282 $ 226.31 1,250,282 $ 3,203,364,954 
September 1 - 30 1,624,898 $ 217.23 1,624,898 $ 2,850,385,563 

Total 4,638,964 $ 230.43 4,638,964 

Average price paid per share includes related expenses.

    In March 2021, our Board of Directors increased the amount authorized under our stock repurchase program by an additional $3.4 billion. In October
2021, the Board of Directors increased the amount authorized under our stock repurchase program by an additional $4.5 billion.

(1) (2)

___________

(1)    

(2)
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Item 6. EXHIBITS

Reference is made to the Index to Exhibits included herein.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit No. Description
2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated August 25, 2019, by and between Amgen Inc. and Celgene Corporation. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-

K on August 26, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference.)

2.2 Amendment No. 1 to the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 17, 2019, by and between Amgen Inc. and Celgene Corporation.
(Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on October 17, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference.)

2.3 Amendment No. 2 to the Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 17, 2019, by and between Amgen Inc. and Celgene Corporation.
(Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 on February 12, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

2.4 Letter Agreement, dated November 21, 2019, by and between Amgen Inc. and the parties named therein re: Treatment of Certain Product
Inventory in connection with Amgen’s acquisition of Otezla . (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019
on February 12, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

2.5 Irrevocable Guarantee, dated August 25, 2019, by and between Amgen Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company. (Filed as an exhibit to
Form 8-K on August 26, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference.)

2.6 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 4, 2021, by and among Amgen Inc., Franklin Acquisition Sub, Inc. and Five Prime
Therapeutics, Inc. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on March 4, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.)

2.7* Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated July 27, 2021, by and among Amgen Inc., Teneobio, Inc., Tuxedo Merger Sub, Inc., and Fortis
Advisors LLC. (portions of the exhibit have been omitted because they are both (i) not material and (ii) is the type of information that the
Company treats as private or confidential).

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Amgen Inc. (As Restated March 6, 2013.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2013 on May 3, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Amgen Inc. (As Amended and Restated February 15, 2016.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on
February 17, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.1 Form of stock certificate for the common stock, par value $.0001 of the Company. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 1997 on May 14, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.2 Form of Indenture, dated January 1, 1992. (Filed as an exhibit to Form S-3 Registration Statement filed on December 19, 1991 and
incorporated herein by reference.)

4.3 Agreement of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance dated February 15, 2008. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007 on February 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture, dated February 26, 1997. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on March 14, 1997 and incorporated herein by
reference.)

4.5 8-1/8% Debentures due April 1, 2097. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on April 8, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.6 Officer’s Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated April 8, 1997, establishing a series of securities entitled “8 1/8% Debentures due April 1,
2097.” (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on April 8, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.7 Indenture, dated August 4, 2003. (Filed as an exhibit to Form S-3 Registration Statement on August 4, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference.)

4.8 Corporate Commercial Paper - Master Note between and among Amgen Inc., as Issuer, Cede & Co., as Nominee of The Depository Trust
Company, and Citibank, N.A., as Paying Agent. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1998 on May 13,
1998 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.9 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated May 30, 2007, including form of the Company’s 6.375% Senior Notes due 2037. (Filed as an
exhibit to Form 8-K on May 30, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.10 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated May 23, 2008, including form of the Company’s 6.90% Senior Notes due 2038. (Filed as
exhibit to Form 8-K on May 23, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.)

®
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4.11 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated January 16, 2009, including form of the Company’s 6.40% Senior Notes due 2039. (Filed as
exhibit to Form 8-K on January 16, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.12 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated March 12, 2010, including form of the Company’s 5.75% Senior Notes due 2040. (Filed as
exhibit to Form 8-K on March 12, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.13 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated September 16, 2010, including form of the Company’s 4.95% Senior Notes due 2041. (Filed as
an exhibit to Form 8-K on September 17, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.14 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated June 30, 2011, including form of the Company’s 5.65% Senior Notes due 2042. (Filed as an
exhibit to Form 8-K on June 30, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.15 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated November 10, 2011, including form of the Company’s 5.15% Senior Notes due 2041. (Filed as
an exhibit to Form 8-K on November 10, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.16 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated December 5, 2011, including form of the Company’s 5.50% Senior Notes due 2026. (Filed as
an exhibit to Form 8-K on December 5, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.17 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated May 15, 2012, including forms of the Company’s 3.625% Senior Notes due 2022 and 5.375%
Senior Notes due 2043. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on May 15, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.18 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated September 13, 2012, including form of the Company’s 4.000% Senior Notes due 2029. (Filed
as an exhibit to Form 8-K on September 13, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.19 Indenture, dated May 22, 2014, between Amgen Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee. (Filed as an
exhibit to Form 8-K on May 22, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.20 Officers’ Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated May 22, 2014, including form of the Company’s 3.625% Senior Notes due 2024. (Filed as an
exhibit to Form 8-K on May 22, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.21 Officer’s Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated May 1, 2015, including forms of the Company’s 2.700% Senior Notes due 2022, 3.125%
Senior Notes due 2025 and 4.400% Senior Notes due 2045. (Filed as an exhibit on Form 8-K on May 1, 2015 and incorporated herein by
reference.)

4.22 Officer’s Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated as of February 25, 2016, including forms of the Company’s 1.250% Senior Notes due 2022
and 2.000% Senior Notes due 2026. (Filed as an exhibit on Form 8-K on February 26, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.23 Form of Permanent Global Certificate for the Company’s 0.410% bonds due 2023. (Filed as an exhibit on Form 8-K on March 8, 2016
and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.24 Terms of the Bonds for the Company’s 0.410% bonds due 2023. (Filed as an exhibit on Form 8-K on March 8, 2016 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

4.25 Officer’s Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated as of June 14, 2016, including forms of the Company’s 4.563% Senior Notes due 2048 and
4.663% Senior Notes due 2051. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on June 14, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.26 Officer’s Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated as of August 19, 2016, including forms of the Company’s 2.250% Senior Notes due 2023 and
2.600% Senior Notes due 2026. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on August 19, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.27 Officer’s Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated as of May 11, 2017 including form of the Company’s 2.650% Senior Notes due 2022. (Filed as
an exhibit to Form 8-K on May 11, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.28 Officer’s Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated as of November 2, 2017, including in the form of the Company’s 3.200% Senior Notes due
2027. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on November 2, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.29 Officer’s Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated as of February 21, 2020, including forms of the Company’s 1.900% Senior Notes due 2025,
2.200% Senior Notes due 2027, 2.450% Senior Notes due 2030, 3.150% Senior Notes due 2040 and 3.375% Senior Notes due 2050.
(Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on February 21, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)
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4.30 Officer’s Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated as of May 6, 2020, including form of the Company’s 2.300% Senior Notes due 2031. (Filed as
an exhibit to Form 8-K on May 6, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.31 Officer’s Certificate of Amgen Inc., dated as of August 17, 2020, including forms of the Company’s 2.770% Senior Notes due 2053.
(Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on August 18, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

4.32 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2020, by and among Amgen Inc., BofA Securities, Inc. and J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC, as lead dealer managers, and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., RBC Capital Markets, LLC,
Blaylock Van, LLC and Siebert Williams Shank & Co., LLC, as co-dealer managers. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on August 18,
2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.1+ Amgen Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan. (Filed as Appendix C to the Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule
14A on April 8, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.2+ First Amendment to Amgen Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan, effective March 4, 2015. (Filed as an exhibit to
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2015 on April 27, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.3+ Second Amendment to Amgen Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan, effective March 2, 2016. (Filed as an exhibit to
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 on May 2, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.4+ Form of Grant of Stock Option Agreement for the Amgen Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan. (As Amended on
December 15, 2020.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 on February 9, 2021 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.5+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for the Amgen Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan. (As Amended on
December 15, 2020.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 on February 9, 2021 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.6+ Amgen Inc. 2009 Performance Award Program. (As Amended on December 12, 2017.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017 on February 13, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.7+ Form of Performance Unit Agreement for the Amgen Inc. 2009 Performance Award Program. (As Amended on December 15, 2020.)
(Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 on February 9, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.8+ Amgen Inc. 2009 Director Equity Incentive Program. (As Amended and Restated on October 21, 2020.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2020 on February 9, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.9+ Form of Grant of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for the Amgen Inc. 2009 Director Equity Incentive Program. (Filed as an
exhibit to Form 8-K on May 8, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.10+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for the Amgen Inc. 2009 Director Equity Incentive Program. (As Amended on December 11,
2019.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 on February 12, 2020 and incorporated herein by
reference.)

10.11+ Form of Cash-Settled Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for the Amgen 2009 Director Equity Incentive Program. (As Amended on
December 11, 2019.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 on February 12, 2020 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.12+ Amgen Inc. Supplemental Retirement Plan. (As Amended and Restated effective October 16, 2013.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2013 on February 24, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.13+ First Amendment to the Amgen Inc. Supplemental Retirement Plan, effective October 14, 2016. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2016 on October 28, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.14+ Second Amendment to the Amgen Inc. Supplemental Retirement Plan (As Amended and Restated effective October 23, 2019). (Filed as
an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 on February 12, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.15+ Amended and Restated Amgen Change of Control Severance Plan. (As Amended and Restated effective December 9, 2010 and
subsequently amended effective March 2, 2011.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011 on May 10,
2011 and incorporated herein by reference.)
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10.16+ Amgen Inc. Executive Incentive Plan. (As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2009.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2008 on November 7, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.17+ First Amendment to the Amgen Inc. Executive Incentive Plan, effective December 13, 2012. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2012 on February 27, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.18+ Second Amendment to the Amgen Inc. Executive Incentive Plan, effective January 1, 2017. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2017 on April 27, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.19+ Amgen Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan. (As Amended and Restated effective October 16, 2013.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 on February 24, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.20+ First Amendment to the Amgen Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, effective October 14, 2016. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 on October 28, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.21+ Second Amendment to the Amgen Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, effective January 1, 2020. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2019 on February 12, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.22+ Agreement between Amgen Inc. and Murdo Gordon, dated July 25, 2018. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2018 on October 31, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.23+ Agreement between Amgen Inc. and Peter Griffith, dated October 18, 2019. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2020 on May 1, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.24 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated December 12, 2019, among Amgen Inc., the Banks therein named, Citibank,
N.A., as administrative agent, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as syndication agent. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on December 12,
2019 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.25 Collaboration and License Agreement between Amgen Inc. and Celltech R&D Limited dated May 10, 2002 (portions of the exhibit have
been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment) and Amendment No. 1, effective June 9, 2003, to Collaboration and
License Agreement between Amgen Inc. and Celltech R&D Limited (portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment). (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2012 on July 31, 2013 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.26 Amendment No. 2 to Collaboration and License Agreement, effective November 14, 2016, between Amgen Inc. and Celltech R&D
Limited (portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment). (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2016 on February 14, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.27 Letter Agreement, dated June 25, 2019, by and between Amgen Inc. and UCB Celltech (portions of the exhibit have been omitted
because they are both (i) not material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed). (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 on July 31, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.28 Collaboration Agreement, dated April 22, 1994, by and between Bayer Corporation (formerly Miles, Inc.) and Onyx Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011 by Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on May 10, 2011 and
incorporated herein by reference.)

10.29 Amendment to Collaboration Agreement, dated April 24, 1996, by and between Bayer Corporation and Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 by Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on May 10, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference.)

10.30 Amendment to Collaboration Agreement, dated February 1, 1999, by and between Bayer Corporation and Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 by Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on May 10, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference.)

10.31 Settlement Agreement and Release, dated October 11, 2011, by and between Bayer Corporation, Bayer AG, Bayer HealthCare LLC and
Bayer Pharma AG and Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 by Onyx
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on February 27, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.)
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10.32 Fourth Amendment to Collaboration Agreement, dated October 11, 2011, by and between Bayer Corporation and Onyx Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 by Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on February 27, 2012 and
incorporated herein by reference.)

10.33 Side Letter Regarding Collaboration Agreement, dated May 29, 2015, by and between Bayer HealthCare LLC and Onyx
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 on August 5, 2015 and incorporated herein
by reference.)

10.34 Side Letter Regarding Collaboration Agreement and Stivarga Agreement, dated February 13, 2020, by and between Onyx
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Bayer HealthCare LLC. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 on May 1,
2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.35 Sourcing and Supply Agreement, dated January 6, 2017, by and between Amgen USA Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Amgen Inc.,
and DaVita Inc. (portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment). (Filed as an exhibit to Form
10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017 on April 27, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.36 Exclusive License and Collaboration Agreement, dated August 28, 2015, by and between Amgen Inc. and Novartis Pharma AG (portions
of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment). (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2017 on July 26, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.37 Amendment No. 1 to the Exclusive License and Collaboration Agreement, dated April 21, 2017, by and between Amgen Inc. and
Novartis Pharma AG (portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment). (Filed as an exhibit to
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017 on July 26, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.38 Amendment No. 2 to the Exclusive License and Collaboration Agreement, dated April 21, 2017, by and between Amgen Inc. and
Novartis Pharma AG (portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment). (Filed as an exhibit to
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017 on July 26, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.39 Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement, dated June 2, 2021, by and between Amgen Inc. and Novartis Pharma AG (portions of
the exhibit have been omitted because they are both (i) not material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed). (Filed
as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021 on August 4, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.40 Collaboration Agreement, dated October 31, 2019, by and between Amgen Inc. and BeiGene Switzerland GmbH, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of BeiGene, Ltd. (portions of the exhibit have been omitted because they are both (i) not material and (ii) would be
competitively harmful if publicly disclosed). (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 on February 12,
2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.41 Guarantee, dated as of October 31, 2019, made by and among BeiGene, Ltd. and Amgen Inc. (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2019 on February 12, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.42 Share Purchase Agreement, dated October 31, 2019, by and between Amgen Inc. and BeiGene, Ltd. (portions of the exhibit have been
omitted because they are both (i) not material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed). (Filed as an exhibit to
Schedule 13D on January 8, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.43 Amendment No. 1 to Share Purchase Agreement, dated December 6, 2019, by and among BeiGene, Ltd. and Amgen Inc. (Filed as an
exhibit to Schedule 13D on January 8, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.44 Restated Amendment No. 2 to Share Purchase Agreement, dated September 24, 2020, by and among BeiGene, Ltd. and Amgen Inc.
(Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2020 on October 29, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.45 Collaboration Agreement dated March 30, 2012 by and between Amgen Inc. and AstraZeneca Collaboration Ventures, LLC, a wholly
owned subsidiary of AstraZeneca Pharmaceuticals LP (portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential
treatment). (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 on May 8, 2012 and incorporated herein by
reference.)

10.46 Amendment No. 1 to the Collaboration Agreement, dated October 1, 2014, by and among Amgen Inc., AstraZeneca Collaboration
Ventures, LLC and AstraZeneca Pharmaceuticals LP (portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential
treatment). (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 on February 19, 2015 and incorporated herein by
reference.)
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10.47 Amendment Nos. 2 through 6 to the March 30, 2012 Collaboration Agreement between Amgen Inc. and AstraZeneca Collaboration
Ventures, LLC, dated May 2 and 27 and October 2, 2016, January 31, 2018, and May 15, 2020, respectively (portions of the exhibit have
been omitted because they are both (i) not material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed.) (Filed as an exhibit to
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 on July 29, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.48 Amendment No. 7 to the Collaboration Agreement, dated December 18, 2020, by and between Amgen Inc. and AstraZeneca
Collaboration Ventures, LLC (portions of the exhibit have been omitted because they are both (i) not material and (ii) would be
competitively harmful if publicly disclosed.) (Filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 on February 9,
2021 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.49 License and Collaboration Agreement, dated June 1, 2021, by and between Amgen Inc. and Kyowa Kirin Co., Ltd. (portions of the
exhibit have been omitted because they are both (i) not material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed). (Filed as
an exhibit to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021 on August 4, 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.)

31* Rule 13a-14(a) Certifications.

32** Section 1350 Certifications.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - The instance document does not appear in the interactive data file because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

____________________________
(* = filed herewith)

(** = furnished herewith and not “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended)

(+ = management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement)
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SIGNATURES
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undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Amgen Inc.
(Registrant)

Date: November 2, 2021 By: /S/  PETER H. GRIFFITH
Peter H. Griffith

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

dated as of July 27, 2021

by and among

AMGEN INC.,

TUXEDO MERGER SUB, INC.,

TENEOBIO, INC.,

and

FORTIS ADVISORS LLC, as the Pre-Closing Holders’ Representative
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This Agreement and Plan of Merger (this “Agreement”), dated as of July 27, 2021, is entered into by and among Amgen Inc.,
a Delaware corporation (“Buyer”), Tuxedo Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer
(“Merger Sub”), TeneoBio, Inc., a Delaware corporation (together with its Subsidiaries, the “Company”), and Fortis Advisors LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company, solely in its capacity as the initial Stockholder Representative hereunder.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the respective Boards of Directors of Merger Sub and the Company have (a) unanimously determined that the
Merger (defined below) and entry into this Agreement are advisable and fair to, and in the best interest of their respective
stockholders, (b) unanimously approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby, including the Merger (defined below) upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement and in
accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) and (c) unanimously recommended that their respective
stockholders adopt this Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Buyer has determined that the Merger and entry into this Agreement is advisable and
fair to, and in the best interest of, its stockholders;

WHEREAS, within two (2) Business Days after the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Company shall, in
accordance with the DGCL and the California General Corporation Law (the “CGCL”), the Company Charter and the Company
Bylaws, obtain and deliver to Buyer true, correct and complete copies of irrevocable written consents in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit A (each a “Written Consent”) (i) waiving any appraisal rights under Section 262 of the DGCL and dissenters rights under
the CGCL and (ii) adopting this Agreement and approving the Merger, the Restructuring, the other Transaction Documents, and the
other transactions contemplated hereby executed by Company Stockholders holding (a) at least a majority of the issued and
outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock and (b) at least a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Series A-2 Preferred
Stock (on an as-converted basis) voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis (the “Merger Consent”);

WHEREAS, prior to the Closing Date and as a condition to the willingness of Buyer to enter into this Agreement, the
Company shall have completed the Restructuring in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the
Restructuring Step Plan; and

WHEREAS, for certain limited purposes, and subject to the terms set forth herein, the Stockholder Representative shall serve
as a representative of the Pre-Closing Holders.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective representations, warranties, covenants and
agreements set forth in this Agreement and intending to be legally bound hereby, Buyer, Merger Sub and the Company agree as
follows:



ARTICLE I.
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1    Definitions. As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“AbbVie” means AbbVie Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“Accounting Standards” means GAAP.

“Acquired Subsidiaries” has the meaning specified in Section 6.8.

“Acquisition Proposal” means, other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, any offer, proposal or inquiry
relating to, or any Person’s indication of interest in, (a) the sale, license, disposition or acquisition of a material portion of the assets
of the Company, taken as a whole; (b) the issuance, disposition or acquisition of (i) capital stock or other equity securities of the
Company representing at least ten percent (10%) of the outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock; (ii) any subscription, option,
call, warrant, preemptive right, right of first refusal or any other right (whether or not exercisable) to acquire capital stock or other
equity securities of the Company (other than the grant of Company Options to newly hired employees of the Company in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practices) representing at least ten percent (10%) of the outstanding Company
Capital Stock; or (iii) securities, instruments or obligations that are or may become convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock
or other equity securities of the Company representing at least ten percent (10%) of the outstanding Company Capital Stock; or (c)
any merger, consolidation, business combination, reorganization or similar transaction involving the Company.

“Action” means any action, claim, demand, arbitration, hearing, charge, complaint, investigation, audit, examination,
indictment, litigation, suit or other civil, criminal, administrative or investigative proceeding (whether at law or in equity, before or
by any Governmental Authority).

“Adjustment Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 3.4(c).

“Adjustment Escrow Amount” means an amount equal to ten million U.S. Dollars ($10,000,000).

“Adjustment Escrow Funds” means, at any given time after Closing, the funds remaining in one or more accounts in which
the Escrow Agent has deposited the Adjustment Escrow Amount in accordance with the Escrow Agreement, including any amount
of interest actually earned.

“Advisory Group” has the meaning specified in Section 12.2.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, any Person that, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, such specified Person,
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through one or more intermediaries or otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt, following the Closing, Affiliates of Buyer shall include
the Company and its Subsidiaries.

“Aggregate Option Exercise Price” means the aggregate exercise price of all Company Options that are vested prior to, or
become vested in connection with, the Closing.

“Agreement” has the meaning specified in the preamble hereto.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, as amended, and any other applicable Laws, rules
and regulations concerning or relating to public or commercial bribery or corruption.

“Antitrust Authority” means the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice, the United States Federal
Trade Commission or the antitrust or competition law authorities of any other jurisdiction (whether the United States, a state within
the United States, foreign or multinational).

“Antitrust Information or Document Request” means any request or demand for the production, delivery or disclosure of
documents or other evidence or information, or any request or demand for the production of witnesses for interviews or depositions
or other oral or written testimony, by any Antitrust Authority relating to the transactions contemplated hereby or by any third party
challenging the transactions contemplated hereby, including any so called “second request” for additional information or
documentary material or any civil investigative demand made or issued by the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of
Justice or the United States Federal Trade Commission or any subpoena, interrogatory or deposition by any Antitrust Authority.

“Antitrust Laws” has the meaning specified in Section 8.6(a).

“Approved Relatives” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(h).

[***]

“Assumed Tax Rate” means, with respect to any Tax year, the highest combined Tax rate applicable to corporations for U.S.
federal income and California income Tax purposes in effect for such year, taking into account the deductibility of California income
Taxes for U.S. federal income Tax purposes to the extent permitted by Law. The Assumed Tax Rate for the current Tax year is
27.9836% under present Law, computed as the corporate U.S. federal income Tax rate of 21%, plus the corporate California income
Tax rate of 8.84%, minus the product of the two rates (1.8564%).

“Bioinformatics Platform” means the Company’s proprietary antibody discovery engine comprised of (a) next-generation
sequencing of the full repertoire of the immunized UniRat, (b) bioinformatic B-cell lineage analysis of human variable domain
sequences to identify antigen specific CDR families, and (c) high-throughput gene assembly, expression and functional screens for
identifying leads.
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“BLA” means (a) a Biologics License Application as defined under the Public Health Service Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seq.)
and (b) all supplements and amendments to the foregoing.

“Board Recommendation” has the meaning specified in Section 4.3(a).

“Business” means the business of the Company other than the Excluded Businesses.

“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York is closed.

“Buyer” has the meaning specified in the preamble hereto.

“Buyer Cure Period” has the meaning specified in Section 10.1(c)(i).

“Buyer Indemnified Party” has the meaning specified in Section 11.2.

“Cancelled Shares” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(a).

“CARES Act” means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Cash” of any Person as of any date means the cash and cash equivalents required to be reflected as cash and cash
equivalents on a balance sheet of such Person and its Subsidiaries as of such date prepared in accordance with Section 3.4(a), but
excluding issued but uncleared checks, wires, transfers and drafts, and Restricted Cash.

“CERCLA” means the Federal Comprehensive, Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (42
U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.) and any foreign and state Law counterparts.

“Certificate of Merger” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(a).

“Certificates” has the meaning specified in Section 3.2(b).

“CGCL” has the meaning specified in the Recitals.

“Clinical Trial” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(b)(i).

“Closing” has the meaning specified in Section 2.3.

“Closing Date” has the meaning specified in Section 2.3.

“Closing Date Cash” has the meaning specified in Section 3.4(a).

“Closing Date Funded Debt” has the meaning specified in Section 3.4(a).

“Closing Date Net Working Capital” has the meaning specified in Section 3.4(a).
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“Closing Date Transaction Expenses” has the meaning specified in Section 3.4(a).

“Closing Merger Consideration” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(c).

“Closing Option Consideration” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(f).

“Closing Working Capital Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.

“Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Common Share” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(a).

“Common Stock” means the common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of the Company.

“Company” has the meaning specified in the preamble hereto.

“Company Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning specified in Section 4.8.

“Company Benefit Plans” means (a) each “employee benefit plan” (as such term is defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA or any
similar plan subject to laws of a jurisdiction outside of the United States), (b) each employment, consulting, advisor or other service
agreement or arrangement, (c) each noncompetition, nondisclosure, nonsolicitation, severance, termination, pension, retirement,
supplemental retirement, excess benefit, profit sharing, bonus, incentive, deferred compensation, retention, transaction, change in
control and similar plan, program, arrangement, agreement, policy or commitment, (d) each compensatory stock option, restricted
stock, performance stock, stock appreciation, deferred stock or other equity or equity-based plan, program, arrangement, agreement,
policy or commitment, (e) each savings, life, health, disability, accident, medical, dental, vision, cafeteria, insurance, flex spending,
adoption/dependent/employee assistance, tuition, vacation, paid-time-off, other welfare fringe benefit and each other employee
benefit plan, program or arrangement maintained, sponsored or contributed to by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or under
which of the Company of its Subsidiaries has any obligation or liability, whether actual or contingent, direct or indirect, to provide
compensation or benefits to or for the benefit of any of its current or former employees, consultants, managers or directors, or the
spouses, beneficiaries or other dependents thereof (other than any statutory plan, program or arrangement that is required under
applicable law, other than the laws of the United States, and maintained by any Governmental Authority).

“Company Bylaws” means the bylaws of the Company, as amended.

“Company Capital Stock” means the Common Stock and the Preferred Stock.

“Company Charter” means the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company dated August 24, 2020, as amended.

“Company Cure Period” has the meaning specified in Section 10.1(b).
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“Company Equity Plan” means the Company’s 2011 Stock Option and Grant Plan, as amended from time to time.

“Company Intellectual Property” means the Owned Intellectual Property Rights and the Licensed Intellectual Property
Rights.

“Company Option” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(f).

“Company Product” means each product candidate included in the Eligible Programs.

“Company Regulatory Filings” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.11(c).

“Company Stockholder” means those Persons who held shares of outstanding Company Capital Stock immediately prior to
the Effective Time (not inclusive of holders of Company Options).

“Confidentiality Agreement” has the meaning specified in Section 13.10.

“Constituent Corporations” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(a).

“Continuing Employees” has the meaning specified in Section 7.3(a).

“Contracts” means any loan or credit agreement, bond, debenture, note, mortgage, indenture, guarantee, security agreement,
lease or other contract, commitment, agreement, instrument, obligation, undertaking, concession, franchise, license, evidence of
indebtedness or legally binding arrangement or understanding, whether written or oral.

“COVID-19” means SARS-CoV-2 or COVID-19 and any evolutions thereof or related or associated epidemics, pandemics
or disease outbreaks.

“Deferred Payroll Taxes” means any Taxes payable by the Company or any Subsidiary that (a) relate to the portion of the
“payroll tax deferral period” (as defined in Section 2302(d) of the CARES Act) that occurs prior to the Closing and (b) are payable
following the Closing as permitted by Section 2302(a) of the CARES Act, calculated without giving effect to any tax credits
afforded under the CARES Act, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act or any similar applicable federal, state or local Law to
reduce the amount of any such Taxes payable or owed.

“Deficit Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 3.4(d).

“Determination Date” has the meaning specified in Section 3.4(b).

“DGCL” has the meaning specified in the Recitals.

“Disclosure Schedules” has the meaning specified in the first sentence of Article IV.

“Dissenting Shares” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(a).
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“Dissenting Stockholders” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(a).

“DOJ” means the United Stated Department of Justice or any subdivision or successor thereto.

“Effective Time” has the meaning specified in Section 2.3.

“Eligible Program” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(b)(ii).

“Environmental Laws” means any and all applicable foreign, federal, state or local Law relating to (a) the manufacture,
processing, use, labeling, distribution, treatment, storage, discharge, disposal, recycling, generation or transportation of Hazardous
Materials, (b) pollution of the environment, including but not limited to air (including indoor air), soil, surface, subsurface,
groundwater or noise pollution, (c) Releases or threatened Releases, (d) protection of wildlife, endangered species, wetlands or
natural resources, (e) underground storage tanks, (f) above-ground storage tanks, (g) health and safety of employees and other
persons, (h) the presence or content of Hazardous Materials in a product, item or article, whether a component or finished product,
(i) product life-cycle requirements, (j) land use and zoning requirements, and (k) notification requirements relating to the foregoing.
Without limiting the above, Environmental Law also includes the following within the U.S. and all foreign equivalents thereof: (A)
CERCLA, (B) the Solid Waste Disposal Act, (C) the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act of 1986 (42 U.S.C.
§§ I 101 et seq.), (D) the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.), (E) the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.), (F) the
Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq.), (G) the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. §§ 1801 et
seq.), (H) the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (7 U.S.C. §§ 136 et seq.), (I) the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act
(42 U.S.C. §§ 300 et seq.), (J) the Federal Radon and Indoor Air Quality Research Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 note, et seq.), (K) the
Occupational Safety and Health Act (29 U.S.C. §§ 651 et seq.) and (L) any Laws similar or analogous to (including counterparts of)
any of the statutes listed above in effect as of the Closing Date.

“Equity Interest” means, with respect to any Person, (a) any capital stock, partnership or membership interest, unit of
participation or other similar interest (however designated) in such Person and (b) any option, warrant, purchase right, conversion
right, exchange right, equity appreciation right, profits interest or phantom stock or equity right or other Contract which would
entitle any other Person to acquire any such interest in such Person.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“ERISA Affiliate” of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries any shall mean any entity (whether or not incorporated) that,
together with the Company or its Subsidiary, is required to be treated as a single employer under Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of
the Code.

“Escrow Agent” has the meaning specified in Section 3.2(d).

“Escrow Agreement” has the meaning specified in Section 8.2.
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“Escrow Amount” means an amount equal to the sum of the Adjustment Escrow Amount and the Indemnification Escrow
Amount.

“Escrow Funds” means, at any given time after Closing, the funds remaining in one or more accounts in which the Escrow
Agent has deposited the Escrow Amount in accordance with the Escrow Agreement, including any amount of interest actually
earned.

“Estimated Closing Date Cash” has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.

“Estimated Closing Date Funded Debt” has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.

“Estimated Closing Date Net Working Capital” has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.

“Estimated Closing Date Transaction Expenses” has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.

“Estimated Net Working Capital Adjustment Amount” means the amount, which may be positive or negative, equal to (a)
Estimated Closing Date Net Working Capital, minus (b) the Target Closing Date Net Working Capital.

“Exchange Agent” has the meaning specified in Section 3.2(a).

“Excluded Businesses” means the TeneoOne Business, TeneoTwo Business, TeneoFour Business, and TeneoTen Business.

“Excluded Employee Liabilities” means any employment, labor, compensation, pension, wage withholding Taxes, employer
payroll, social security and similar Taxes, employee welfare and employee benefits related Liabilities, commitments, claims and
losses to the extent arising from services provided to any Excluded Entity or an Affiliate of any such Excluded Entity or by service
providers directly employed or engaged by any Excluded Entity or an Affiliate of any such Excluded Entity (including each such
Person whose employment or service is transferred to an Excluded Entity prior to or as of the Closing and further including any
dependent or beneficiary of any such service provider) following the date such service provider’s employment or other service
relationship is transferred to such Excluded Entity or an Affiliate of any such Excluded Entity.

“Excluded Entities” means TeneoOne, TeneoTwo, TeneoFour and TeneoTen.

“Excluded Entity Licenses” has the meaning specified in Section 4.20(k).

“FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Administration.

“FDCA” means the United States Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as amended, and the regulations promulgated
thereunder.

“Final Merger Consideration” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(c).

“Financial Statements” has the meaning specified in Section 4.8.
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“First Phase I Clinical Candidate” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(a)(iii).

“Fourth Phase I Clinical Candidate” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(a)(vi).

“FTC” means the United States Federal Trade Commission or any subdivision or successor thereto.

“Fundamental Representations” means the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.1 (Corporate Organization
of the Company), Section 4.2 (Subsidiaries), Section 4.3 (Due Authorization), Section 4.4 (Vote Required), Section 4.5 (No
Conflict), Section 4.6 (Governmental Consents), Section 4.7 (Capitalization of the Company), Section 4.15 (Taxes), and Section
4.16 (Brokers’ Fees).

“Funded Debt” of any Person as of any date means, without duplication (a) all indebtedness of such Person and its
consolidated Subsidiaries for borrowed money, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon, (b) all obligations issued,
undertaken or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than trade payables entered into in the ordinary
course of business), (c) all reimbursement or payment obligations with respect to letters of credit, surety bonds and other similar
instruments (other than undrawn letters of credit and reimbursement obligations in respect of undrawn letters of credit), (d) all
obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or similar instruments, including obligations so evidenced incurred in connection
with the acquisition of property, assets or businesses, (e) all indebtedness created or arising under any conditional sale or other title
retention agreement, or incurred as financing, in either case with respect to any property or assets acquired with the proceeds of such
indebtedness (even though the rights and remedies of the seller or bank under such agreement in the event of default are limited to
repossession or sale of such property), (f) all monetary obligations under any leasing or similar arrangement, (g) any Deferred
Payroll Taxes to the extent unpaid as of the Closing, (h) any unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes, (i) all deferred revenue, (j) all indebtedness
referred to in clauses (a) through (i) above secured by (or for which the holder of such Funded Debt has an existing right, contingent
or otherwise, to be secured by) any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or other Lien upon or in any property or assets
owned by any Person, even though the Person which owns such assets or property has not assumed or become liable for the payment
of such indebtedness, (k) the aggregate amount of all prepayment premiums, penalties, breakage costs, “make whole amounts,”
costs, expenses and other payment obligations of such Person that would arise (whether or not then due and payable) if any such
items under clauses (a) through (j) above were prepaid, extinguished, unwound or settled, and (l) all contingent obligations in
respect of indebtedness or obligations of others of the kinds referred to in clauses (a) through (k) above.

“Funding Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 3.2(a).

“GAAP” means the generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, consistently applied.

“Good Clinical Practice” has the meaning specified in Section 4.11(f).
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“Good Laboratory Practice” has the meaning specified in Section 4.11(e).

“Good Manufacturing Practice” has the meaning specified in Section 4.11(g).

“Governmental Authority” means (a) any nation or government, including any foreign or domestic federal, state, provincial,
or local municipality, principality, commonwealth, province, territory, locality, county, prefect, district or other jurisdiction of any
nature or other political subdivision or instrumentality thereof; (b) any department, commission, committee, panel, bureau, agency,
authority, board, court, official or officer, self-regulatory authority, or other entity or body, domestic or foreign, exercising executive,
judicial, regulatory, administrative, enforcement, judicial, police, military, or taxing governmental functions, or (c) any quasi-
governmental, private body or arbitral body exercising any executive, legislative, judicial, quasi-judicial, regulatory, taxing,
importing, administrative or other governmental or quasi-governmental authority. For avoidance of doubt, the FDA is considered a
Governmental Authority.

“Governmental Order” means any order, judgment, ruling, injunction, decree, writ, stipulation, determination or award, in
each case, entered by or with any Governmental Authority.

“Hazardous Material” means any chemical, pollutant, contaminant, pesticide, fungicide, rodenticide, poison, petroleum or
petroleum product, radioactive substance, biological material, genetically modified organism, wastes (including solid, hazardous,
extremely hazardous, biohazardous, special, dangerous, or toxic), substance, or material controlled, regulated, listed, limited or
defined under any Environmental Law as hazardous, dangerous, or toxic (or words of similar meaning and effect), including: (a) any
by-products, derivatives, or combinations of such material, (b) lead, asbestos, asbestos-containing material, presumed asbestos-
containing material, poly-chlorinated biphenyls, solvents and waste oil, and mold or other indoor air contaminants, (c) any
“hazardous substance,” “pollutant,” “toxic pollutant” or “contaminant” as defined under Environmental Laws, (d) any “hazardous
waste” as defined under RCRA, or any Environmental Law applicable to the management of waste and (e) any other substance
which may be subject of regulatory action by any Governmental Authority in connection with any Environmental Law.

“Health Care Laws” means the laws, statutes, codes, and regulations of all Governmental Authorities relating to (i) the
research, investigation, development, quality, testing, safety, efficacy, approval, manufacturing, production, holding, preparation,
propagation, compounding, conversion, pricing, marketing, promotion, sale, distribution, import, export, coverage, or
reimbursement of a drug, device, biological or other medical item, supply or service; (ii) Good Laboratory Practices, Good Clinical
Practices, and Good Manufacturing Practices; (iii) investigational use; (iv) manufacturing facilities compliance; (v) with respect to
pharmaceutical products, safety surveillance, mandated reporting of incidents, occurrences, diseases and events record keeping and
filing of required reports with the applicable Governmental Authority; (vi) the import into, or export out of, the U.S. of drugs and
materials and technology related to pharmaceutical products; (vii) protection against biosafety risk; (viii) the oversight of
pharmaceutical or other interventional or noninterventional research studies, including medical and research record retention; and
(x) human and animal subjects protection in research,
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including, to the extent applicable, the FDCA (U.S.C. §§ 301 et seq.) and the Public Health Service Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seq.),
each as amended and the applicable regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Healthcare Community” means Healthcare Professionals, Healthcare Institutions, Members of the Scientific Community,
Payors, Purchasers, Healthcare Professional Societies and Trade Associations, Patients, and Patient Advocacy Groups. Additionally,
the capitalized terms used in the above definition are defined as follows:

(a)    “Healthcare Professional” means any person licensed to prescribe Buyer’s products, as well as anyone working for a
person licensed to prescribe Buyer’s products and/or in a position to influence a purchasing decision, including without limitation
physicians and other providers (e.g., nurses, pharmacists), dialysis providers, and other office personnel.

(b)    “Healthcare Institution” means a facility that provides health maintenance, or treats illness and injury, and can include
without limitation any hospital, convalescent hospital, dialysis center, health clinic, nursing home, extended care facility, or other
institution devoted to the care of sick, infirm, or aged persons, and is in a position to purchase or influence a purchasing decision for
any Buyer product or service.

(c)    “Members of the Scientific Community” means any scientist, researcher, professor of science and/or medicine,
educator, student, research collaborator, intern, laboratory technician, and university or college, as well as any individual employed
by such entities.

(d)    “Payor” means an organization, including without limitation its directors, officers, employees, contractors and agents,
whether private or governmental (e.g., Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Veterans Administration), that provides medical
and/or pharmacy plans for covering and reimbursing patients and/or Healthcare Professionals from medical expenses incurred,
including without limitation managed care organizations, pharmacy benefit managers, health maintenance organizations, other
healthcare coverage providers, and any similar such organization.

(e)    “Purchaser” means an individual or entity, including without limitation wholesalers, pharmacies, and group purchasing
organizations, that purchase Buyer’s products to sell to members of the Healthcare Community or that are authorized to act as a
purchasing agent for a group of individuals or entities who furnish healthcare services.

(f)    “Healthcare Industry Professional Society and Trade Association” means a nonprofit or tax exempt healthcare industry
organization seeking to further a particular profession, the interests of individuals engaged in that profession, or the public interest
(examples of such include without limitation the American Society of Hematology, the North American Society for Dialysis and
Transplantation, the American Society of Hypertension, the American Cancer Society and the American Society of Clinical
Oncology).

(g)    “Patient” means an individual awaiting or under medical care or treatment, in an area of interest for Buyer.
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(h)    “Patient Advocacy Group” means an organization that advocates for and advances the needs of patients and/or
caregivers with respect to one or more therapeutic area(s) or disease state(s).

“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder.

“IND” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(b)(iii).

“Indemnification Escrow Amount” means an amount equal to seventy million U.S. Dollars ($70,000,000).

“Indemnified Party” means the Buyer Indemnified Parties or the Pre-Closing Holder Indemnified Parties, as applicable.

“Indemnifying Party” means any Person against whom a claim for indemnification is being asserted under any provision of
Article XI.

“Independent Auditor” has the meaning specified in Section 3.4(b).

[***]

“Intellectual Property Rights” means any and all intellectual property rights throughout the world, including any and all
United States, international and/or foreign or other territorial or regional rights in, arising out of or associated with any of the
following: (a) all patents and applications therefor, including all related provisionals, continuations, continuations-in-part,
divisionals, reissues, renewals and extensions (“Patents”), (b) all inventions (whether patentable or not), invention disclosures,
improvements, know-how (including recipes, specifications, formulae, manufacturing and other processes, operating procedures,
methods, techniques and all research and development information), proprietary information, trade secrets, works of authorship and
other intellectual property, ideas, technology, processes, assays, sketches, schematics, techniques, drawings, designs, descriptions,
specifications, and technical documentation, (c) information relating to physical, chemical or biological materials and compounds
(including reagents, gene sequences, nucleic acids, amino acids, cell lines, media, antibodies, antibody fragments, compounds,
cDNAs, antisense nucleotides, proteins, peptides and vectors), their structures, compositions, and formulations, and methods for
their handling, use, and manufacture, and processes, apparatus, and models relating thereto, (d) all copyrights, copyrightable works,
copyright registrations and applications therefor, including all rights of authorship, use, publication, publicity, reproduction,
distribution, performance and transformation (“Copyrights”), (e) all industrial designs and any registrations and applications
therefor, (f) all domain names, uniform resource locators and other names and locators associated with the internet (“Domain
Names”), and all social media accounts and other handles and app registrations, (g) all trade names, logos, common law trademarks
and service marks, trademark and service mark registrations and applications therefor and all goodwill associated therewith
(“Trademarks”), (h) all databases and data collections, (i) all moral and economic rights of authors and inventors, however
denominated, (j) all rights in computer software (including
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source code, object code, firmware, algorithms, operating systems and specifications) and related technology, (k) all rights in content
(including text, graphics, images, audio, video and data) and computer software included on or used to operate and maintain any
websites, including all data, documentation, files, cgi and other scripts, all programming code (source and object), subscriber and
other data, archives, and server and traffic logs relating to such sites, (l) all rights of publicity or privacy, including with respect to
name, likeness or persona, and (m) all rights to sue or recover and retain damages and costs and attorneys’ fees for the past, present
or future infringement, dilution, misappropriation, or other violation of any of the foregoing anywhere in the world.

“Interim Financial Statements” has the meaning specified in Section 4.8.

“International Trade Laws” means all applicable import, export, reexport, and foreign trade control Laws, statutes,
regulations, enactments, directives, and ordinances of any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over any operations or activities
of a party under this Agreement then in effect.

“Investment Agreements” shall mean (i) all agreements relating to the Equity Interests of the Company and its Subsidiaries
and (ii) each of the agreements listed on Schedule 1.1(a), each as may be amended or amended and restated from time to time.

“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“IT Assets” means any and all computers, computer software, firmware, middleware, servers, workstations, routers, hubs,
switches, data communications lines, and all other information technology assets, including all associated documentation related to
any of the foregoing, owned by the Company or its Subsidiaries or licensed or leased to the Company or its Subsidiaries.

“Law” means any federal, state, territorial, foreign, international, multinational or supranational or local law, common law,
statute, ordinance, judicial decision, rule, regulation, agency requirement or other legal requirement, license, treaty, ruling,
Governmental Order or permit, directive or code of any Governmental Authority or decisions having the force of law in any
jurisdiction from time to time, including Health Care Laws.

“Leased Real Property” means all real property leased, used, or otherwise occupied by the Company.

“Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning specified in Section 3.2(b).

“Liability” means any direct or indirect liability, Loss, Tax, interest obligation, deficiency, judgement, assessment, fine, fee,
penalty, expense, Funded Debt, obligation, commitment, expense, claim, deficiency, guaranty or endorsement of or by any Person of
any type, known or unknown, and whether accrued or fixed, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, determined or
determinable, or other, including “off-balance sheet” liabilities and
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those arising under any Law, Action or judgment and those arising under any contract, agreement, arrangement, commitment or
undertaking.

“Licensed Intellectual Property Rights” means any and all Intellectual Property Rights owned by a third party and licensed or
sublicensed (or purported to be licensed or sublicensed) to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Lien” means any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, lease, adverse claim, levy, charge, hypothecation, encumbrance, security
interest or other lien or restriction of any kind whether arising by Contract or by operation of Law, or any conditional sale Contract,
title retention Contract or other Contract to grant any of the foregoing.

“Listed Contract” has the meaning specified in Section 4.12(a).

“Losses” means any and all claims, judgments, actions, causes of action, losses, Governmental Orders, Taxes, fines, amounts
paid in settlement, costs (including the costs of defense and enforcement of this Agreement), liabilities, fees, interest obligations,
deficiencies or damages (including punitive, exemplary, special, incidental or consequential damages provided that either (x) any
such punitive, exemplary, special, incidental, or consequential damages are actually awarded to a third party by a Governmental
Authority or (y) in the case of special, incidental or consequential damages only, any such special or consequential damages are
reasonably foreseeable, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and experts’ fees and expenses (whether incurred in connection with a
first-party claim or action (including a claim or action for indemnity hereunder), a Third Party Claim or otherwise), expenses.

“Majority Holders” has the meaning specified in Section 12.1.

“Material Adverse Effect” means, with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries, any event, change, circumstance, effect,
development or state of facts (whether specific to the applicable party or generally applicable to multiple parties), that has, or would,
individually or in the aggregate with other events, reasonably be expected to have or give rise to, a material adverse effect on or
material adverse change to (a) the financial condition, business, results of operations, assets or Liabilities, of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (b) the ability of the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or to perform
any of its material obligations under this Agreement; provided, however, that in no event will any of the following be deemed to
constitute a “Material Adverse Effect” on or in respect of the Company: (i) changes in general United States or global business,
industry or economic conditions, (ii) general changes in national or international political or social conditions, including the
engagement by the United States or another government in hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national
emergency or war, or the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack, (iii) changes in GAAP (or interpretations thereof),
(iv) changes in Laws (or interpretations thereof), (v) natural disasters, weather conditions, epidemics or pandemics, including the
impacts from COVID-19 and measures taken in response to COVID-19, or other force majeure events, including any material
worsening of such conditions threatened or existing as of the date of this Agreement, (vi) changes directly resulting from the
execution, announcement or pendency of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (vii) any
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action taken that Buyer has expressly consented to or requested in writing, or (viii) any failure to meet financial projections,
estimates or forecasts for any period (it being understood and agreed that the exception in this clause (viii) shall not preclude any
party from asserting that the facts giving rise to such failure should be taken into account in determining whether there has been a
Material Adverse Effect); provided, that with respect to subclauses (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v), above, such event, fact, change,
development, circumstance or effect does not have a disproportionate effect on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole,
as compared to other companies that conduct business in the industries in which the Company and its Subsidiaries conduct business.

“Material Claims” has the meaning specified in Section 11.4(e).

“Merger” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(a).

“Merger Consent” has the meaning specified in the Recitals.

“Merger Sub” has the meaning specified in the preamble hereto.

“Milestone Achievement Efforts” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(e).

“Milestone Obligor” means Buyer, its Affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation) or any licensee or sublicensee thereof.

“Milestone Payment” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(a).

“Milestone Payment Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(b)(v).

“Milestone Report” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(a).

“Milestones” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(a)(xviii).

“Net Working Capital” as of any date means an amount equal to (a) the current assets of the Company as of such date
(excluding Cash, and deferred and non-deferred Tax assets), minus (b) the current liabilities of the Company as of such date
(excluding Funded Debt and any other deferred and non-deferred Tax liabilities), in each case, as calculated in accordance with
Section 3.4(a). A sample net working capital statement calculating the Net Working Capital as of June 30, 2021 (and containing
reasonable detail regarding the Accounting Principles) is set forth on Annex E (the “Sample Working Capital Statement”).

“New Target” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(b)(vi).

“Non T-Cell Engager Platform” means the antibody engineering capability platform that generates multi-specific antibodies
that contain a tumor antigen binding region and a signal through (a) a co-stimulatory receptor such as CD137 or (b) a cytokine
receptor such as IL-2R.

“OmniClic™ Platform” means [***].
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“OmniFlic® Platform” means [***].

“Open Source Software” means any software, libraries or other code (in source or object code form) that is subject to (a) a
license or other agreement commonly referred to as an open source, free software, copyleft or community source code license
(including but not limited to any code or library licensed under the GNU Affero General Public License, GNU General Public
License, GNU Lesser General Public License, BSD License, Apache Software License, MIT License or any other public source
code license arrangement), (b) any other license or other agreement that requires, as a condition of the use, modification or
distribution of software subject to such license or agreement, that such software or other software linked with, called by, combined
or distributed with such software be (1) disclosed, distributed, made available, offered, licensed or delivered in source code form,
(2) licensed for the purpose of making modifications or derivative works, (3) licensed under terms that allow reverse engineering,
reverse assembly, decompiling or disassembly of any kind, or (4) redistributable or otherwise made available at no charge or (c) any
other license defined as an open source license by the Open Source Initiative as set forth on www.opensource.org or other “free
software” or similar licensing or distribution terms.

“Option Consideration” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(f).

“Outside Date” has the meaning specified in Section 10.1(b)(ii).

“Owned Intellectual Property Rights” means any and all Intellectual Property Rights owned or purported to be owned by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Parachute Payment Waiver” means, with respect to any Person, a written agreement waiving such Person’s right to receive
any “parachute payments” (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and the Department of Treasury regulations
promulgated thereunder) solely to the extent required to avoid the imposition of a tax by virtue of the operation of Section 280G of
the Code and to accept in substitution therefor the right to receive such payments only if approved by the shareholders of the
Company in a manner that complies with Section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Payment Spreadsheet” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(d).

“Pending Claim Reserve” has the meaning specified in Section 11.11(a).

“Permits” has the meaning specified in Section 4.18.

“Permitted Liens” means (a) mechanics, materialmen’s and similar Liens with respect to any amounts not yet due and
payable, (b) Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable or which are being contested in good faith through (if then appropriate)
appropriate proceedings and for which an adequate reserve has been established in accordance with the Accounting Standards on the
Financial Statements, (c) Liens securing rental payments under capital lease agreements, (d) other Liens arising in the ordinary
course of business and not incurred in connection with the borrowing of money and not having a material effect on the use, value or
marketability of the
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asset subject thereto, (e) Liens referred to in the Financial Statements, and (f) Liens described on Schedule 1.1(b).

“Person” means any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, incorporated or unincorporated
association, joint venture, joint stock company, governmental agency or instrumentality or other entity of any kind.

“Personal Data” means information and data concerning, related to or capable of being used to identify, contact or locate a
natural Person, device or household, including: (a) the Person’s name, street address, telephone number, email address, photograph,
payment information, social security number, driver’s license number, passport number, customer or account number, or any other
information that relates to or could be used to identify, contact or precisely locate such natural Person, devise or household, and (b)
that is “personal information,” “personal data,” “personally identifiable information” or similar term under any Law.

[***]

“Preclinical Company Milestone Candidate” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(b)(viii).

“Pre-Closing Holder Indemnified Party” has the meaning specified in Section 11.3.

“Pre-Closing Holder Released Claims” has the meaning specified in Section 13.5.

“Pre-Closing Holder Releasees” has the meaning specified in Section 13.5.

“Pre-Closing Holder Releasor” has the meaning specified in Section 13.5.

“Pre-Closing Holders” means all Persons who hold one or more Common Shares, Preferred Shares or Company Options
immediately prior to the Effective Time.

“Pre-Closing Period” has the meaning specified in Section 6.1(a).

“Pre-Closing Taxes” means, collectively, (a) any Taxes of, imposed on or imposed with respect to, the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries for any Pre-Closing Tax Period; (b) any Taxes of the Company or its Subsidiaries arising as a result of Sections 951 or
951A of the Code, in each case attributable to a Pre-Closing Tax Period or the portion of a Straddle Period ending on the Closing
Date, determined as though the Tax year of Subsidiary of the Company that is a controlled foreign corporation within the meaning of
Section 957 of the Code ended on the Closing Date and any inclusions under Section 951 or 951A of the Code with respect to such
Subsidiary were reflected in the Company’s Pre-Closing Tax Period Tax Returns; (c) any Taxes of the Pre-Closing Holders for any
Tax period; (d) any Transfer Taxes payable by the Pre-Closing Holders pursuant to Section 8.5(f); (e) any Taxes attributable to any
restructuring or reorganization undertaken by the Company and its Subsidiaries prior to the Closing, including the Restructuring; and
(f) any Taxes imposed on, allocated or attributable to or incurred or payable by third parties with respect to which the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries has an
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obligation to indemnify such third party pursuant to a transaction consummated on or prior to the Closing.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax period ending on or before the Closing Date and that portion of any Straddle Period
ending on (and including) the Closing Date.

“Pre-Closing Working Capital Statement” has the meaning specified in Section 3.3.

“Preferred Share” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(a).

“Preferred Stock” means, collectively, the Series A-1 Preferred Stock and the Series A-2 Preferred Stock.

“Privacy Laws” means any and all applicable Laws, guidelines and codes of conduct governing the privacy, collection,
processing, use, transfer, disclosure, protection, integrity and security of Personal Data, data security; data breach; data breach
notification; data protection; consumer protection; the requirements for website and mobile application privacy policies and
practices; profiling and tracking; advertising and marketing; and email, messaging and/or telemarketing, including: (a) domestic
federal and state information privacy laws, including the Federal Trade Commission Act, Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act (and other state equivalents), regulations by the Office for Human Research Protections, the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services, the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography And Marketing Act, the Telephone
Consumer Protection Act and California Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”); (b) applicable EU / UK information privacy laws,
including the General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679, the UK Data Protection the UK Data Protection Act 2018, the UK
General Data Protection Regulation as defined by the UK DPA as amended by the Data Protection, Privacy and Electronic
Communications (Amendments etc.) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019, and the Privacy and Electronic Communications Regulations
2003, and Directive 2002/58/EC concerning the processing of personal data and the protection of privacy in the electronic
communications sector (and any national legislation that implements it); and (c) applicable industry frameworks such as the
Payment Card Industry Data security Standards, in each case as applicable and in force from time to time, and as amended,
consolidated, reenacted or replaced from time to time, and all other similar international, federal, state, provincial, and local Laws,
as applicable.

“Pro Forma Payment Spreadsheet” has the meaning specified in Section 3.1(d).

“Pro-Rata Percentage” means, with respect to any Pre-Closing Holder, a ratio (expressed as a percentage) equal to (a) the
aggregate consideration payable to such holder under this Agreement, divided by (b) the total consideration, as set forth in the
Payment Spreadsheet.

“Product Data” has the meaning specified in Section 4.11(d).

“Product Platform(s)” means the TCE Platform, the Non T-Cell Engager Platform, the OmniClic™ Platform, the OmniFlic®
Platform, the UniRat™ Platform, the Bioinformatics Platform.
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“Property Taxes” means all real property Taxes, personal property Taxes and similar ad valorem Taxes.

“RCRA” means the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.), and any foreign and state law
counterparts.

[***]

“Regulated Product” has the meaning specified in Section 4.11(b).

“Regulatory Approval” means all approvals of the applicable Regulatory Authority(ies) necessary for the marketing and sale
of a pharmaceutical product in a country.

“Regulatory Authority” means any applicable Governmental Authority responsible for granting approvals for the
development, manufacture or commercialization (including Pricing Approvals) of pharmaceutical products in the relevant
jurisdiction.

“Related Person” has the meaning specified in Section 4.23.

“Release” means any spill, discharge, leak, migration, emission, escape, injection, dumping, disposal, seepage, pumping,
pouring, emptying, leaching, abandonment, or other release of any Hazardous Material from any source into the indoor or outdoor
environment, whether or not intentional, and whether or not notification or reporting to any Governmental Authority was or is
required at the time it initially occurred or continued to occur. Without limiting the above, Release includes the meaning of
“Release” as defined under CERCLA or any other Environmental Law.

“Remedies Exception” has the meaning specified in Section 4.3(b).

“Required Third Party Consents” shall mean the consents and approvals listed in Schedule 1.1(c).

“Requisite Stockholder Approval” has the meaning specified in Section 9.2(i).

“Restricted Cash” means security deposits, escrows, legal retainers, supplier cash deposits or other similar amounts.

“Restructuring Step Plan” means the transaction structure plan attached as Annex D hereto.

“Second Amended and Restated License Agreements” means (i) that certain Second Amended and Restated Asset
Assignment and License Agreement, by and between TeneoTwo and the Company, (ii) that certain Second Amended and Restated
Asset Assignment and License Agreement, by and between TeneoFour and the Company, and (iii) that certain Amended and
Restated Asset Assignment and License Agreement, by and between TeneoTen and the Company, in each case substantially in the
forms attached as Exhibit E hereto.
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“Second Phase I Clinical Candidate” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(a)(iv).

“Section 1542” has the meaning specified in Section 13.5.

“Seller Tax Contest” has the meaning specified in Section 8.5(d).

“Semi-Fundamental Representations” means the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.11 (Compliance with
Laws; FDA) and Section 4.20 (Intellectual Property).

“Series A-1 Preferred Stock” means the preferred stock of the Company, par value $0.0001 per share, designated as Series
A-1 Preferred Stock in the Company Charter.

“Series A-2 Preferred Stock” means the preferred stock of the Company, par value $0.0001 per share, designated as Series
A-2 Preferred Stock in the Company Charter.

“Shareholder TeneoOne Payment” has the meaning specified in Section 3.11.

“Shares” means, collectively, the Common Shares and the Preferred Shares.

“Stockholder Notice” has the meaning specified in Section 6.6.

“Stockholder Representative” has the meaning specified in Section 12.1.

“Stockholder Representative Expense Fund” has the meaning specified in Section 3.5.

“Stockholder Representative Expenses” has the meaning specified in Section 3.5.

“Straddle Period” means any Tax period beginning on or prior to the Closing Date and ending after the Closing Date.

“Straddle Period Tax Return” has the meaning specified in Section 8.5(b).

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to a Person, a corporation or other entity of which more than fifty percent (50%) of the
voting power of the equity securities or Equity Interests is owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person; provided that with respect
to the Company, each of the Teneo Subsidiaries shall be considered a “Subsidiary” but no Excluded Entity shall be considered a
“Subsidiary” for purposes of this Agreement (unless otherwise specified).

“Surviving Corporation” has the meaning specified in Section 2.1(b).

“Target Closing Date Net Working Capital” means negative two million five hundred thousand U.S. Dollars ($2,500,000).

“Tax Authority” means any Governmental Authority having or purporting to exercise jurisdiction with respect to any Tax.

“Tax Contest” has the meaning specified in Section 8.5(d).

20



“Tax Returns” means any return, declaration, report, statement, information statement or other document filed or required to
be filed with any Tax Authority with respect to Taxes, including any claims for refunds of Taxes and any amendments or
supplements of any of the foregoing.

“Taxes” means all federal, state, local, foreign or other taxes, including all income, gross receipts, license, payroll,
employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental, escheat, customs duties, capital stock,
ad valorem, value added, inventory, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar), unemployment, disability, real
property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, alternative or add-on minimum, or estimated taxes, and including any
interest, penalty or addition thereto, whether disputed or not.

“TeneoEight” means TeneoEight, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“TeneoFive” means TeneoFive, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“TeneoFour” means TeneoFour, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“TeneoFour Business” means the business, operations, assets and liabilities of TeneoFour as of the date hereof concerning
the development and commercialization of TNB738.

“TeneoNine” means TeneoNine, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“TeneoOne” means TeneoOne, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“TeneoOne Business” means the business, operations, assets and liabilities of TeneoOne as of the date hereof concerning the
development and commercialization of TNB383B.

“TeneoOne Proceeds” means all payments received by the Company at the closing of the TeneoOne Sale and all payments
received by the Company through the release of amounts escrowed at the closing of the TeneoOne Sale, in each case as a result of
the Company’s equity ownership of TeneoOne in connection with the TeneoOne Sale. For the avoidance of doubt, the TeneoOne
Proceeds shall not include any milestone payments received pursuant to the TeneoOne Sale.

“TeneoOne Sale” means the sale of the stock of TeneoOne to AbbVie pursuant to that Warrant to Purchase Common Stock
by and between TeneoOne and AbbVie, dated February 8, 2019.

[***]

“TeneoSeven” means TeneoSeven, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“TeneoSix” means TeneoSix, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
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“Teneo Subsidiaries” means all Subsidiaries of the Company other than the Excluded Entities.

“TeneoTen” means TeneoTen, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“TeneoTen Business” means the business, operations, assets and liabilities of TeneoTen as of the date hereof concerning the
development and commercialization of bi-specific antibodies binding to the surface antigen of Hepatitis B (HBsAg) and CD3.

“TeneoThree” means TeneoThree, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“TeneoTwo” means TeneoTwo, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“TeneoTwo Business” means the business, operations, assets and liabilities of TeneoTwo as of the date hereof concerning the
development and commercialization of TNB486.

“TCE Platform” means the T-cell engager antibody engineering capability platform that generates bi-specific antibodies that
contain [***].

“Third Party Claim” has the meaning specified in Section 11.5(b).

“Third Phase I Clinical Candidate” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(a)(v).

“TNB-585” means the PSMA x CD3 T-cell engaging bispecific antibody with the heavy and light chain amino acid
sequences as set forth on Annex A.

“TNB-585 Product” has the meaning specified in Section 3.10(b)(x).

“Transaction Documents” means the Escrow Agreement, the Second Amended and Restated License Agreements, and all
other agreements, instruments and certificates contemplated herein or therein to which any Party is a party.

“Transaction Expenses” means all fees, costs, expenses and other amounts incurred by or on behalf of the Company in
connection with this Agreement, the Merger, the Restructuring and the other transactions contemplated hereby, including (a) those of
investment bankers or other financial advisors, financial sponsors, legal counsel, accounting, consulting and other advisors, (b) those
of third parties incurred by the Company in connection with the negotiation and effectuation of the terms and conditions of this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, (c) the Company D&O Policy, and (d) transaction bonuses, retention
payments, or change of control payments payable to a service provider of the Company or its Subsidiaries solely as a result of the
consummation of the Closing, including amounts payable pursuant to any phantom unit award agreement with the Company or any
Subsidiary, and the employer portion of any employment Taxes that are incurred by the Company or its Subsidiaries in connection
with the payment of any amounts described in this subclause (d) or in connection with the payment of any amounts under this
Agreement with respect to Company Options, including, for the avoidance of doubt, Milestone Payments, but, in all cases, excluding
(i) any such payment that is payable or any amount that is accrued or credited and that would become payable (and all such
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Taxes due and payable by the Company with respect thereto) as a result of: (x) the termination of the employment or service
relationship of any officer, director, employee or consultant of the Company that occurs after the Closing, or (y) any arrangement put
in place by or at the written request of Buyer, or (ii) any such payment to the extent accrued for in the Net Working Capital as of the
Closing.

“Transfer Taxes” means any transfer, sales, use, stamp, documentary, registration, conveyance, recording, or other similar
Tax (including all applicable real estate transfer Taxes) payable as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby.

“UniRat™ Platform” means [***].

“Written Consent” has the meaning specified in the Recitals.

“Year-End Financial Statements” has the meaning specified in Section 4.8.

Section 1.2    Construction. Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires, (a) words of any gender include each other
gender; (b) words using the singular or plural number also include the plural or singular number, respectively; (c) the terms “hereof,”
“herein,” “hereby,” “hereto” and derivative or similar words refer to this entire Agreement; (d) the terms “Article,” “Section,”
“Schedule,” “Exhibit” or “Annex” refer to the specified Article or Section of, or Schedule, Exhibit or Annex to, this Agreement; (e)
the word “including” shall mean “including, without limitation,” and (f) unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires, the
word “or” shall be disjunctive but not exclusive.

(a)    Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires, references to agreements and other documents shall be
deemed to include all subsequent amendments and other modifications thereto.

(b)    Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires, references to statutes shall include all rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder.

(c)    The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen jointly by the parties to express their
mutual intent and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any party.

(d)    Whenever this Agreement refers to a number of days, such number shall refer to calendar days unless Business Days
are specified.

(e)    The phrase “to the extent” shall mean the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase shall not
mean simply “if.”

(f)    All amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement shall be paid in U.S. dollars, and all references to “$” or “dollars” shall
mean the lawful currency of the United States of America.

Section 1.3    Knowledge. As used herein, the phrase “to the knowledge” of any party shall mean the knowledge of, in the case of
the Company, the individuals listed on Schedule 1.3,
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including in each case the knowledge that such individuals would have after reasonable inquiry of such person’s direct reports, and
in the case of all other parties, such party’s executive officers.

ARTICLE II.
THE MERGER; CLOSING

Section 2.1    The Merger.

(a)    Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the applicable
provisions of the DGCL, Buyer, Merger Sub and the Company (Merger Sub and the Company sometimes being referred to herein as
the “Constituent Corporations”) shall cause Merger Sub to be merged with and into the Company effective as of the Effective Time,
with the Company being the surviving corporation (the “Merger”). The Merger shall be consummated at the Effective Time in
accordance with this Agreement and evidenced by a certificate of merger relating to the Merger in substantially the form of
Exhibit B (the “Certificate of Merger”).

(b)    Upon consummation of the Merger, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company, as the
surviving corporation of the Merger (hereinafter referred to for the periods at and after the Effective Time as the “Surviving
Corporation”), shall continue its corporate existence under the DGCL as a wholly owned Subsidiary of Buyer.

Section 2.2    Effects of the Merger. At and after the Effective Time, the effect of the Merger shall be as provided in this Agreement
and the applicable provisions of the DGCL. Without limiting the foregoing, the Surviving Corporation shall thereupon and thereafter
possess all of the rights, property, privileges, powers and franchises, of a public as well as a private nature, of the Constituent
Corporations, and shall become subject to all the restrictions, disabilities and duties of each of the Constituent Corporations.

Section 2.3    Closing; Effective Time. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the Merger (the
“Closing”) shall be conducted remotely via the electronic exchange of documents and signatures as soon as practicable on or after
the execution and delivery of this Agreement, but in any event no later than the date which is three (3) Business Days after the date
on which all conditions set forth in Article IX shall have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature are
to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions) or such other time and place as Buyer and
the Company may mutually agree in writing. The date on which the Closing actually occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the
“Closing Date.” Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of all of the conditions set forth in Article IX, and provided, that this
Agreement has not theretofore been terminated pursuant to its terms, Buyer, Merger Sub and the Company shall cause the Certificate
of Merger to be executed, acknowledged and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as provided in Section 251 of
the DGCL. The Merger shall become effective at the time when the Certificate of Merger has been duly filed with the Secretary of
State of the State of Delaware or at such later time as may be agreed by Buyer and the Company in writing and specified in the
Certificate of Merger (the “Effective Time”).
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Section 2.4    Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.

(a)    At the Effective Time, the Company Charter shall be amended as of the Effective Time to read in its entirety in the form
of the certificate of incorporation attached hereto as Exhibit C, and, as so amended, shall become the certificate of incorporation of
the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the applicable provisions of the DGCL and such certificate of
incorporation.

(b)    The parties hereto shall take all actions necessary so that the Company Bylaws shall, from and after the Effective Time,
be amended in their entirety in the form of the bylaws of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time (except
that all references to the name of Merger Sub shall be changed to refer to the name of the Company), until thereafter amended in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation and such
bylaws.

Section 2.5    Directors and Officers of the Surviving Corporation.

(a)    The directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the directors of the Surviving Corporation
immediately after the Effective Time, each to hold office in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the
Surviving Corporation until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death,
resignation or removal in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.

(b)    The officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Corporation
immediately after the Effective Time, each to hold office in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the
Surviving Corporation until their respective successors are duly appointed or until their earlier death, resignation or removal in
accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.

ARTICLE III.
EFFECTS OF THE MERGER ON THE CAPITAL STOCK AND EQUITY AWARDS

Section 3.1    Conversion of Company Shares; Treatment of Company Options.

(a)    At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of any stockholder of the
Company, Buyer or Merger Sub, each share of Company Capital Stock held by Buyer, Merger Sub or the Company in treasury or
otherwise, shall be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered or receivable in exchange
therefor (such shares, “Cancelled Shares”). At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any
Pre-Closing Holder (other than compliance with Section 3.2(b) by the applicable holder), (i) each share (a “Common Share”) of
Common Stock that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (including restricted Common Shares, but
other than (A) Cancelled Shares and (B) shares (each, a “Dissenting Share”) of Company Capital Stock held by Persons who object
to the Merger and comply with the provisions of the DGCL and CGCL concerning the rights of holders of
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Company Capital Stock to dissent from the Merger and require appraisal of their shares of Common Stock (the “Dissenting
Stockholders”), which Cancelled Shares and Dissenting Shares shall not constitute “Common Shares” hereunder) and (ii) each share
(a “Preferred Share”) of Preferred Stock that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than (A)
Cancelled Shares and (B) Dissenting Shares, which Cancelled Shares and Dissenting Shares shall not constitute “Preferred Shares”
hereunder), in each case, shall thereupon be canceled and converted into and become the right to receive the applicable portion of
the Final Merger Consideration as set forth on the Payment Spreadsheet (as defined below).

(b)    At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Buyer or Merger Sub, each share of
common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of Merger Sub shall be converted into one share of common stock, par value $0.0001
per share, of the Surviving Corporation.

(c)    Subject to the adjustments set forth in Section 3.4, the “Closing Merger Consideration” shall consist of nine hundred
million U.S. Dollars ($900,000,000) in cash, plus (i) the Estimated Net Working Capital Adjustment Amount, less (ii) the Estimated
Closing Date Funded Debt, plus (iii) the Estimated Closing Date Cash, plus (iv) the Aggregate Option Exercise Price, less (v) the
amount of the Stockholder Representative Expense Fund, less (vi) any Estimated Closing Date Transaction Expenses that remain
unpaid as of the Closing. The “Final Merger Consideration” shall consist of the Closing Merger Consideration plus (A) any
Milestone Payment Amount paid pursuant to Section 3.10 less (B) any Transaction Expenses paid as a result of any Milestone
Payments pursuant to Section 3.10, plus (C) amounts paid to the Pre-Closing Holders pursuant to Section 11.11, if any.

(d)    Not less than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall deliver to the Exchange Agent and
Buyer a spreadsheet (the “Payment Spreadsheet”), certified as true, correct and complete in all respects by an officer of the
Company, that sets forth: (i) the portion of the Closing Merger Consideration that each Pre-Closing Holder is entitled to receive; (ii)
the portion of the Closing Merger Consideration that each Pre-Closing Holder will be deemed to have deposited with the Escrow
Agent as part of the Escrow Funds; (iii) the amounts and payees of any Funded Debt, if any, outstanding as of the Effective Time;
(iv) the amounts of any Transaction Expenses that remain unpaid as of immediately prior to the Closing and the payees to whom
such amounts are owed; (v) wire instructions with respect to all amounts designated in such spreadsheet; (vi) each Pre-Closing
Holder’s Pro-Rata Percentage; (vii) the amount of the Stockholder Representative Expense Fund; (viii) the amount payable to each
PreClosing Holder for each Milestone Payment that becomes payable, if any, pursuant to Section 3.10; and (ix) the amounts of any
Transaction Expenses that become payable as a result of any Milestone Payment that is paid, if any, pursuant to Section 3.10 and the
payees to whom such amounts are owed. The Company shall provide promptly to Buyer all information and reasonable access to the
Company’s personnel, books and records as Buyer shall reasonably request in connection with its review of the Payment
Spreadsheet, including all work papers of the accountants who audited, compiled or reviewed such statement. The Company shall
revise and deliver an updated Payment Spreadsheet to the Exchange Agent and Buyer, certified as true, correct and complete in all
respects by an officer of the Company, which shall reflect changes
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thereto as have been reasonably requested by Buyer or the Exchange Agent. Annex B sets forth a pro forma Payment Spreadsheet as
if the Closing had occurred on August 31, 2021 (the “Pro Forma Payment Spreadsheet”).

(e)    From and after the Effective Time, (i) holders of Certificates shall cease to have any rights as stockholders of the
Company and (ii) the consideration paid pursuant to this Article III upon the surrender of Certificates in accordance with the terms
hereof shall be deemed to have been paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to the Shares, subject to the continuing rights of
the Pre-Closing Holders under this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement. At the Effective Time, the transfer books of the Company
shall be closed and no transfer of Shares shall be made thereafter.

(f)    Immediately prior to the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of the
Company or any other Person, each unexpired, unexercised option to purchase Common Shares (the “Company Options”) granted
pursuant to the Company Equity Plan that is vested prior to, becomes vested in connection with, the Closing, will be cancelled and,
in exchange therefor, each former holder of any such cancelled Company Option will be entitled to receive, in consideration of such
cancelled Company Option and in full settlement therefor, a payment in cash of an amount equal to the applicable portion of the
Final Merger Consideration as set forth on the Payment Spreadsheet (the aggregate consideration to be paid to holders of Company
Options at Closing, the “Closing Option Consideration,” and the aggregate consideration to be paid to holders of Company Options
pursuant to this Agreement, including Section 3.10 hereof, the “Option Consideration”). Immediately prior to the Effective Time, by
virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of the Company or any other Person, each Company Option granted
pursuant to the Company Equity Plan that is not vested prior to, and does not becomes vested in connection with, the Closing, will
be cancelled for no consideration, and each former holder of any such cancelled Company Option will have no further rights or
entitlements with respect to any such cancelled Company Option.

(g)    At or prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take, and the board of directors of the Company shall adopt any
resolutions required to approve, all actions which are necessary to (i) terminate, effective as of the Effective Time, the Company
Equity Plan in accordance with its terms, and (ii) either (x) terminate, effective as of the Effective Time, all Company Options, in
accordance with the terms of the Company Equity Plan, such that from and after the Effective Time no employee or other service
provider of the Company or any participant under the Company Equity Plan shall have any option to purchase Common Shares or
any other Equity Interest in the Company, or (y) effectuate the provisions of this Section 3.1 as it relates to Company Options. The
Company shall take all actions necessary to ensure that, from and after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation will be
required to deliver the Option Consideration to former holders of Company Options.

Section 3.2    Closing Payments and Exchange of Certificates.

(a)    At the Effective Time, Buyer shall pay or cause to be paid to Citibank, N.A., or such other agent as engaged by Buyer in
its sole discretion (the “Exchange Agent”) by wire transfer of immediately available funds, an amount (the “Funding Amount”)
equal to (i) the
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Closing Merger Consideration (determined before giving effect to the adjustments provided for in Section 3.4), minus (ii) the
product of (A) the number of Dissenting Shares and (B) the per share portion of the Closing Merger Consideration that each Pre-
Closing Holder is entitled to receive, minus (iii) the Escrow Amount, minus (iv) the Closing Option Consideration; provided, that
Buyer will promptly thereafter pay to the Exchange Agent any amounts by which the Funding Amount increases due to any
Dissenting Shares becoming Shares in accordance with Section 3.8.

(b)    After the Effective Time, each Pre-Closing Holder of an outstanding certificate or certificates for shares of Company
Capital Stock (collectively, the “Certificates”), upon surrender of such Certificates and a duly completed and validly executed letter
of transmittal in a form reasonably acceptable to Buyer (“Letter of Transmittal”) to the Exchange Agent, shall be entitled to receive
from the Exchange Agent in exchange therefor (subject to the provisions of Section 3.4) such portion of the Final Merger
Consideration into which such holder’s Shares shall have been converted as a result of the Merger; provided, however, that a portion
of the Closing Merger Consideration equal to the Escrow Amount otherwise payable to each Pre-Closing Holder, in the amounts set
forth on the Payment Spreadsheet, shall be held in escrow in accordance with the Escrow Agreement. Pending such surrender and
exchange of a Pre-Closing Holder’s Certificate(s) a holder’s Certificate(s) shall be deemed for all purposes to evidence such holder’s
right to receive the portion of the Final Merger Consideration into which such Shares shall have been converted as a result of the
Merger.

(c)    As soon as reasonably practicable following the Effective Time, but in no event later than one (1) Business Day after
the Effective Time, Buyer shall deliver to the Surviving Corporation the Closing Option Consideration less the aggregate amount set
forth on the Payment Spreadsheet that each holder of Company Options will be deemed to have deposited with the Escrow Agent as
part of the Escrow Funds, and on or within ten (10) days following the Closing Date the Surviving Corporation shall pay to each
former holder of Company Options through its payroll system (and subject to applicable Tax withholding) the Closing Option
Consideration, if any, to be paid to such former holder of Company Options pursuant to Section 3.1(f) hereof and as set forth on the
Payment Spreadsheet. No interest will be paid or accrued upon any Option Consideration.

(d)    At the Effective Time, Buyer (i) shall pay a portion of the Closing Merger Consideration equal to the Escrow Amount
to Citibank, N.A., as escrow agent of the parties hereto (the “Escrow Agent”), to be held in escrow in accordance with the terms of
the Escrow Agreement.

Section 3.3    Estimated Net Working Capital Adjustment Amount; Estimated Closing Date Funded Debt; Estimated Closing Date
Cash; Estimated Closing Date Transaction Expenses. Not less than four (4) Business Days prior to the Closing Date and in no event
more than ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall deliver to Buyer a written statement (the “Pre-
Closing Working Capital Statement”) setting forth (a) its good faith estimate as of immediately prior to the Effective Time of (i)
Closing Date Net Working Capital (“Estimated Closing Date Net Working Capital”), (ii) Closing Date Funded Debt (“Estimated
Closing Date
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Funded Debt”), (iii) Closing Date Cash (“Estimated Closing Date Cash”) and (iv) Closing Date Transaction Expenses (“Estimated
Closing Date Transaction Expenses”), and (b) the Company’s calculation of the Estimated Net Working Capital Adjustment Amount
and Closing Merger Consideration. The Company shall prepare the Pre-Closing Working Capital Statement using the same
accounting principles, procedures and policies, with consistent classifications, inclusions, exclusions and valuation and estimation
methodologies that were employed in the preparation of the Sample Working Capital Statement (the “Accounting Principles”). The
Company shall give Buyer a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on the Pre-Closing Working Capital Statement.

Section 3.4    Adjustment Amount.

(a)    On or before the ninetieth (90th) day following the Closing Date, Buyer may prepare and deliver to the Stockholder
Representative (i) a calculation of Net Working Capital (“Closing Date Net Working Capital”), (ii) a calculation of the aggregate
amount of all Funded Debt of the Company (“Closing Date Funded Debt”), (iii) a calculation of Cash of the Company (“Closing
Date Cash”) and (iv) a calculation of Transaction Expenses of the Company (“Closing Date Transaction Expenses”), in each case,
calculated as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (the “Closing Working Capital Statement”). In the event that the Buyer does
not provide the foregoing within such ninety (90)-day period, the Buyer shall be deemed to have agreed to the Closing Working
Capital Statement and the calculations of Closing Date Net Working Capital, Closing Date Funded Debt, Closing Date Cash and
Closing Date Transaction Expenses delivered by the Company, which shall be final, binding and conclusive for all purposes
hereunder.

(b)    If the Stockholder Representative shall disagree with such calculations of Closing Date Net Working Capital, Closing
Date Cash, Closing Date Funded Debt, or Closing Date Transaction Expenses, it shall notify Buyer of such disagreement in writing,
setting forth in reasonable detail the particulars of such disagreement, within thirty (30) days after its receipt of the Closing Working
Capital Statement. In the event that the Stockholder Representative does not provide a notice of disagreement within such thirty
(30)-day period, the Stockholder Representative and Buyer shall be deemed to have agreed to the Closing Working Capital
Statement and the calculations of Closing Date Net Working Capital, Closing Date Funded Debt, Closing Date Cash and Closing
Date Transaction Expenses delivered by Buyer, which shall be final, binding and conclusive for all purposes hereunder. In the event
any notice of disagreement is timely provided, Buyer and the Stockholder Representative shall use reasonable best efforts for a
period of fifteen (15) days (or such longer period as they may mutually agree) to resolve any disagreements with respect to the
calculations of Closing Date Net Working Capital, Closing Date Funded Debt, Closing Date Cash or Closing Date Transaction
Expenses. If, at the end of such period, they are unable to resolve such disagreements, then any such remaining disagreements shall
be resolved by KPMG LLP or such other independent accounting or financial consulting firm of recognized national standing as
may be mutually selected by Buyer and the Stockholder Representative (such firm, the “Independent Auditor”). Each of Buyer and
the Stockholder Representative shall promptly provide their respective assertions regarding Closing Date Net Working Capital,
Closing Date Funded Debt, Closing Date Cash and Closing
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Date Transaction Expenses in writing to the Independent Auditor and to each other. The Independent Auditor shall be instructed to
render its determination with respect to such disagreements as soon as reasonably possible (which the parties hereto agree should not
be later than thirty (30) days following the day on which the disagreement is referred to the Independent Auditor). The Independent
Auditor shall base its determination solely on (i) the written submissions of the parties and shall not conduct an independent
investigation and (ii) the extent (if any) to which Closing Date Net Working Capital, Closing Date Funded Debt, Closing Date Cash
or Closing Date Transaction Expenses require adjustment (only with respect to the remaining disagreements submitted to the
Independent Auditor) in order to be determined in accordance with Section 3.4(a) (including the definitions of the defined terms
used in Section 3.4(a)). In resolving any disputed item, the Independent Auditor may not assign a value to any item greater than the
greatest value for such item claimed by either party or less than the smallest value for such item claimed by either party. The
determination of the Independent Auditor shall be final, conclusive and binding on the parties. The date on which Closing Date Net
Working Capital, Closing Date Funded Debt, Closing Date Cash and Closing Date Transaction Expenses are finally determined in
accordance with this Section 3.4(b) is hereinafter referred to as the “Determination Date.” All fees and expenses of the Independent
Auditor relating to the work, if any, to be performed by the Independent Auditor hereunder shall be borne pro rata as between Buyer,
on the one hand, and the Stockholder Representative as a Stockholder Representative Expense, on the other hand, in proportion to
the allocation of the dollar value of the amounts in dispute as between Buyer and the Stockholder Representative (set forth in the
written submissions to the Independent Auditor) made by the Independent Auditor such that the party prevailing on the greater
dollar value of such disputes pays the lesser proportion of the fees and expenses. For example, if the Stockholder Representative
challenges items underlying the calculations of Closing Date Net Working Capital, Closing Date Funded Debt, Closing Date Cash
and Closing Date Transaction Expenses in the net amount of one million U.S. Dollars ($1,000,000), and the Independent Auditor
determines that Buyer has a valid claim for four hundred thousand U.S. Dollars ($400,000) of the one million U.S. Dollars
($1,000,000), Buyer shall bear sixty percent (60%) of the fees and expenses of the Independent Auditor and the Stockholder
Representative shall bear the remaining forty percent (40%) of the fees and expenses of the Independent Auditor as a Stockholder
Representative Expense.

(c)    The “Adjustment Amount,” which may be positive or negative, shall mean (i) Closing Date Net Working Capital (as
finally determined in accordance with Section 3.4(b)), minus Estimated Closing Date Net Working Capital, plus (ii) Estimated
Closing Date Funded Debt, minus Closing Date Funded Debt (as finally determined in accordance with Section 3.4(b)), plus (iii)
Closing Date Cash (as finally determined in accordance with Section 3.4(b)), minus Estimated Closing Date Cash plus (iv)
Estimated Closing Date Transaction Expenses, minus Closing Date Transaction Expenses (as finally determined in accordance with
Section 3.4(b)). The Adjustment Amount shall be paid in accordance with Section 3.4(b).

(d)    If (i) the Adjustment Amount is a positive number, then, within five (5) Business Days of the Determination Date,
Buyer shall pay to the Exchange Agent for distribution to each Pre-Closing Holder (provided, that amounts payable in respect of
Company Options shall be paid to the Surviving Corporation for payment through its payroll system) an amount in cash equal to
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(A) such holder’s Pro-Rata Percentage, multiplied by (B) the Adjustment Amount, less any applicable withholding, and (ii) the
Adjustment Amount is a negative number (the absolute value of such amount, the “Deficit Amount”), then within five (5) Business
Days of the Determination Date, the Escrow Agent shall pay, from the Adjustment Escrow Funds, to Buyer an amount equal to the
Deficit Amount; provided, that if the Adjustment Amount as finally determined pursuant to Section 3.4(b) and Section 3.4(c) is less
than the Adjustment Escrow Funds, each of Buyer and the Stockholder Representative shall execute joint written instructions to the
Escrow Agent instructing the Escrow Agent to disburse any such excess amount to the Exchange Agent to be paid to the Pre-Closing
Holders as Final Merger Consideration in accordance with each Pre-Closing Holder’s Pro-Rata Percentage. Upon determination of
the Adjustment Amount pursuant to Section 3.4(b) and Section 3.4(c), each of Buyer and the Stockholder Representative shall
execute joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent instructing the Escrow Agent to disburse the Adjustment Escrow Funds in
accordance with this Section 3.4(d).

(e)    Any payments made to any party pursuant to Section 3.4 shall constitute an adjustment of the Closing Merger
Consideration for Tax purposes and shall be treated as such by Buyer and the Company on their Tax Returns to the greatest extent
permitted by Law.

Section 3.5    Stockholder Representative Expense Fund. On the Closing Date, Buyer shall pay an amount equal to three million U.S.
dollars ($3,000,000) (the “Stockholder Representative Expense Fund”) by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account
designated by the Stockholder Representative, to be used: (i) for the purpose of paying the fees, losses, claims, damages, liabilities,
costs, judgments, fines or amounts paid in settlement and expenses (including fees, disbursements and costs of counsel and other
skilled professionals and in connection with seeking recovery from insurers) incurred, or that may in the future be incurred, by the
Stockholder Representative on behalf of the Company and the PreClosing Holders in connection with the execution of this
Agreement, the Escrow Agreement, the Stockholder Representative Engagement Agreement or the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby or otherwise in its capacity as the Stockholder Representative (the “Stockholder Representative
Expenses”), or (ii) as otherwise determined by the Advisory Group. The Stockholder Representative is not providing any investment
supervision, recommendations or advice and shall have no responsibility or liability for any loss of principal of the Stockholder
Representative Expense Fund other than as a result of its gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Stockholder Representative is
not acting as a withholding agent or in any similar capacity in connection with the Stockholder Representative Expense Fund and
has no tax reporting or income distribution obligations. The Pre-Closing Holders will not receive any interest on the Stockholder
Representative Expense Fund and assign to the Stockholder Representative any such interest. Subject to Advisory Group approval,
the Stockholder Representative may contribute funds to the Stockholder Representative Expense Fund from any consideration
otherwise distributable to the Pre-Closing Holders. For U.S. federal income and other applicable Tax purposes, the Stockholder
Representative Expense Fund shall be treated as having been received by the Pre-Closing Holders and voluntarily set aside at the
time of the Closing.

Section 3.6    Exchange Agent.
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(a)    With respect to each payment to be paid by Buyer to the Pre-Closing Holders hereunder, promptly following the date
that is six (6) months following the date that such payment is made by Buyer to the Exchange Agent, Buyer shall instruct the
Exchange Agent to deliver to Buyer all cash, Certificates and other documents in its possession relating to such payments, and the
Exchange Agent’s duties shall terminate with respect thereto. Thereafter, each Pre-Closing Holder of a Certificate (other than
Certificates representing Dissenting Shares) may surrender such Certificate to Buyer and (subject to applicable abandoned property,
escheat and similar Laws) receive in consideration therefor, and Buyer shall promptly pay, the portion of the Final Merger
Consideration deliverable in respect thereof as determined in accordance with this Article III without any interest thereon.

(b)    The Company and the Stockholder Representative acknowledge and agree that (i) upon payment by Buyer to the
Exchange Agent of any amounts required to be paid hereunder to the Exchange Agent for the benefit of the Pre-Closing Holders,
Buyer shall have fully satisfied and discharged its obligations to make any such payments hereunder and Buyer, the Surviving
Corporation and their respective Affiliates shall have no further liability with respect to such payments, regardless of the manner or
timeliness of any subsequent distributions to the Pre-Closing Holders, and (ii) the Company prior to Closing and the Stockholder
Representative after Closing shall have full responsibility for allocating any payments required to be paid by Buyer hereunder
amongst the Pre-Closing Holders and Buyer and its Affiliates will be indemnified hereunder for any Losses related to any
inaccuracy in such allocation.

Section 3.7    Lost Certificate. In the event any Certificate has been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that
fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed, the Exchange Agent shall issue in exchange for such lost,
stolen or destroyed Certificate the Final Merger Consideration deliverable in respect thereof as determined in accordance with this
Article III; provided, however, that Buyer may, in its sole discretion, or as required by the Exchange Agent, and as a condition
precedent to the issuance thereof, require the Person who is the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed certificates to provide an
indemnification agreement in a form and substance acceptable to Buyer, against any claim that may be made against Buyer or the
Exchange Agent with respect to the certificates alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed.

Section 3.8    Dissenting Shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article III, the Dissenting Shares shall not be
converted into a right to receive any portion of the Final Merger Consideration and the holders thereof shall be entitled to such rights
as are granted by Section 262 of the DGCL. Each holder of Dissenting Shares who becomes entitled to payment for such shares
pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL or the CGCL, as applicable, shall receive payment therefor from the Surviving Corporation in
accordance with the DGCL or CGCL, as applicable; provided, however, that (i) if any such holder of Dissenting Shares shall have
failed to establish such holder’s entitlement to appraisal or dissenters’ rights as provided in Section 262 of the DGCL or the CGCL,
or (ii) if any such holder of Dissenting Shares shall have effectively withdrawn such holder’s demand for appraisal of such shares or
lost such holder’s right to appraisal and payment for such holder’s shares under Section 262 of the DGCL or the CGCL, such holder
shall forfeit the right to appraisal of such shares and each such share shall not
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constitute a Dissenting Share and shall be treated as if it had been a Common Share or Preferred Share, as applicable, immediately
prior to the Effective Time and converted, as of the Effective Time, into a right to receive from the Surviving Corporation the
portion of the Final Merger Consideration deliverable in respect thereof as determined in accordance with this Article III, without
any interest thereon (and such holder shall be treated as a Pre-Closing Holder). The Company will give Buyer prompt notice of all
notices received by the Company pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL or the CGCL and the opportunity to participate in all
negotiations and proceedings with respect to such demands. Without the prior written consent of Buyer, the Company shall not
voluntarily make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any such demand for payment. From and after the Effective
Time, no stockholder who has properly exercised and perfected appraisal or dissenters’ rights pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL
or the CGCL shall be entitled to vote his or her Shares for any purpose or receive payment of dividends or other distributions with
respect to his or her Shares (except dividends and distributions payable to stockholders of record at a date which is prior to the
Effective Time). Any communication to be made by the Company to any stockholder with respect to Dissenting Shares shall be
submitted to Buyer in advance and shall not be presented to any stockholder prior to the Company receiving Buyer’s prior written
consent.

Section 3.9    Withholding. Buyer, the Company, the Surviving Corporation, the Stockholder Representative, the Exchange Agent
and the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable or deliverable in connection
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, to any Person such amounts that Buyer, the Company, the Stockholder
Representative, the Exchange Agent and the Escrow Agent are required to deduct and withhold with respect to any such deliveries
and payments under the Code or any provision of state, local, provincial or foreign Law. Any party otherwise proposing to withhold
from a payment to be made pursuant to this Agreement shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide at least ten (10) days’
advance written notice to the party on behalf of which such withholding is to be made, and shall cooperate with any reasonable
request by such party to reduce or eliminate the obligation to withhold. To the extent that amounts are withheld, and duly and timely
deposited with the appropriate Governmental Authority, by Buyer, the Company, the Surviving Corporation, the Stockholder
Representative, the Exchange Agent or the Escrow Agent, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement
as having been paid to the person in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made.

Section 3.10    Milestone Payments.

(a)    Additional payments in cash (each, a “Milestone Payment”) shall be made by Buyer to the Exchange Agent for
distribution as set forth on the Payment Spreadsheet pursuant to this Section 3.10 upon the achievement of the milestones set forth
below: [***]

Until the earlier of (i) [***] after the Closing Date and (ii) the payment of all Milestone Payments payable under this
Agreement, within thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar year, Buyer shall submit to the Shareholder Representative a
written report (each, a “Milestone Report”) certified as accurate by an officer in Buyer’s research and development function
describing with respect to each Milestone above, the progress that has been made towards
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achieving such Milestone, which Milestone Report shall be reasonably detailed to enable the Shareholder Representative to
determine on a Milestone-by-Milestone basis, the progress that has been achieved; provided, however, that the first Milestone
Report hereunder shall be due on January 31, 2023. At the request of Shareholder Representative, Buyer shall make available to the
Shareholder Representative or its designee an individual to answer commercially reasonable questions that the Shareholder
Representative may have based on a review of the Milestone Report. All reports, materials and information, including each
Milestone Report, provided to the Shareholder Representative under this Section 3.10 shall be subject to a reasonable and customary
confidentiality agreement between Buyer and the Shareholder Representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, each of the Milestone Payments shall be payable only once upon the first achievement of the
corresponding Milestone, no amounts shall be due for subsequent or repeated achievement of any such Milestone and no more than
one Milestone Payment under clauses (iii)-(vi) and (vii)-(x) of this Section 3.10, respectively, shall be paid for each Preclinical
Company Milestone Candidate. In accordance with the foregoing, the maximum total Milestone Payments payable by Buyer shall
not exceed one billion six hundred million U.S. Dollars ($1,600,000,000). Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Buyer
may only reduce the Milestone Payments pursuant to Section 11.8 and by the amount of any Transaction Expenses not previously
deducted from amounts otherwise paid hereunder or any Transaction Expenses arising as a result of such Milestone Payment, as
applicable.

(b)    Certain Definitions.

(i)    “Clinical Trial” means, a research study in which a drug is administered or dispensed to, or used involving,
human subjects, as described in 21 C.F.R. 312.3(b).

(ii)    [***].

(iii)    “IND” means (a) an Investigational New Drug Application as defined in the FDCA and described in 21 C.F.R.
Part 312 and (b) all supplements and amendments thereto.

(iv)    [***].

(v)    “Milestone Payment Amount” means, with respect to each Milestone identified in Section 3.10(a) the amount
that becomes payable in accordance with Section 3.10(a) upon the achievement of such Milestone.

(vi)    [***].

(vii)    [***].

(viii)    “Preclinical Company Milestone Candidate” means a product candidate in an Eligible Program.

(ix)    [***].
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(x)    “TNB-585 Product” means any product (in any dosage, form, formulation, presentation or package
configuration) that contains TNB-585.

(c)    Determining Achievement of Milestones. Within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of a Milestone, Buyer shall
provide notice to the Stockholder Representative that such Milestone has occurred.

(d)    Milestone Payment Procedures. Within forty-five (45) days following delivery by Buyer of written notice that a
Milestone has been achieved, Buyer shall pay, subject to Section 11.8, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, to the
Exchange Agent for the benefit of and to be distributed to the Pre-Closing Holders, the applicable amount to be paid out as set forth
on the Payment Spreadsheet; provided, however, that the amount set forth on the Payment Spreadsheet for delivery to the former
holders of Company Options shall be paid to the Surviving Corporation for distribution through the Surviving Corporation’s payroll
system.

(e)    Milestone Achievement Efforts. Following the Effective Time, until the tenth (10 ) anniversary of the Closing Date,
Buyer shall use Milestone Achievement Efforts to cause each of the Milestones to be achieved as promptly as reasonably practicable
following the Closing. “Milestone Achievement Efforts” means, with respect to the efforts and resources to be expended, or
considerations to be undertaken, by Buyer with respect to any material objective, activity or decision to be undertaken with respect
to the achievement of the Milestones, reasonable efforts and resources to accomplish such objective, activity or decision that would
be comparable with the efforts and prioritized resources as a similarly situated company in the biotechnology industry with resources
and capabilities similarly adequate for the appropriate performance and completion of the applicable activities (a “Capable Biotech
Company”) would normally use in the exercise of its reasonable business discretion to accomplish a similar objective, activity or
decision; it being understood and agreed that with respect to the development and commercialization of a product, such efforts and
resources shall be consistent with those efforts and resources commonly used by a Capable Biotech Company under similar
circumstances with respect to a compound or product owned by it, or to which it has similar rights, which compound or product is at
a similar stage in its development, commercialization or product life, is in a similar therapeutic and disease area and is of similar
market potential, taking into account all scientific, commercial, and other factors that a Capable Biotech Company would reasonably
be expected to take into account, including issues of safety and efficacy, expected and actual cost and time to develop, expected and
actual profitability (including any payments required hereunder), expected and actual competitiveness of alternative products
(including generic or biosimilar products) in development or in the marketplace, the nature and extent of expected and actual market
exclusivity (including patent coverage and regulatory exclusivity), the expected likelihood of regulatory approval, the expected and
actual reimbursability and pricing, and the expected and actual amounts of marketing and promotional expenditures required.

(f)    Termination of Milestone Obligations. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 3.10 or any other provision
of this Agreement, Buyer’s obligations under this Section 3.10 with respect to any Milestone (including the obligation to make
Milestone
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Payments) shall terminate and be of no further force and effect if such Milestone has not been achieved by the tenth (10 )
anniversary of the Closing Date.

(g)    Sole Agreements with Respect to Milestones. The covenants and agreements contained in this Section 3.10 are the only
agreements or commitments with respect to the Milestones made by Buyer or its Affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation),
and except as expressly set forth in this Section 3.10, such development after the Effective Time shall be in Buyer’s sole discretion.
The Company acknowledges it has not relied on any statements or information from Buyer other than the representations and
warranties of Buyer set forth in this Agreement. The Company hereby waives, disclaims and forever relinquishes any right to any
claim in respect of a Milestone Payment based on any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement other than those expressly set
forth in this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, any right of a Pre-Closing Holder to receive any portion of the Milestone
Payments (i) does not represent any equity or ownership interest in the Surviving Corporation or Buyer, and (ii) does not confer
upon the Pre-Closing Holders any rights common to stockholders of the Surviving Corporation or Buyer, including any voting or
dividend rights.

(h)    Non-Transferrable. The right to receive Milestone Payments is non-transferrable other than (i) on death by will or
intestacy, (ii) pursuant to a court order, (iii) by operation of Law (including a consolidation or merger), (iv) to or for the benefit of
any spouse, children, parents, uncles, aunts, siblings, grandchildren of such Pre-Closing Holder, or any of their issue (collectively,
“Approved Relatives”) or to a trust established solely for the benefit of such Pre-Closing Holder or such Pre-Closing Holder’s
Approved Relatives, or (v) without consideration in connection with the dissolution, liquidation or termination of any corporation,
limited liability company, partnership or other entity.

Section 3.11    [***].

Section 3.12    Tax Treatment. If and to the extent a Milestone Payment [***] is made to the Pre-Closing Holders, such payment
shall be treated as additional consideration in the Merger and as adjustments to the Final Merger Consideration and the Option
Consideration for Tax purposes, and interest will be imputed on such amount if and to the extent required by Sections 483 or 1274 of
the Code. Absent a determination within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code, for all applicable Tax purposes, no party
hereto shall take any action or filing position inconsistent with the foregoing treatment.

ARTICLE IV.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as set forth in the schedules to this Agreement (each, a “Schedule” and, collectively, the “Disclosure Schedules”), the
Company represents and warrants to Buyer and Merger Sub as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though
made on the Closing Date, as follows (it being understood that each representation and warranty that calls for disclosure as
contained in this Article IV is subject to (a) the exceptions and disclosures set forth in the section or subsection of the Disclosure
Schedules corresponding to the particular section or subsection in this Article IV in which such representation and warranty appears;
and (b) any
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exceptions or disclosures disclosed in any other section or subsection of the Disclosure Schedules to the extent that it is reasonably
apparent, upon reading such disclosure, that the disclosure is responsive to such other section or subsection of this Article IV and
such representation and warranty calls for disclosure):

Section 4.1    Corporate Organization of the Company. The Company has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a
corporation in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware and has all requisite entity power and authority to own,
license, lease and operate, as applicable, its assets and properties as they have been and are now being owned, licensed, leased and
operated and to carry on its respective business as it has been and is now or presently proposed to be conducted. The copies of the
Company Charter and the Company Bylaws made available by the Company to Buyer or its representatives are true and complete
and in full force and effect. The Company is not in violation of any of the provisions of its organizational and governing documents,
including but not limited to the Company Charter and the Company Bylaws. The Company is duly licensed or qualified to do
business and (where applicable) is in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction in which the ownership of its
property or the character of its activities is such as to require it to be so licensed or qualified or in good standing, as applicable,
except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified or in good standing would not reasonably be expected to be material to the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Schedule 4.1 sets forth the names and titles of the directors and officers of the Company.

Section 4.2    Subsidiaries.

(a)    Each Subsidiary of the Company is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its
jurisdiction of incorporation or organization and has all requisite entity power and authority to own, license, lease and operate, as
applicable, its respective assets and properties as they have been and are now being owned, licensed, leased and operated and to
carry on its respective business as it has been and is now or presently proposed to be conducted. Each Subsidiary of the Company is
duly licensed or qualified to do business and (where applicable) is in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction in
which the ownership of its property or the character of its activities is such as to require it to be so licensed or qualified or in good
standing, as applicable, except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified or in good standing would not reasonably be expected
to be material to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Schedule 4.2(a)(i) sets forth the name and jurisdiction of incorporation or
organization of each Subsidiary of the Company and each jurisdiction in which each such Subsidiary of the Company is qualified,
registered or licensed to do business. The Company has provided to Buyer true and complete copies of the applicable organizational
and governing documents of each Subsidiary of the Company, in each case as in effect. No Subsidiary of the Company is in
violation of any of the provisions of its respective organizational and governing documents. Schedule 4.2(a)(ii) sets forth the names
and titles of the directors and officers, as applicable, of each Subsidiary of the Company.

(b)    Schedule 4.2(b) sets forth the authorized, issued and outstanding Equity Interests of each Subsidiary of the Company
and the record ownership thereof, including with respect to stock options, the granting entity, number of shares underlying the stock
option, the type
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(incentive or nonqualified), vesting schedule, expiration date, exercise price and jurisdiction. Except as listed on Schedule 4.2(b),
neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company (i) owns, directly or indirectly, any equity, economic, voting or
management interest in any other Person or any share capital, debt instruments, voting securities or other interests exercisable or
exchangeable for, or convertible into, any of the foregoing or (ii) is party to any partnership or joint venture agreement. No
Subsidiary of the Company has any obligation or liability regarding the making of any investment (in the form of a loan, capital
contribution or otherwise) in any other Person. All of the outstanding Equity Interests of each Subsidiary of the Company are duly
authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, are owned free and clear of all Liens, and are not subject to, and were not
issued in breach or violation of, any provision of applicable Laws, the organizational and governing documents of such Subsidiary,
any Contract to which any Subsidiary of the Company is a party or is otherwise bound or any purchase option, call option, right of
first refusal, preemptive right, subscription right or similar right. With respect to any stock option, (i) each grant of an option was
duly authorized no later than the date on which the grant of such option was by its terms to be effective on the date the option was
granted by all necessary corporate action, (ii) each option has an exercise price equal to no less than the fair market value of the
underlying shares of common stock on the applicable grant date as determined by the granting entity’s board of directors in good
faith and (iii) no option provides for any feature for the deferral of compensation other than the deferral of recognition of income
until the later of exercise or disposition of such option, in each case, as determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code.

Section 4.3    Due Authorization.

(a)    The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and, subject to the receipt of
the Merger Consent, to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby. The Merger Consent is sufficient
for the holders of the Company Capital Stock to adopt this Agreement, and no other corporate proceedings are necessary to
authorize this Agreement or to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby (other than the filing and
recordation of the Certificate of Merger and such other documents as required in accordance with the provisions of the DGCL). The
board of directors of the Company has unanimously (i) declared that the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this
Agreement are advisable, fair to and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders, (ii) approved this Agreement in
accordance with the provisions of the DGCL and the CGCL, (iii) directed that this Agreement and the Merger be submitted to the
stockholders of the Company for their adoption and approval by written consent and (iv) resolved to recommend that the
stockholders of the Company vote in favor of the adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the Merger (the “Board
Recommendation”).

(b)    This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming that this Agreement constitutes a
valid and binding obligation of the other parties hereto, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Company,
enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, moratorium or other similar applicable Law affecting or relating to
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creditors’ rights generally and general principles of equity, regardless of whether asserted in a proceeding in equity or at law
(collectively, the “Remedies Exception”).

(c)    Assuming (x) the making of all filings and notifications as may be required or advisable in connection with the
Transactions under the HSR Act and any other applicable Law designed to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or
effect of substantially lessening competition, monopolization or restraint of trade (collectively, the “Antitrust Laws”) and
authorization, clearance, consent, approval or expiration or early termination of the applicable waiting period under the Antitrust
Laws and (y) receipt of the Merger Consent, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company does not constitute, and
the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby will not result in, a termination, cancellation,
acceleration or breach or violation by the Company of, or a default by the Company under (with or without notice or lapse of time,
or both), (i) any provision of the Company Charter and the Company Bylaws, (ii) any Contract or (iii) any applicable Law to the
Company or any of its assets, except in the case of clause (ii) where such termination, cancellation, acceleration, breach or violation
would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company.

Section 4.4    Vote Required. The votes comprising the Merger Consent are the only votes, including of any class or series of
Company Capital Stock required under the DGCL and the CGCL, to approve this Agreement and the transactions contemplated
hereby, including the Merger. Prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Company has prepared and distributed
Written Consents to Company Stockholders holding at least the number and class of shares sufficient to provide the Merger Consent.

Section 4.5    No Conflict. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of
the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not, as of the Closing, (a) violate any provision of, or result in the breach of,
any applicable Law to which the Company or its Subsidiaries is subject or by which any property or asset of the Company or its
Subsidiaries is bound, (b) conflict with the Company Charter and the Company Bylaws, (c) violate any provision of or result in a
breach of, or require a consent under, any Contract listed on Schedule 4.12, or terminate or result in the termination of any such
Contract, or result in the creation of any Lien under any such Contract upon any of the properties or assets of the Company or its
Subsidiaries, or constitute an event which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would result in any such violation, breach,
termination or creation of a Lien or (d) result in a violation or revocation of any required license, permit or approval from any
Governmental Authority, except to the extent that the occurrence of any item set forth in clause (c) would not reasonably be
expected to be material to the Company, taken as a whole.

Section 4.6    Governmental Consents. No consent, approval or authorization of, or designation, declaration or filing with, any
Governmental Authority is required on the part of the Company or its Subsidiaries with respect to the Company’s execution or
delivery of this Agreement or the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby, except for (a) applicable
requirements of the HSR Act or any similar, applicable foreign Law, (b) as otherwise
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disclosed on Schedule 4.6 and (c) the filing of the Certificate of Merger in accordance with the DGCL.

Section 4.7    Capitalization of the Company.

(a)    The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of:

(i)    52,000,000 of Common Stock, of which 6,757,270 shares are issued and outstanding as of the date of this
Agreement.

(ii)    35,726,483 shares of Preferred Stock, of which 9,726,483 shares have been designated as Series A-1 Preferred
Stock, all of which are issued and outstanding as of the date of this Agreement, and 26,000,000 shares have been designated
Series A-2 Preferred Stock, 25,982,598 of which are issued and outstanding as of the date of this Agreement.

All of the issued and outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock (A) are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and
non-assessable, (B) are free of any Liens created by the Company, (C) were not issued in violation of any preemptive rights or rights
of first refusal created by applicable Law or any provisions of the Company Charter and the Company Bylaws or any agreement to
which the Company is a party or by which it is bound and (D) have been issued in compliance with applicable federal and state
securities or “blue sky” Laws. Schedule 4.7(a) sets forth, as of the date of this Agreement, the name of each holder of shares of
Company Capital Stock and the true and correct number of shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock held of record by each
such stockholder. There are no accrued, declared or unpaid dividends with respect to any issued and outstanding shares of Company
Capital Stock that will not be satisfied by the payment of the Final Merger Consideration hereunder.

(b)    As of the date hereof, 8,661,970 shares of Common Stock are subject to outstanding Company Options. Schedule 4.7(b)
(i) sets forth with respect to each Company Option, as of the date hereof, the name of the holder thereof, the number of vested and
unvested shares of Common Stock subject thereto, the type (nonqualified or incentive), expiration date, the exercise price and
jurisdiction, thereof. The Company has delivered to Buyer an accurate and complete copy of the Company Equity Plan. With respect
to the Company Options, (i) each grant of an option was duly authorized no later than the date on which the grant of such option was
by its terms to be effective on the date the option was granted by all necessary corporate action, (ii) each option was granted
pursuant to the Company Equity Plan and has an exercise price equal to no less than the fair market value of the underlying shares of
Common Stock on the applicable grant date as determined by the Company’s board of directors in good faith and (iii) no option
provides for any feature for the deferral of compensation other than the deferral of recognition of income until the later of exercise
or disposition of such option, in each case, as determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code. A complete and accurate list
of each holder of restricted Common Stock and the vesting schedule of such Common stock is set forth on Schedule 4.7(b)(ii). With
respect to each share of restricted Common Stock, a timely election pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code has been made and
remitted to the IRS.
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(c)    Except (i) as set forth in this Section 4.7 or (ii) as set forth on Schedule 4.7(b), the Company has not granted any
outstanding options, warrants, rights or other securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of Common Stock,
or any other commitments or agreements providing for the issuance of additional shares, the sale of treasury shares, or for the
repurchase or redemption of shares of Common Stock, and there are no agreements of any kind which may obligate the Company to
issue, purchase, register for sale, redeem or otherwise acquire any of its capital stock.

(d)    Except as set forth on Schedule 4.7(d) there are (i) no rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any kind or
character, whether written or oral, relating to the Equity Interest of the Company to which the Company is a party, or by which it is
bound, obligating the Company to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any issued and outstanding Equity Interest of the
Company; (ii) no outstanding or authorized stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation, or other similar rights with
respect to the Company; and (iii) no voting trusts, stockholder agreements, proxies or other agreements or understandings in effect to
which the Company is a party with respect to the governance of the Company or the voting or transfer of any Equity Interest the
Company.

(e)    The Payment Spreadsheet will set forth the capitalization of the Company immediately prior to the Effective Time,
taking into account the consummation of the Restructuring Plan and set forth the applicable portion of the Final Merger
Consideration payable to each Pre-Closing Holder, as contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.8    Financial Statements. Attached as Schedule 4.8 are (a) the audited consolidated balance sheet and statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flow of the Company as of and for the twelve (12) month period ended December 31, 2019
(the “Year-End Financial Statements”) and (b) an unaudited consolidated balance sheet and statements of income, operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flow of the Company as of and for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2020 and the six (6)
month period ended June 30, 2021 (the “Interim Financial Statements” and, together with the Year-End Financial Statements, the
“Financial Statements,” and such date, the “Company Balance Sheet Date”). The Financial Statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods indicated in such
Financial Statements in conformity with the Accounting Standards on a consistent basis through the periods indicated and with each
other (except in the case of the Interim Financial Statements for the absence of footnotes and other presentation items and for normal
year-end adjustments). The Company maintains a standard system of accounting established and administered in accordance with
GAAP.

Section 4.9    Undisclosed Liabilities. There is no liability, debt or obligation of the Company of a type required to be reflected or
reserved for on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards, except for liabilities and obligations (a)
reflected or reserved for on the Financial Statements or disclosed in the notes thereto, (b) that have arisen since the Company
Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary course of the operation of business of the Company, not exceeding one hundred thousand U.S.
Dollars ($100,000), individually or in the aggregate, (c)
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incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (d) disclosed on Schedule 4.9.

Section 4.10    Litigation and Proceedings. There are no pending or, to the knowledge of the Company threatened, lawsuits, actions,
suits, subpoenas, investigations or civil investigative demands, claims or other proceedings at law or in equity (including any
allegations or investigations of violations of any Health Care Law), in each case, before or by any Governmental Authority against
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any officer, director, employee, manager or agent, in each case, acting for or on behalf of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 4.11    Compliance with Laws; Governmental Authorities.

(a)    The Company and its Subsidiaries are and have been in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws,
including Health Care Laws, Privacy Laws, Anti-Corruption Laws, and International Trade Laws. Neither the Company nor any of
its Subsidiaries have received any written notice, correspondence, or communication from any Governmental Authority alleging or
asserting a violation of any applicable Law, including Health Care Laws, Privacy Laws, Anti-Corruption Laws, and International
Trade Laws. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any corporate integrity agreement, monitoring agreement,
consent decree, settlement order, deferred prosecution agreement, nonprosecution agreement or similar agreement with or imposed
by any Governmental Authority. To the knowledge of the Company, there are no facts, circumstances or conditions that would
reasonably be expected to form the basis for any investigation, suit, claim, action, proceeding or imposition of any penalties against
or affecting the businesses of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries relating to or arising out of Health Care Laws, Privacy Laws,
Anti-Corruption Laws, and International Trade Laws.

(b)    As to each of the product candidates set forth in Schedule 4.11(b) currently under research and/or development by the
Company and its Subsidiaries and subject to the jurisdiction of the FDA or any equivalent Governmental Authority in any legal
jurisdiction other than the U.S. (including, for clarity, TNB-585 and the product candidates included in the Eligible Programs for
which an IND has been filed) (each such product, a “Regulated Product”), such Regulated Product is being and has been researched,
developed, manufactured, tested, distributed and/or marketed in compliance in all material respects with all applicable requirements
under Health Care Laws, including the provisions of the FDCA relating to investigational use, premarket approval, good
manufacturing practices, labeling, advertising, record keeping, filing of reports and security. Neither the Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries have received any notice or other communication from any Governmental Authority and no Governmental Authority
has or is (i) contesting the premarket approval of, the uses of or the labeling and promotion of any Regulated Product or (ii) alleging
any violation by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any Law applicable to a Regulated Product.

(c)    The Company is the sole and exclusive owner of all filings and applications submitted to, and all authorizations or
designations granted by, the FDA and other Governmental Authorities for each Regulated Product, including any IND, BLA (to the
extent applicable) or other marketing authorization, orphan drug designation and the like, of any jurisdiction, each of
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which is set forth on Schedule 4.11(c) (collectively, the “Company Regulatory Filings”), free and clear of any Liens. The Company
has complied with all requirements to notify FDA and other Governmental Authorities of any transfers of ownership of Company
Regulatory Filings, including orphan drug designations. All Company Regulatory Filings, including orphan drug designations, have
been transferred to the Company in accordance with applicable Health Care Laws, remain valid, and have not been varied. No IND
filed by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with the FDA has been terminated or suspended by the FDA, and
neither the FDA nor any other applicable Governmental Authority has commenced, or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened
to initiate, any action to place a clinical hold order on, or otherwise terminate, delay or suspend, any proposed or ongoing clinical
investigation conducted or proposed to be conducted by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(d)    The Company has provided or made available to Buyer true, complete and correct copies of (i) all Company Regulatory
Filings and related correspondence with applicable Governmental Authorities and (ii) all available clinical and non-clinical data
(including interim data (including safety, efficacy and other available information), study reports and any summaries thereof), in
each case related to (A) any Company Regulatory Filings or (B) any clinical, non-clinical, or manufacturing activities conducted by
or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or with respect to all of the Company’s Regulated Products and Company
Products (collectively, the “Product Data”). All Product Data accurately reflects in all material respects (including from a statistical
standpoint) the results from the clinical, non-clinical, and manufacturing activities conducted by the Company with respect to the
use of each Regulated Product or Company Product, as applicable, that was the subject thereof and the Company has not failed to
disclose any such information that would reasonably be deemed to be material information with respect to any such Regulated
Product or Company Product. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has made any untrue statement of fact or fraudulent
statement to the FDA or Governmental Authority or otherwise failed to disclose a material fact required to be disclosed to the FDA
or Governmental Authority.

(e)    All non-clinical studies in animals conducted by or for the benefit of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have been,
and are being, conducted in material compliance with all applicable Laws, including the applicable requirements of “Good
Laboratory Practice” as promulgated by the FDA under and in accordance with Title 21, Part 58 of the U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations, and the applicable standards published by the FDA that relate thereto, or any similar requirements or standards and any
similar laws of any other Governmental Authority (collectively “Good Laboratory Practice”).

(f)    All clinical trials conducted by or for the benefit of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have been, and are being,
conducted in compliance with all applicable Laws (including Privacy Laws), including the applicable requirements of “Good
Clinical Practice,” informed consent, and all applicable requirements relating to protection of human subjects contained in Title 21,
Parts 50, 54, 56, and 312 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, and the applicable guidelines and standards published by the FDA
that relate to the conduct of clinical studies in humans, or any similar requirements, guidelines, or standards of any other
Governmental Authority, in each case as applicable (collectively, “Good Clinical Practice”).
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(g)    All manufacturing operations currently conducted by or for the benefit of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
relating to the Company’s or such or any of its Subsidiaries’ Regulated Products have been and are being conducted in compliance
with applicable current “Good Manufacturing Practice” regulations as promulgated by the FDA, including those set forth in 21
C.F.R. Parts 210 and 211 that relate to the manufacturing, quality assurance, quality control, processing, packaging, holding or
distribution of drug substances and finished drugs, or any similar requirements of any other Governmental Authority (collectively,
“Good Manufacturing Practice”).

(h)    None of the Company, its Subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any officer, employee or agent of the
Company or its Subsidiaries has been convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct that has previously caused or would
reasonably be expected to result in (i) disqualification, debarment, or suspension by the FDA under 21 U.S.C. Section 335a, or any
similar law, rule or regulation of any other Governmental Authority, or (ii) exclusion from federal health care programs under 42
U.S.C. Sections 1320a-7 or 1320a-7a, or any similar law, rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority.

(i)    The Company has delivered to Buyer true, correct, and complete copies of all communications in its possession between
the Company and its Subsidiaries and the FDA or any other applicable Governmental Authority that pertain to the Company’s ability
to lawfully research, develop, test, manufacture, market or distribute the Company’s Regulated Products, or assessing compliance of
the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ operations with respect to the Company’s Regulated Products with the FDCA and its
implementing regulations or other applicable Laws, including true, correct and complete copies of (i) all warning letters, untitled
letters, notices of adverse findings, clinical hold correspondence, and similar written correspondence received by the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) all inspection reports and lists of observations, including Establishment Inspection Reports and Form
FDA 483s, relating to inspections for compliance with the FDCA, and (iii) any similar reports issued by a foreign Governmental
Authority.

(j)    The Company, its Subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Company, each partner, third-party service provider or third
party which pursuant to a Contract with the Company or its Subsidiaries co-develops, or otherwise has a license or other right to
research develop, manufacture, supply, test, or import any Regulated Product, hold all material Governmental Authorizations from
the FDA and all other Governmental Authorities that are required for the conduct of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ businesses as
currently conducted, and all such Governmental Authorizations are (i) in full force and effect, (ii) validly registered and on file with
applicable Governmental Authorities, if any, and (iii) in compliance with all formal filing and maintenance requirements. The
consummation of the Transactions, in and of themselves, would not cause the revocation or cancellation of any such Governmental
Authorization.

Section 4.12    Contracts; No Defaults.

(a)    Schedule 4.12 sets forth a true, correct and complete list of the Contracts referred to or described in clauses (i) through
(xvi), inclusive, of this Section 4.12(a), all of which are in
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effect as of the date of this Agreement and to which the Company or a Subsidiary is a party or by which it or any of the assets owned
by the Company or its Subsidiaries is bound, other than Company Benefit Plans, Contracts for labor and employment matters set
forth on Schedule 4.13(a) and Contracts relating to insurance policies set forth on Schedule 4.17 (each, a “Listed Contract”). The
Company has delivered to Buyer, or made available to Buyer, a complete and accurate copy of such Listed Contract (including all
amendments or modifications thereto that exist as of the date of this Agreement):

(i)    other than Contracts of the type (without giving effect to dollar thresholds) described in other clauses of this
Section 4.12(a), that the Company reasonably anticipates will involve aggregate annual payments or consideration furnished
by or to the Company or its Subsidiaries of more than one hundred thousand U.S. Dollars ($100,000);

(ii)    pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has continuing obligations or interests involving the
payment of royalties, earnouts, development or commercialization milestones or other amounts calculated based on the
revenues, income, achievement or regulatory or development milestones or other performance measure of the Company;

(iii)    pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has material continuing obligations to any third party
with respect to the manufacture or supply of products of the Company or its Subsidiaries, including any Preclinical Company
Milestone Candidate, or any component or raw materials used therein;

(iv)    evidencing debt of the Company or its Subsidiaries or that otherwise relates to the borrowing or lending of
money or to mortgaging, pledging or otherwise placing a Lien on any portion of the assets of the Company or its
Subsidiaries;

(v)    that is for the acquisition of any Person or any business division thereof or the disposition of any material assets
of the Company or its Subsidiaries (other than in the ordinary course of business), in each case, involving payments in excess
of one hundred thousand ($100,000), other than Contracts in which the applicable acquisition or disposition has been
consummated and there are no material obligations ongoing;

(vi)    that is a lease, rental or occupancy agreement, real property license, installment and conditional sale agreement
or other Contract that, in each case, provides for the ownership of, leasing of, title to, use of, or any leasehold or other
interest in any real or personal property;

(vii)    that is a joint venture, strategic alliance, partnership, transition services agreement, collaboration or other
contract or agreement involving any joint ownership or sharing of any business, venture or enterprise, or a sharing of profits
or losses, or pursuant to which the Company or its Subsidiaries has any ownership or control interest in any other Person or
business enterprise;
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(viii)    that requires capital expenditures after the date of this Agreement in an annual amount in excess of one
hundred thousand U.S. Dollars ($100,000);

(ix)    that provides for severance, retention, change in control or other similar payments;

(x)    that results in any Person holding a power of attorney from the Company or its Subsidiaries;

(xi)    that is with any Governmental Authority;

(xii)    that is with any Person known to the Company to be a member of the Healthcare Community;

(xiii)    that is a non-competition Contract or other Contract that (A) limits or purports to limit in any respect either (1)
the type of business in which the Company or its Subsidiaries (or, after giving effect to the Merger, Buyer or its Affiliates)
may engage (whether by lines of business, field or otherwise), including the ability to obtain or provide products or services
from or to any Person (including any exclusivity obligations on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, but excluding
confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements that do not contain any restrictions other than customary confidentiality and
non-disclosure obligations) or the ability to engage in developing or commercializing any product candidates with respect to
any targets, (2) the geographic locations in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may so engage in any business or
(3) the products that the Company or its Subsidiaries (or, after giving effect to the Merger, Buyer or its Affiliates) may
research, develop, manufacture or commercialize, (B) grants any “most favored nation” or similar terms or rights (including
terms for pricing) by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (C) contains minimum purchase requirements or obligations
imposed on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

(xiv)    for the sale of any of the tangible assets of the Company or its Subsidiaries other than in the ordinary course of
the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ businesses or for the grant to any Person of any preferential rights to purchase any of the
Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ tangible assets;

(xv)    that contains a “non-solicitation” or “no-hire” provision that restricts the Company or its Subsidiaries (or, after
giving effect to the Merger, Buyer or its Affiliates);

(xvi)    that contains an option, grants exclusivity or grants any right of first refusal, right of first negotiation or right
of first offer by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in favor of any Person (other than pursuant to the Company Equity
Plan);

(xvii)    IP Assignments;

(xviii)    pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (A) has purchased or licenses Intellectual Property
from a third party, other than (i) click-wrap,
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shrink-wrap and off-the-shelf software licenses, and any other software licenses that are available on standard terms to the
public generally with license, maintenance, support and other fees less than one hundred thousand U.S. Dollars ($100,000)
per year and (ii) consulting agreements that are consistent in all material respects with the Company’s form consulting
agreement made available to Buyer or (B) has licensed, assigned, sold or transferred to a third party any Intellectual Property
owned by the Company or such Subsidiary; and

(xix)    that is a Contract governing use of Shared Intellectual Property.

(b)    Except as set forth on Schedule 4.12, all of the Contracts set forth on Schedule 4.12 are (i) in full force and effect and
(ii) represent the valid and binding obligations of the Company or Subsidiary of the Company party thereto, as applicable, and, to
the knowledge of the Company, represent the valid and binding obligations of the other parties thereto. Except as set forth on
Schedule 4.12, (A) neither the Company nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any other party thereto is in breach of or default
under any such Contract, (B) the neither the Company nor any applicable Subsidiary has received a claim or notice of breach of or
default under any such Contract, and (C) to the knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred which, individually or together
with other events, would reasonably be expected to result in a breach of or a default under any such Contract (in each case, with or
without notice or lapse of time or both).

Section 4.13    Company Benefit Plans.

(a)    Schedule 4.13 sets forth a true, correct and complete list of each Company Benefit Plan.

(b)    The Company has made available to Buyer a true and complete copy, as applicable, of (i) each Company Benefit Plan
(including any amendments thereto) and descriptions of all material terms of any such plan that is not in writing, (ii) the three (3)
most recent annual reports with accompanying schedules and attachments, filed with respect to each Company Benefit Plan required
to make such a filing, (iii) the most recent summary plan description for each Company Benefit Plan for which a summary plan
description is required by applicable law and any other notice or description provided to employees (as well as any modifications or
amendments thereto), (iv) the most recently received determination letter, if any, issued by the Internal Revenue Service and each
currently pending application for a determination letter with respect to any Company Benefit Plan that is intended to qualify under
Section 401(a) of the Code, (v) the three most recently prepared actuarial reports, financial statements and trustee reports, if any,
relating to the Company Benefit Plan, (vi) all material records, notices and filings concerning Internal Revenue Service or U.S.
Department of Labor audits or investigations with respect to any Company Benefit Plan, and (vii) all non-routine, written
communications relating to any Company Benefit Plan and any proposed Company Benefit Plan with any Governmental Authority.

(c)    Each Company Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable
determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service or is
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the subject of a favorable opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service on the form of such Company Benefit Plan and, to the
knowledge of the Company, there are no facts or circumstances that would be reasonably likely to adversely affect the qualified
status of any such Company Benefit Plan. Each trust established in connection with any Company Benefit Plan which is intended to
be exempt from federal income taxation under Section 501(a) of the Code is so exempt, and no fact or event has occurred that would
reasonably be expected to adversely affect the exempt status of any such trust.

(d)    No Company Benefit Plan is, and neither any of the Company or its Subsidiaries nor any ERISA Affiliate thereof
contributes to, has at any time contributed to or has any liability or obligation, whether fixed or contingent, with respect to (i) a
Multiemployer Plan, (ii) a single employer plan or other pension plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA or Section 302 of ERISA
or Section 412 of the Code, (iii) a “multiple employer plan” (within the meaning of Section 413(c) of the Code), or (iv) a multiple
employer welfare arrangement (within the meaning of Section 3(40) of ERISA).

(e)    None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has any obligation to provide (whether under an Company Benefit Plan
or otherwise) health, accident, disability, life or other welfare benefits to any current or former employees, directors, consultants or
retirees of any the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or any spouse, beneficiary or dependent of the foregoing) beyond the
termination of employment or other service of such employee, director, consultant or retiree, other than health continuation coverage
pursuant to COBRA.

(f)    Each Company Benefit Plan has been maintained, operated and administered in compliance in all material respects with
its terms and the applicable requirements of ERISA, the Code and any other applicable laws. The Company and each of its
Subsidiaries has performed all obligations required to be performed by it under, is not in any material respect in default under or in
violation of, and has no knowledge of any default or violation by any party to, any Company Benefit Plan.

(g)    All payments, benefits, contributions (including all employer contributions and employee salary reduction
contributions) and premiums related to each Company Benefit Plan, including all wages, salaries, commissions, bonuses, benefits
and other compensation due to or on behalf of any employees or other service providers, have been timely paid or made in full or, to
the extent not yet due, properly accrued on the Company Balance Sheet in accordance with the terms of the Company Benefit Plan
and all applicable laws.

(h)    No Action is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against, by or on behalf of any Company Benefit
Plan or the assets, fiduciaries or administrators thereof (other than claims for benefits in the ordinary course). With respect to each
Company Benefit Plan, (i) no breaches of fiduciary duty or other failures to act or comply in connection with the administration or
investment of the assets of such Company Benefit Plan have occurred, and (ii) no lien has been imposed under the Code, ERISA or
any other applicable law. There has not been any prohibited transaction (within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section
4975 of the Code) with respect to any Company Benefit Plan. None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has made any filing
within the past six (6) years in respect of any Company Benefit
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Plan under the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System or the Department of Labor Delinquent Filer Program.

(i)    No Company Benefit Plan, and neither the Company or its Subsidiaries nor any Company Benefit Plan fiduciary with
respect to any Company Benefit Plan, in any case, is the subject of an audit or investigation by the Internal Revenue Service, the
Department of Labor, the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any other Governmental Authority, nor is any such audit or
investigation pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened.

(j)    Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby,
either alone or in combination with another event (whether contingent or otherwise) will (i) entitle any current or former employee,
consultant, director or other service provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any payment; (ii) increase the amount of
compensation or benefits due to any such employee, consultant, director or other service provider or any such group of employees,
consultants, directors or other service providers; or (iii) accelerate the vesting, funding or time of payment of any compensation,
equity award or other benefit.

(k)    The Company and its Subsidiaries and each of their respective ERISA Affiliates are in compliance in all material
respects with (i) the applicable requirements of Section 4980B of the Code and any similar state law, (ii) the applicable requirements
of HIPAA and the regulations (including the proposed regulations) thereunder and (iii) the applicable requirements of the Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended. No Company Benefit Plan is a voluntary employee benefit association
under Section 501(a)(9) of the Code. The obligations of all Company Benefit Plans that provide health, welfare or similar insurance
are fully insured by bona fide third-party insurers. No Company Benefit Plan is maintained through a human resources and benefits
outsourcing entity, professional employer organization, or other similar vendor or provider.

(l)    The Company and its Subsidiaries have not sponsored, maintained, contributed to, or been required to sponsor,
maintain, participate in or contribute to, any employee benefit plan, program, or other arrangement providing compensation or
benefits to any service provider (or any dependent thereof) which is subject to the Laws of any jurisdiction outside of the United
States.

Section 4.14    Employment and Labor Relations.

(a)    Schedule 4.14(a) sets forth (i) a complete and accurate list as of the date that is within five (5) business days of the date
of this Agreement of all of the employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries, describing or identifying for all employees their
names, employee identification numbers, employing entity, position titles, annual salaries (or base hourly wage rates), target cash
incentive compensation opportunity, bonuses, other compensation, assigned work location, leave of absence status, overtime and
minimum wage exemption classification, full-time, part-time, temporary or seasonal employee status, and employee or independent
contractor / non-employee classification, Company service date and annual equity target incentive value or share award. All data not
specifically listed, but reasonably necessary for
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Buyer to provide benefits, payroll, or any other employee-related service to Company employees will be timely provided to Buyer,
to the extent permitted by Law.

(b)    The Company and its Subsidiaries is and has not at any time been bound by any collective bargaining or similar
agreement with respect to its employees. There is no labor strike, work stoppage, picketing, lockout, walkout or other organized
work interruption pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or its Subsidiaries, and no such
entity has experienced any such labor strike, work stoppage, picketing, lockout, walkout or other organized work interruption during
the past three (3) years. There are no labor unions or other organizations representing, purporting to represent and, to the knowledge
of the Company, no union organization campaign is in progress with respect to, any employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries.
There are no (i) unfair labor practice charges pending before the National Labor Relations Board or any other Governmental
Authority, or (ii) material grievances, complaints, claims or judicial or administrative proceedings, in each case, which are pending
or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened by or on behalf of any employees. The Company and its Subsidiaries are in
compliance in all material respects with all applicable laws, statutes, rules and regulations respecting employment and employment
practices, terms and conditions of employment of employees, former employees and prospective employees, wages and hours, pay
equity, discrimination in employment, wrongful discharge, collective bargaining, fair labor standards, occupational health and safety,
personal rights or any other labor and employment-related matters. The Company and its Subsidiaries are not a party to, or otherwise
bound by, any consent decree with, or citation any Governmental Authority relating to employees or employment practices. The
Company and its Subsidiaries have properly classified all of their service providers as employed or self-employed, employees or
independent contractors and as exempt or non-exempt for all purposes. During the three (3) years prior to the date of this
Agreement, the Company and its Subsidiaries have not engaged in or effectuated any “plant closing” or employee “mass layoff” (in
each case, as defined in the Worker Adjustment Retraining and Notification Act of 1988, as amended, or any similar state or local
statute, rule or regulation) affecting any site of employment or one or more facilities or operating units within any site of
employment or facility of any such entity.

(c)    The Company and its Subsidiaries have paid in full to all of its employees or adequately accrued for in accordance with
GAAP all wages, salaries, commissions, bonuses, benefits and other compensation due to or on behalf of such employees. There is
no claim with respect to payment of wages, salary or overtime pay that has been asserted or is now pending or, to the knowledge of
the Company, threatened before any Governmental Authority with respect to any Persons currently or formerly employed by the
Company or its Subsidiaries.

(d)    There are no material liabilities, whether contingent or absolute, of the Company or its Subsidiaries relating to workers’
compensation benefits that are not fully insured against by a bona fide third-party insurance carrier. With respect to each Company
Benefit Plan and with respect to each state workers’ compensation arrangement that is funded wholly or partially through an
insurance policy or public or private fund, all premiums required to have been paid to date under such insurance policy or fund have
been.

50



Section 4.15    Taxes. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.15:

(a)    The Company and its Subsidiaries have duly and timely filed or caused to be timely filed with the appropriate Tax
Authority all Tax Returns required to be filed by, or with respect to, such entity. All such Tax Returns are true, complete and accurate
in all material respects. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is currently the beneficiary of any extension of time within
which to file any Tax Return. No claim has ever been made by a Tax Authority in a jurisdiction where the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries does not file a Tax Return that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is or may be subject to taxation by that
jurisdiction. All Taxes due and owing by the Company and its Subsidiaries (whether or not shown on any Tax Returns) have been
timely paid. The Company and its Subsidiaries have withheld and paid all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in
connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, stockholders of the Company or other
Person.

(b)    The unpaid Taxes of the Company and its Subsidiaries did not, as of the Company Balance Sheet Date, exceed the
reserve for Tax liability (excluding any reserve for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax
income) set forth on the face of the balance sheet included in the Interim Financial Statements (rather than in any notes thereto).
Since the Company Balance Sheet Date, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has incurred any liability for Taxes outside
the ordinary course of business or otherwise inconsistent with past custom and practice.

(c)    No written agreement or other document waiving or extending, or having the effect of waiving or extending, the statute
of limitations or the period of assessment or collection of any Taxes with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries has been
entered into. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has granted to any Person any power of attorney with respect to any
Tax matter relating to the Company or its Subsidiaries.

(d)    No deficiencies for Taxes with respect to the Company or its Subsidiaries have been claimed, proposed or assessed by
any Tax Authority. There are no pending or threatened audits, assessments or other actions for or relating to any liability in respect
of Taxes of the Company or its Subsidiaries. No adjustment that would increase the Tax liability, or reduce any Tax asset, of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries has been made, proposed or threatened by a Tax Authority during any audit of any taxable period
which would reasonably be expected to be made, proposed or threatened in an audit of any subsequent taxable period.

(e)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) has received or applied for a Tax ruling or entered into a closing
agreement pursuant to Section 7121 of the Code (or any predecessor provision or any similar provision of state, local or foreign
Law), in either case that would be binding upon the Company or its Subsidiaries after the Closing Date, (ii) is or has ever been a
member of any affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group for purposes of filing Tax Returns or paying Taxes or (iii) has any
liability for the Taxes of any other Person (whether under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 or any similar provision of state,
local or foreign Law, or as a transferee or successor, or pursuant to any Tax sharing, allocation or indemnity agreement or any other
contractual agreements, or otherwise). None of the Company or any of its
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Subsidiaries is, or has ever been, a party to or bound by any Tax indemnity agreement, Tax sharing agreement, Tax allocation
agreement or similar Contract.

(f)    There are no Liens for Taxes upon any property or asset of the Company or its Subsidiaries (other than Permitted
Liens).

(g)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has been a party to any transaction that is or is substantially similar to
a “reportable transaction” as such term is defined in Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b)(1), or any other transaction requiring
disclosure under analogous provisions of state, local or foreign Tax Law.

(h)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item
of deduction from, taxable income for any period (or any portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of (i) any
installment sale or other transaction prior to the Closing, (ii) the use of an incorrect method of accounting prior to the Closing, (iii)
any accounting method change or agreement with any Tax Authority filed or made prior to the Closing, (iv) any prepaid amount
received prior to the Closing, (v) any closing agreement or other agreement with a Tax Authority prior to the Closing, (vi) any
election under Section 108(i) of the Code, or (vii) an election under Section 965 of the Code.

(i)    All books and records relating to Taxes (including related work papers) have been adequately maintained for all periods
for which the statute of limitations remains open.

(j)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in a trade or business, had a permanent establishment
(within the meaning of an applicable Tax treaty), or otherwise has become subject to Tax jurisdiction in a country other than the
country of its formation.

(k)    All transfer pricing rules have been complied with. All documentation required by all relevant transfer pricing laws has
been timely prepared, and complete and accurate copies of such documentation have been made available to Buyer.

(l)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (or any predecessors thereof) has been a party to any transaction
intended to qualify under Section 355 of the Code.

(m)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries owns an interest in real property in any jurisdiction (i) in which a
material amount of Tax is imposed, or the value of the interest is materially reassessed, on the transfer of an interest in real property
resulting from the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (ii) which treats the transfer of an interest (resulting from the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement) in an entity that owns an interest in real property as a transfer of the interest in real
property.

(n)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has participated in or cooperated with, or has agreed to participate in or
cooperate with, or is participating in or cooperating with, any international boycott within the meaning of Section 999 of the Code.
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(o)    Seller has provided or made available to Purchase Representative all documentation relating to, and is in full
compliance with all terms and conditions of, any Tax exemption, Tax holiday, Tax incentive or other Tax reduction agreement or
order of a territorial or non-U.S. government. The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not have
any adverse effect on the continued validity and effectiveness of any such Tax exemption, Tax holiday, Tax incentive or other Tax
reduction agreement or order.

Section 4.16    Brokers’ Fees. No broker, finder, investment banker or other Person is entitled to any brokerage fee, finders’ fee or
other similar commission, for which Buyer or the Company or any of its Subsidiaries would be liable in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by the Company or any of its Affiliates.

Section 4.17    Insurance. Schedule 4.17 sets forth a list of (a) all policies of property, fire and casualty, product liability, workers’
compensation, and other forms of insurance held by, or for the benefit of, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. True and complete
copies of such insurance policies have been made available to Buyer or its representatives. Neither Company nor its Subsidiaries
have received any written notice from any insurer under any such insurance policies, canceling or materially adversely amending
any such policy or denying renewal of coverage thereunder and (b) all premiums on such insurance policies due and payable have
been paid.

Section 4.18    Licenses, Permits and Authorizations. The Company and its Subsidiaries hold free and clear of all Liens (other than
Permitted Liens), and is in compliance with, all of the licenses, approvals, authorizations, clearances, consents, registrations and
permits issued by Governmental Authorities, including the FDA, that are (a) used in the conduct of the businesses of the Company
and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted or (b) required by applicable Laws to permit the Company and its Subsidiaries to own,
operate, use and maintain their assets in the manner in which they are now operated, used and maintained or to conduct the
businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted, including the manufacture, production, distribution,
marketing, performance, sale or support of any Regulated Product (collectively, the “Permits”). Schedule 4.18 sets forth a complete
list of such Permits held by the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the date hereof. Accurate and complete copies of such Permits
have been made available to Buyer. The Company and its Subsidiaries have fulfilled and performed all of its material obligations
that have accrued with respect to the all such Permits, and to the knowledge of the Company at the date of this Agreement, no event
has occurred which allows, or after notice or lapse of time would allow, revocation or termination thereof or results in any other
material impairment of the rights of the holder of any Permit. There are no pending or, to the knowledge of the Company at the date
of this Agreement, threatened Actions before or by any Governmental Authority alleging that any operation or activity of the
Company or its Subsidiaries is in violation of any applicable Law or that would reasonably be expected to result in the cancellation,
revocation or termination of any such Permit. Such Permits will not be adversely affected by the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.
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Section 4.19    Real Property.

(a)    Schedule 4.19 sets forth a list of all Leased Real Property. The Company (i) has a valid and enforceable leasehold estate
in, and enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession of, all Leased Real Property, subject to the Remedies Exception and any
Permitted Liens and (ii) has not received any written notice from any lessor of such Leased Real Property of, nor does the Company
have knowledge of the existence of, any default, event or circumstance that, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a
material default by the party that is the lessee or lessor of such Leased Real Property.

(b)    None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries own, nor have they ever owned, any real property.

Section 4.20    Intellectual Property.

(a)    Schedule 4.20(a)(i) sets forth, for the Company and the Teneo Subsidiaries, (i) a list of all registrations and applications
for registrations included in the Owned Intellectual Property Rights, including for each item (A) the record owner (and name of any
other Person with an ownership interest in such item of Owned Intellectual Property Rights, if any), jurisdiction (or, with respect to
Domain Names, the applicable registrar), status, date and registration or application number of each item, as applicable, (B) the
name of the record owner and any other Person that has an ownership interest in such item of Owned Intellectual Property Rights
other than security interests expressly disclosed elsewhere on the Disclosure Schedules as being applicable to such Owned
Intellectual Property Rights, and the nature of such ownership interest, and (C) any actions that are required to be taken by Company
or any of the Teneo Subsidiaries within one hundred and eighty (180) days of the date of this Agreement, including the payment of
any registration, maintenance or renewal fees or the filing of or response to any documents, applications or certificates, for the
purposes of prosecuting, obtaining, perfecting, maintaining or renewing any Owned Intellectual Property Rights, and (ii) a true and
complete list of all material unregistered marks of the Company or the Teneo Subsidiaries included in the Owned Intellectual
Property Rights. With respect to all registrations and applications for registration of Owned Intellectual Property Rights set forth on
Schedule 4.20(a)(i), except as set forth on Schedule 4.20(b), the Company or a Teneo Subsidiary has filed all statements of use and
paid all renewal and maintenance fees, annuities and other fees with respect thereto that are due or payable as of the date of this
Agreement.

(b)    Schedule 4.20(b)(i) sets forth, for the Excluded Entities, (i) a list of all registrations and applications for registrations
included in any and all Intellectual Property Rights owned or purported to be owned by any of the Excluded Entities (the “Excluded
Entities Owned Intellectual Property Rights”), including for each item (A) the record owner (and name of any other Person with an
ownership interest in such item of Excluded Entities Owned Intellectual Property Rights, if any), jurisdiction (or, with respect to
Domain Names, the applicable registrar), status, date and registration or application number of each item, as applicable, and (B) the
name of the record owner and any other Person that has an ownership interest in such item of Excluded Entities Owned Intellectual
Property Rights other than security interests expressly
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disclosed elsewhere on the Disclosure Schedules as being applicable to such Excluded Entities Owned Intellectual Property Rights,
and the nature of such ownership interest.

(c)    Schedule 4.20(c) sets forth a list of any Patents used in, held for use in or necessary for the conduct of both (i) the
Business, and (ii) the Excluded Businesses, in each case, as currently conducted or proposed to be conducted (the “Shared
Intellectual Property”).

(d)    Except as set forth on Schedule 4.20(d)(i), the Company or one of its Subsidiaries (i) exclusively owns all right, title,
and interest in, to and under all Owned Intellectual Property Rights free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens), and (ii)
owns or has the right to use pursuant to license, sublicense, agreement or permission, all other Intellectual Property Rights used in
the operation of the business(es) of the Company and its Subsidiaries. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.20(d)(ii), neither the
Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has transferred ownership of (whether a whole or partial interest), or granted any exclusive
right to use, any Company Intellectual Property to any Person. No Person that has licensed any Licensed Intellectual Property Rights
to the Company or its Subsidiaries has ownership, license or other rights to derivative works or improvements made by or on behalf
of Company or its Subsidiaries related to such Licensed Intellectual Property Rights. All employees, contractors and consultants of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries who have contributed to the creation, discovery, reduction to practice or development of the
Company’s or such Subsidiary’s products or services or any Owned Intellectual Property Rights have executed written instruments
with the Company or the applicable Subsidiary that presently assign to the Company or such Subsidiary all right, title and interest in
and to and under any and all Intellectual Property Rights developed in the performance of services for the Company or such
Subsidiary (“IP Assignments”). No Owned Intellectual Property Right is owned, licensed to or otherwise held by a current or former
employee, officer, director, manager, consultant or contractor of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. To the knowledge of the
Company, no employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is (i) bound by or otherwise subject to any Contract restricting
him or her from performing his or her duties for the Company or its applicable Subsidiary, or (ii) in breach of any Contract with any
former employer or other Person concerning Intellectual Property Rights or confidentiality due to his or her activities as an
employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(e)    The Company or its Subsidiaries exclusively owns or has a valid and enforceable license to use all Intellectual Property
Rights used in, held for use in or necessary to operate the Business as currently conducted and currently proposed to be conducted,
including, to the knowledge of the Company and its Subsidiaries, the research, development, manufacturing and commercialization
of the Preclinical Company Milestone Candidates.

(f)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken or failed to take any action that would be reasonably
expected to result in the abandonment, invalidity, cancellation, forfeiture, relinquishing, invalidation or unenforceability of any
Owned Intellectual Property Right (including with respect to any Trademark, a failure to exercise adequate quality controls or an
assignment in gross without the accompanying goodwill) or any Licensed Intellectual Property Rights during, with respect to such
Licensed Intellectual Property Rights, the period for
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which the Company or any one of its Subsidiaries has been responsible for prosecuting. Each of the Patents included in the Owned
Intellectual Property Rights and any Licensed Intellectual Property Rights for which the Company or any one of its Subsidiaries has
been responsible for prosecuting properly identifies each and every inventor of the claims thereof as determined in accordance with
the applicable laws of the jurisdiction in which such Patent is issued or pending. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has
engaged in Patent or Copyright misuse or any fraud or inequitable conduct in connection with any Company Intellectual Property.
Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries and their respective patent counsel have complied with its duty of candor and disclosure
and have made no material misrepresentations in the filings submitted to the applicable Governmental Authorities with respect to all
Patents included in the Owned Intellectual Property Rights and any Licensed Intellectual Property Rights for which the Company or
any one of its Subsidiaries has at any time been responsible for prosecuting.

(g)    There exist no material restrictions on the disclosure, use, license or transfer of the Owned Intellectual Property Rights.
There exist no material restrictions on the disclosure, use, license or transfer of the Licensed Intellectual Property Rights that has
been imposed upon Company or its Subsidiaries pursuant to a Contract to which the Company of a Subsidiary is a party. Neither the
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents nor the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby will (i) result in the release, disclosure or delivery of any Owned Intellectual Property
Rights by or to any escrow agent or other third party; (ii) result in the grant, assignment or transfer to any other third party of any
license or other right or interest under, to or in any of the Owned Intellectual Property Rights; (iii) result in Company or any of its
Subsidiaries being bound by or subject to any exclusivity obligations, non-compete or other restrictions on the operation or scope of
their respective businesses, or to any obligation to grant any rights in or to any of Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ technology or
Intellectual Property Rights; or (iv) result in any third party having the right to cause any of the foregoing. The Company or one of
its Subsidiaries will continue to own or have after the Closing Date valid rights or licenses as are sufficient to use all of the Company
Intellectual Property used by the Company or its Subsidiaries to the same extent as prior to the Closing.

(h)    To the knowledge of the Company, the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ Regulated Products, including the use,
manufacture, and marketing of such products, and the conduct by the Company and its Subsidiaries of their respective businesses as
currently conducted and as currently proposed by the Company and its Subsidiaries, does not infringe upon, dilute, misappropriate
or otherwise violate any Intellectual Property Rights of any third Person, including any Excluded Entity (regardless of any
exemption from patent infringement under 35 U.S.C. 271(e)(1) or any similar exceptions outside the United States). Except as set
forth on Schedule 4.20(h), the Company and its Subsidiaries have not received from any Person in the past seven (7) years any
written notice, charge, complaint, claim or other written assertion of (i) any infringement, dilution, violation or misappropriation of
any Intellectual Property Rights of any Person, including cease and desist letters and offers to take a license, (ii) based upon, or
challenging or seeking to deny or restrict, the rights of the Company or its Subsidiaries in any Company Intellectual Property, or (iii)
an allegation that any Company Intellectual Property is invalid or unenforceable. No infringement, misappropriation, or similar
claim or legal
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action is pending or to the knowledge of the Company at the date of this Agreement, has been threatened against any Person who
may be entitled to be indemnified by the Company or its Subsidiaries under a Contract with the Company or its Subsidiaries with
respect to such claim. This Section 4.20(h) sets forth the only representation or warranty of Company or any of its Subsidiaries with
respect to the violation of Intellectual Property Rights.

(i)    To the knowledge of the Company, no third party is infringing upon, misappropriating or otherwise violating any
Intellectual Property owned by or exclusively licensed to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Within the past twenty-four (24)
months prior to the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has sent any written notice, charge,
complaint, claim or other written assertion asserting or threatening to assert any Action against any Person involving or relating to
any Intellectual Property owned by or exclusively licensed to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(j)    The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken commercially reasonable security measures and reasonable actions to, and
have maintained policies and processes to, protect and maintain the secrecy and prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of all
confidential or non-public information, know-how, source code and trade secrets owned or controlled by the Company or its
Subsidiaries (“Confidential Information”).

(k)    Schedule 4.20(k)(i) sets forth a complete and accurate list of all written agreements under which a third party grants to
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries a license under or other right, title or interest in or to (including a covenant not to be sued or
right to enforce or prosecute any Patents, or any right of first refusal or similar right to acquire exclusive rights or ownership) any
Intellectual Property Rights, other than (i) validly executed invention assignment agreements with former or current employees
based on forms that have been made available to the Company, or (ii) licenses for off-the-shelf software (the “Licenses In”).
Schedule 4.20(k)(ii) sets forth a complete and accurate list of all written agreements under which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries grants or is obligated to grant to any third party a license under or other right, title or interest in or to (including a
covenant not to be sued or right to enforce or prosecute any Patents, or any right of first refusal or similar right to acquire exclusive
rights or ownership) any Company Intellectual Property (the “Licenses Out”). Schedule 4.20(k)(iii) sets forth a complete and
accurate list of all written agreements under which the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, or a third party grants or is obligated to
grant to Excluded Entities a license under or other right, title or interest in or to (including a covenant not to be sued or right to
enforce or prosecute any Patents, or any right of first refusal or similar right to acquire exclusive rights or ownership) any Company
Intellectual Property, other than (i) validly executed invention assignment agreements with former or current employees based on
forms that have been made available to the Company, or (ii) licenses for off-the-shelf software (the “Excluded Entity Licenses” and,
collectively with the Licenses In and the Licenses Out, the “IP Licenses”). The Company has provided a complete and correct copy
of each IP License, including all modifications, amendments and supplements thereto.

(l)    None of the Owned Intellectual Property Rights, and to the knowledge of the Company and its Subsidiaries, no
Licensed Intellectual Property Rights, were developed using
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any federal, state, government, non-profit, university or institutional funding, facilities, personnel or resources, and no such funding
was used in connection with the discovery, design, identification, research or development of any Regulated Products or Eligible
Programs by the Company or its Subsidiaries. No such entity or institution (i) owns or otherwise holds, or has the right to obtain,
any rights to any Owned Intellectual Property Rights and/or to the knowledge of the Company and its Subsidiaries, to any Licensed
Intellectual Property Rights, (ii) has imposed or purported to impose, or has the right, whether contingent or otherwise, to impose,
any obligations or restrictions on the Company or its Subsidiaries with respect to the licensing or granting of any Owned Intellectual
Property Rights or to the knowledge of the Company and its Subsidiaries, any Licensed Intellectual Property Rights or the
manufacture or commercialization of any product or service developed or created by the Company or its Subsidiaries, or (iii) is or
may become entitled to receive any royalties or other payments from the Company or its Subsidiaries.

(m)    Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is in compliance in all material respects with all licenses for Open Source
Software that it uses in the business of the Company or its Subsidiaries as presently conducted, including attribution and copyright
notice requirements and the material proprietary software included in the Owned Intellectual Property Rights that is distributed or
made available to third parties is not subject to any license that requires the distribution or availability of proprietary source code
under such circumstances.

(n)    No Person (other than employees or Persons working on behalf of the Company and subject to reasonable
confidentiality arrangements) has the current or contingent right to access or possess any material source code included in the
Owned Intellectual Property Rights.

(o)    The IT Assets are sufficient for the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted.
The Company and is Subsidiaries have taken commercially reasonable measures to preserve and maintain the performance, security
and integrity of the IT Assets against any unauthorized use, access, interruption, modification or corruption, including (i)
commercially reasonable physical, technical and administrative controls, policies, procedures, and safeguards to maintain and
protect the integrity, continuous operation, redundancy and security of the IT Assets and (ii) commercially reasonable disaster
recovery plans, procedures and facilities for the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Company and its Subsidiaries
have used commercially reasonable efforts to implement security patches or upgrades available and necessary to protect the IT
Assets.

Section 4.21    Environmental Matters. The Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance and have complied with all
Environmental Laws except for any such instance of noncompliance that would not reasonably be expected to result in material
liability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. The Company has timely applied for, holds, and is in material compliance with,
all licenses, approvals, consents, registrations and permits required under applicable Environmental Laws to permit the Company
and its Subsidiaries to own, operate use and maintain their respective assets in a manner in which it is now operated, used and
maintained and to conduct the businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted, except where the failure to
timely apply, the absence of, or the failure to be in material compliance with, any such
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permit would not reasonably be expected to result in a material liability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. There are no
written claims, legal or regulatory proceedings or actions, or notices of violation or liability pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries alleging violations of or liability under any Environmental Law
or with respect to Hazardous Materials and there has been no Release that would reasonably be expected to result in material
liability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. The Company has made available to Buyer copies of all environmental
assessments, permits, reports, audits and other material documents in its possession or under its control that relate to Company’s and
its Subsidiaries’ compliance with or liability under Environmental Laws or the environmental condition of any real property that the
Company or its Subsidiaries currently or formerly has owned, operated or leased.

Section 4.22    Absence of Changes.

(a)    From the Company Balance Sheet Date to the date of this Agreement, there has not been any Material Adverse Effect.

(b)    Except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, from the Company Balance Sheet Date through the date of this
Agreement, the Company and its Subsidiaries have, in all material respects, conducted its business and operated its properties in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

(c)    From the Company Balance Sheet Date through the date of this Agreement, there has been no action taken by the
Company or its Subsidiaries which, if taken after the date of this Agreement without Buyer’s consent, would violate the provisions
of Section 6.1(b).

Section 4.23    Affiliate Matters. (a) No Related Person has any direct or indirect interest in any material asset used in the business of
the Company or its Subsidiaries as currently conducted; (b) no Related Person is indebted to the Company or its Subsidiaries; (c) no
Related Person has entered into, or has had any direct or indirect financial interest in, any contract entered into by the Company or
its Subsidiaries or other business arrangement involving the Company or its Subsidiaries; (d) neither the Company nor its
Subsidiaries have any claims, causes of action or other Liability to or by any Related Person, in each case, other than pursuant to any
agreement relating to the employment of any employee or consultant of the Company, the indemnification of any director or officer
of the Company or its Subsidiaries, any benefit plan or any agreement set forth in Schedule 4.23 and (e) to the knowledge of the
Company, no consultant or other independent contractor providing services to the Company or its Subsidiaries has any direct or
indirect interest (including any Equity Interest or other financial interest) in, or receives any form of compensation from, any Related
Person. For purposes of this Section 4.23, each of the following shall be deemed a “Related Person”: (i) each individual who is an
officer, director or employee of the Company; (ii) each Pre-Closing Holder who owns of record in excess of five percent (5%) of the
outstanding Company Capital Stock on a fully diluted basis; (iii) each member of the immediate family of each of the individuals
referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) above, where “immediate family” shall mean such individual’s spouse and minor children living in
such individual’s home and (iv) any trust or other entity, other than the Company, in which any one of the individuals referred to in
clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) above holds, or in which more
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than one of such individuals collectively hold, beneficially or otherwise, a material voting, proprietary, equity or other financial
interest.

Section 4.24    Books and Records. The Company has made and kept (and given Buyer access or made available to) true, correct and
complete books and records and accounts, which, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the activities of the Company and
its Subsidiaries. The minute books of the Company previously made available to Buyer were true and correct and accurately and
adequately reflect in all material respects all actions taken on behalf of the Company and its Subsidiaries by its stockholders and
board of directors (including any committee thereof). The share certificate books and transfer ledgers of the Company and its
Subsidiaries previously made available to Buyer are true, correct and complete, and accurately reflect all transactions effected in the
Shares of the Company and its Subsidiaries through and including the date hereof.

Section 4.25    Certain Business Practices. Neither the Company, its Subsidiaries, nor any of their respective owners, directors,
officers, agents, employees, representatives, subcontractors, or other third parties acting for or on behalf of the Company or any of
its Affiliates has, in each case in connection with the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ businesses, either directly or indirectly, offered,
authorized, made, agreed to make, or otherwise used any funds or other transfer of value in connection with any (a) unlawful
contributions, gifts, entertainment or other unlawful expenses, including expenses related to political activity, (b) unlawful payment
to foreign or domestic government officials or employees or to foreign or domestic political parties or campaigns, (c) bribes or
kickback payments, or otherwise taken any action that would constitute a violation of any provision of Anti-Corruption Laws, (d)
payment to any customer or supplier of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or have given any other consideration to any such
customer or supplier in respect of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ businesses, that violates applicable Law or (e) other unlawful
payment, offer, or expense.

Section 4.26    No Debarment. Neither the Company, its Subsidiaries, nor any officer, director, consultant, employee, manager or
agent acting for or on their behalf, has been, nor to the knowledge of the Company, has the Company or its Subsidiaries otherwise
used in any capacity any Person who has been, (a) debarred under 21 U.S.C. § 335a or any similar state or foreign Law, (v) excluded
from participation in federal health care programs under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1320a-7, 1320a-7a or any similar state or foreign applicable
Law, (c) disqualified by any Governmental Authority, (d) suspended or otherwise determined to be or identified as ineligible to
participate in any health care contracting program of any Governmental Authority, or (e) convicted of, charged with, investigated for
or engaged in any conduct that would reasonably be expected to result in such debarment, exclusion, disqualification, suspension, or
ineligibility. No debarment, exclusion or disqualification proceedings or investigations are pending or to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened against the Company, its Subsidiaries, or any officer, director, consultant, employee, manager or agent acting
for or on behalf of the Company. No proceedings are pending or to the knowledge of the Company, threatened that would reasonably
be expected to result in criminal liability, debarment, disqualification, or exclusion by any Governmental Authority.
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Section 4.27    Termination of Certain Agreements.

(a)    Each Investment Agreement shall, by its respective terms, automatically terminate, as of, or immediately prior to, the
Closing.

(b)    The Contracts set forth on Schedule 4.27 shall terminate as of, or immediately prior to, the Closing.

Section 4.28    Funded Debt. None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (a) is a guarantor of any indebtedness of any other
person, firm or corporation or (b) has any Funded Debt of any kind whatsoever, whether accrued, contingent, absolute, determined,
determinable or otherwise, and there is no existing condition, situation or set of circumstances which would reasonably be expected
to result in such a liability or debt.

Section 4.29    Data Privacy and Security.

(a)    The Company and its Subsidiaries are, and have at all times been, in compliance with (i) Privacy Laws, (ii) Contracts
(or portions thereof) between the Company or its Subsidiaries and distributors of the Company products, visitors to the Company’s
websites, vendors and other Persons relating to Personal Data and (iii) the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ internal and external
privacy policies and any other public statements or representations made by the Company or its Subsidiaries ((i), (ii) and (iii)
together, the “Privacy Commitments”). The Company and its Subsidiaries currently make, and have at all times made, available to
individuals privacy policies and such policies are, and have at all times been accurate, complete, not misrepresentative (including by
omission) of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ practices, as applicable, in relation to Personal Data. The execution, delivery, or
performance of this Agreement or the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (i) do not require
the delivery of any notice to or consent from any Person relating to Personal Data and (ii) will not conflict with or violate any
Privacy Commitments and (iii) will not prohibit the transfer of Personal Data to Buyer. For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent
Personal Data held or controlled by the Company is “personal information” under the CCPA, such data is an asset as contemplated
by Section 1798.140(t)(2)(D).

(b)    To the extent required by applicable Privacy Laws, the Company has a record of Personal Data processing activities
under the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ responsibility. The Company and its Subsidiaries have, and at all times have had, processes
in place to ensure their products and processing of Personal Data comply in all material respects with data protection by design and
default and data minimization including data retention schedules as required by Privacy Laws.

(c)    The Company and its Subsidiaries have maintained administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect the
confidentiality, integrity and security of Personal Data against any unauthorized control, use, access, interruption, modification,
deletion or corruption, including disaster recovery plans, data backup, data storage and system redundancy procedures and facilities
that are consistent with the practices of similarly situated companies in the industry of the Company, and takes and has taken
commercially reasonable steps to safeguard and back-
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up the Personal Data at secure off-site locations. The Company and its Subsidiaries have, and at all times have had, Contracts in
place with all vendors or other Persons whose relationship with the Company or its Subsidiaries involves such Person processing
Personal Data for or on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiaries, which Contracts require such Persons and their subcontractors to,
at minimum (i) implement and maintain administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect the confidentiality, integrity and
security of Personal Data and computer systems on or through which any Personal Data are stored, transmitted or otherwise
processed by such Person(ii) protect and process such Personal Data consistent with the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ Privacy
Commitments, as applicable, and (iii) notify Company or a Subsidiary of the Company of any data security breaches relating to such
Personal Data. To the knowledge of the Company at the date of this Agreement, such Persons have not breached any such privacy-
related obligations in their Contracts.

(d)    To the knowledge of the Company and its Subsidiaries, there has been no data security breach or any other
unauthorized access, use or disclosure of any Personal Data owned, used, stored, or controlled by or on behalf of the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries, including any such incident that would constitute a breach for which notification to individuals or any
Governmental Authority is required under Privacy Commitments and no such breach is threatened or suspected.

(e)    Except as disclosed on Schedule 4.29(e), neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries have received any notice of,
or been charged with, the violation of any Privacy Commitments, and there are no pending notices or Actions, of the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries by any Governmental Authority relating to Privacy Commitments, or civil actions against the Company
alleging any violation of Privacy Commitments. To the knowledge of the Company at the date of this Agreement, there are no facts,
circumstances or conditions that would reasonably be expected to form the basis for any notice or Action against or affecting the
Company, its Subsidiaries or any of their respective officers, directors, managers, managing directors or employees relating to or
arising under Privacy Commitments.

Section 4.30    No Outside Reliance. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article IV or any other provision hereof, each of the
Company and the Stockholder Representative acknowledges and agrees that neither Buyer nor Merger Sub nor any of their
respective Affiliates, nor any of its or their respective directors, officers, employees, stockholders, partners, members, agents or
representatives, has made, or is making, any representation or warranty whatsoever, express or implied (and neither the Company
nor the Stockholder Representative has relied on any representation, warranty or statement of any kind by Buyer or Merger Sub or
any of their respective Affiliates or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, stockholders, partners, members, agents or
representatives), beyond those expressly given in Article V. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is understood that
any plans, projections or other predictions, as well as any information, documents or other materials or presentations that have been
or shall hereafter be provided to the Company or any of its Affiliates, agents or representatives are not and will not be deemed to be
representations or warranties of the Buyer or Merger Sub and no representation or warranty is made as to the accuracy or
completeness of any of the foregoing.
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Section 4.31    No Additional Representations or Warranties. Except as provided in this Article IV, neither the Company nor any of
its Affiliates, nor any of their respective directors, officers, employees, stockholders, partners, members or representatives has made,
or is making, any representation or warranty whatsoever to Buyer or Merger Sub or their respective Affiliates, respective directors,
officers, employees, stockholders, partners, members or representatives, and no such party shall be liable in respect of the accuracy
or completeness of any information provided to Buyer or Merger Sub or their respective Affiliates, directors, officers, employees,
stockholders, partners, members or representatives.

ARTICLE V.
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER AND MERGER SUB

Except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedules, Buyer and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company as of the date
of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as follows (it being understood that each representation and warranty that calls for
disclosure as contained in this Article V is subject to (a) the exceptions and disclosures set forth in the section or subsection of the
Disclosure Schedules corresponding to the particular section or subsection in this Article V in which such representation and
warranty appears; and (b) any exceptions or disclosures disclosed in any other section or subsection of the Disclosure Schedules to
the extent that it is reasonably apparent, upon reading such disclosure, that the disclosure is responsive to such other section or
subsection of this Article V and such representation and warranty calls for disclosure):

Section 5.1    Corporate Organization. Buyer has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing
under the Laws of the State of Delaware. Merger Sub has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good
standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware. Buyer owns, beneficially and of record, all of the outstanding shares of capital
stock of Merger Sub, free and clear of all Liens, other than applicable restrictions under applicable securities Laws.

Section 5.2    Due Authorization. Each of Buyer and Merger Sub has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and (subject to the consents, approvals, authorizations and other requirements described in Section 5.4) to consummate
the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Buyer and Merger Sub
and the consummation by them of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized and approved by the
Board of Directors of each of Buyer and Merger Sub. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by each of
Buyer and Merger Sub and assuming this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company and the
Stockholder Representative, this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of each of Buyer and Merger Sub,
enforceable against Buyer and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, subject to the Remedies Exception.

Section 5.3    No Conflict. Assuming the making of all designations, declarations or filings with any Governmental Authority as
described in Section 5.4 and the receipt of all consents, approvals or authorizations of any Governmental Authority as described in
Section 5.4, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Buyer and Merger Sub and the consummation by them of the
transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not, as of the Closing, (a) violate
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any provision of, or result in the breach of any applicable Law to which Buyer or Merger Sub is subject, (b) conflict with the
certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents of Buyer or Merger Sub, or (c) violate any provision of or
result in a breach of any material agreement to which Buyer or Merger Sub is a party.

Section 5.4    Governmental Consents. Assuming the truth and completeness of the representations and warranties of the Company
contained in this Agreement, no consent, approval or authorization of, or designation, declaration or filing with, any Governmental
Authority is required on the part of Buyer or Merger Sub with respect to Buyer’s or Merger Sub’s execution or delivery of this
Agreement or the consummation by Buyer or Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby, except for (a) applicable
requirements of the HSR Act or any similar foreign Law and filing of the Merger with the Secretary of the State of Delaware, (b)
compliance with any applicable securities Laws, and (c) any consents, approvals, authorizations, designations, declarations or filings
which if not obtained or made, would not materially impair Buyer’s ability to consummate the Merger.

Section 5.5    Financial Ability. Buyer and/or Merger Sub have sufficient funds available to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement

Section 5.6    Brokers’ Fees. No broker, finder, investment banker or other Person is entitled to any brokerage fee, finders’ fee or
other similar commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by
Buyer or any of its Affiliates.

Section 5.7    No Additional Representations or Warranties. Except as provided in this Article V, neither the Buyer, Merger Sub nor
any of their respective Affiliates, nor any of their respective directors, officers, employees, stockholders, partners, members or
representatives has made, or is making, any representation or warranty whatsoever to the Company or its Affiliates, nor any of their
respective directors, officers, employees, stockholders, partners, members or representatives, and no such party shall be liable in
respect of the accuracy or completeness of any information provided to the Company or its respective Affiliates, directors, officers,
employees, stockholders, partners, members or representatives.

ARTICLE VI.
COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY

Section 6.1    Conduct of Business.

(a)    From the date of this Agreement until the earlier to occur of the Effective Time and the termination of this Agreement
pursuant to and in accordance with Section 10.1 (the “Pre-Closing Period”), except as set forth on Schedule 6.1(a), as required by
applicable Law or as specifically consented to in writing by Buyer, the Company shall carry on its business in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice. and, to the extent consistent with such business, preserve intact the present business of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, use commercially reasonable efforts to keep available the services of the current Employees of and
consultants to the Company and its Subsidiaries, use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve
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the assets (including intangible assets) and properties of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and use commercially reasonable efforts
to preserve the relationships of the Company and its Subsidiaries with those customers, suppliers, distributors, licensors, licensees,
and others having material business dealings with them, all with the goal of preserving unimpaired the goodwill and ongoing
businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries at the Effective Time.

(b)    In addition, without limiting the generality of Section 6.1(a), during the Pre-Closing Period, except as set forth in
Schedule 6.1(b), as required by applicable Law or as specifically consented to in writing by Buyer (which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Company shall not, except to the extent expressly provided otherwise in this
Agreement, do any of the following:

(i)    change or amend the Company Charter, Company Bylaws or other organizational documents of the Company, or
its Subsidiaries except as otherwise required by Law or as contemplated by the Restructuring;

(ii)    authorize for issuance, issue, grant, sell, deliver, dispose of, pledge or otherwise encumber any Equity Interests
of the Company or its Subsidiaries, except for issuances contemplated on Schedule 6.1 or of shares of Common Stock upon
the exercise of outstanding Company Options, except as contemplated by the Restructuring;

(iii)    authorize, approve, declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution, payable in cash, stock, property
or otherwise, in respect of the Company Capital Stock or the Equity Interests of the Company’s Subsidiaries, except as
contemplated by the Restructuring;

(iv)    acquire any Equity Interests of any other Person, other than as contemplated by the Restructuring;

(v)    adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation or dissolution, recapitalization or other reorganization, except as
contemplated by the Restructuring;

(vi)    split, combine or reclassify the outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock nor enter into any agreement with
respect to voting of any of the Company Capital Stock;

(vii)    (A) modify, amend or terminate (excluding any expiration in accordance with its terms) any Contract of a type
required to be listed on Schedule 4.12 or any material insurance policy required to be listed on Schedule 4.17, or (B) enter
into any Contract of a type that would be required to be listed on Schedule 4.12 if such Contract was in effect on the date
hereof;

(viii)    sell, assign, transfer, convey, lease, license, guarantee, mortgage, pledge, encumber or otherwise dispose of
any material assets or properties, except in the ordinary course of business;
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(ix)    (A) grant, extend, amend, divide, waive or modify the Company’s rights in or to any Company Intellectual
Property (except as required in the diligent prosecution of the Owned Intellectual Property Rights), including any rights
consisting of a license, covenant not to sue, immunity from suit, or any other similar rights and including by filing divisional
or continuation patent applications or by amending claim scope in pending patent applications (B) fail to diligently prosecute
any Company Intellectual Property for which the Company is responsible for prosecution or (C) fail to exercise a right of
renewal or extension under or with respect to its rights in any Licensed Intellectual Property Rights;

(x)    disclose any of the Company’s trade secrets outside of an appropriate confidentiality agreement;

(xi)    except as required by Law, existing Company Benefit Plans or existing Contracts, (A) grant any severance or
termination pay to any employee, director, consultant or other individual service provider of the Company or its Subsidiaries
which will become due and payable after the Closing Date; (B) grant any employee, director or consultant any increase in
compensation, bonuses or other benefits, (C) grant any new awards under any Company Benefit Plan, (D) amend or modify
any outstanding award under any Company Benefit Plan, (E) take any action to accelerate the payment, or to fund or in any
other way secure the payment, of compensation or benefits under any Company Benefit Plan, (F) hire or terminate (other
than for cause) the employment of an employee whose annual base salary exceeds one hundred and fifty thousand U.S.
Dollars ($150,000) (provided that the Company shall give notice to Buyer with respect to any hire or termination of an
employee whose annual base salary exceeds one hundred thousand U.S. Dollars ($100,000) but is less than one hundred and
fifty thousand U.S. Dollars ($150,000)); (F) engage or terminate the services of a consultant whose base compensation would
exceed one hundred thousand U.S. Dollars ($100,000) in the aggregate in any twelve (12) month period); (G) adopt, enter
into or materially amend any Company Benefit Plan; or (H) enter into any collective bargaining agreement; provided that,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Company may at any time (1) cause any Company Option,
or following consultation with Buyer, any existing phantom award, cash bonus right, or other existing equity or equity-based
award of the Company or any Subsidiary to become vested, subject to continued service until immediately prior to the
Effective Time, and (2) settle in cash or shares or make payments with respect to any Company Option, or following
consultation with Buyer, any existing phantom award, cash bonus right, or other existing equity or equity-based award of the
Company or any Subsidiary, in each case, so long as each award is generally treated in the same manner as other awards of
the same type or class issued by the Company or the applicable Subsidiary;

(xii)    acquire by merger or consolidation with, or merge or consolidate with, or purchase all or substantially all of
the assets of, any corporation, partnership, association, joint venture or other business organization or division thereof;
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(xiii)    make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person;

(xiv)    make any capital expenditures, other than any such expenditures as are not in excess of one hundred thousand
U.S. Dollars ($100,000) individually or two hundred and fifty thousand U.S. Dollars ($250,000) in the aggregate;

(xv)    incur any debt or issue any debt securities or warrants or other rights to acquire debt securities of the Company
or assume, guarantee or endorse, as an accommodation or otherwise, the obligations of any other Person for debt or capital
obligations, in the case of any of the foregoing;

(xvi)    enter into any transactions with or enter into an extension of credit with any Related Person;

(xvii)    settle, agree to settle or waive any lawsuits, actions, suits, subpoenas, investigations or civil investigative
demands, claims or other proceedings at law or in equity;

(xviii)    enter into any new line of business that is materially different from the current operations of the Company
and its Subsidiaries;

(xix)    (A) make or rescind any Tax election; (B) file any amended Tax Return; (C) enter into any Tax allocation
agreement, Tax sharing agreement, Tax indemnity agreement or closing agreement relating to any Tax; (D) surrender any
right to claim a Tax refund; (E) consent to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any Tax
claim or assessment; or (F) except as required by the Accounting Standards, make any material change to any accounting
principles, methods or practices;

(xx)    revalue any of its material assets except as required by the Accounting Standards;

(xxi)    enter into, modify, amend or terminate, or waive, release or assign any rights or claims under any Listed
Contract, Company Benefit Plan, Contracts for labor and employment matters set forth on Schedule 4.13(a) and Contracts
relating to insurance policies set forth on Schedule 4.17, or any Contract that would have been considered as part of the
foregoing if it had been entered into before the date hereof;

(xxii)    cancel any material third party debt owed to the Company, or grant any material discounts, credits or rebates
to any customer or supplier of the Company, other than in the ordinary course of business;

(xxiii)    make any material change in the strategy with respect to the development or Regulatory Approval of any
Preclinical Company Milestone Candidate;

(xxiv)    take any action that would cause the representations and warranties set forth in Article IV to become untrue;
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(xxv)    renew or enter into any non-compete, exclusivity, non-solicitation or other agreement that would restrict or
limit, in any material respect, the operations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries after consummation of the Merger;

(xxvi)    sell, assign, lease, license (other than non-exclusive grants of licenses to Intellectual Property Rights in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, with a contract term not to exceed one (1) year), dispose of, or
otherwise transfer, or create, incur, assume, or suffer to exist any Lien on, any Owned Intellectual Property Right;

(xxvii)    modify, amend, cancel, terminate, waive, release or assign any IP License or any rights, claims, obligations,
or benefits, thereunder or enter into any Contract that would have been an IP License had it been entered into prior to the
Effective Time;

(xxviii)     fail to maintain, or allow to lapse, dispose of or abandon, including by failure to pay the required fees in
any jurisdiction, any Owned Intellectual Property Right, or disclose or grant permission to enter into the public domain any
Confidential Information of the Company or its Subsidiaries;

(xxix)    take any action or omit to take any action that could reasonably be expected to trigger the release of source
code of any proprietary software included in the Owned Intellectual Property Rights or other products or services of the
Company or its Subsidiaries to any third party; or

(xxx)    enter into any agreement, or otherwise become obligated, to do any action prohibited under this Section
6.1(b).

(c)    During the Pre-Closing Period, prior to submission of material correspondence to any applicable Regulatory Authority
regarding TNB-585 or any Pre-Clinical Company Milestone Candidate, the Company shall, sufficiently in advance for Buyer to
review and comment, submit to Buyer proposed drafts of material correspondence with the FDA or other applicable Regulatory
Authority for Buyer’s review and comment prior to submission. The Company shall also provide Buyer with copies of all Product
Data and any material correspondence with the FDA or other applicable Regulatory Authority relating to the development of, or the
process of obtaining Regulatory Approval for, TNB-585 or any Preclinical Company Milestone Candidate anywhere in the world
received during the Pre-Closing Period.

(d)    Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Buyer, directly or indirectly, any right to control or direct the operations
of the Company prior to the Closing. Prior to the Closing, each of the Company and Buyer shall exercise, consistent with the other
terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete control and supervision over their respective businesses.

Section 6.2    No Solicitation.
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(a)    The Company shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated any negotiations and discussions with third parties
(other than Buyer) regarding an Acquisition Proposal. During the Pre-Closing Period, the Company shall not, and shall cause each
of the officers, directors, Subsidiaries, Affiliates, stockholders and employees of the Company and any investment banker, attorney
or other advisor or representative retained by the Company not to, directly or indirectly, (i) solicit, initiate, seek, encourage,
facilitate, support or induce the making, submission or announcement of any inquiry, expression of interest, proposal or offer that
constitutes, or would reasonably be expected to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal, (ii) enter into, participate in, maintain or continue
any negotiations regarding, or deliver or make available to any Person any non-public information with respect to, or take any other
action regarding, any inquiry, expression of interest, proposal or offer that constitutes, or would reasonably be expected to lead to, an
Acquisition Proposal, (iii) agree to, accept, approve, endorse or recommend (or publicly propose or announce any intention or desire
to agree to, accept, approve, endorse or recommend) any Acquisition Proposal, (iv) enter into any letter of intent or any other
Contract contemplating or otherwise relating to any Acquisition Proposal, or (v) submit any Acquisition Proposal to the vote of the
Company Stockholders. The Company shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated any and all existing activities, discussions
or negotiations with any Persons conducted prior to or on the date of this Agreement with respect to any Acquisition Proposal.

(b)    The Company shall notify Buyer as promptly as practicable upon receipt (and in no event later than twenty-four (24)
hours following such receipt) by it or any of its representatives of (i) any Acquisition Proposal, indication by any Person that it is
considering making an Acquisition Proposal or amendment or modification to an Acquisition Proposal, (ii) any request for non-
public information relating to the Company other than requests for information in the ordinary course of business and unrelated to an
Acquisition Proposal or (iii) any inquiry or request for discussions or negotiations regarding or reasonably likely to lead to any
Acquisition Proposal. As promptly as practicable (and in no event later than twenty-four (24) hours following receipt of an
Acquisition Proposal), the Company shall (i) notify Buyer of the identity of such Person and (ii) provide a copy of such Acquisition
Proposal, indication, inquiry or request (or, where no such copy is available, a description of such Acquisition Proposal, indication,
inquiry or request), including any modifications thereto.

Section 6.3    Confidentiality; Access.

(a)    Except as may be required by applicable Law or any listing agreement with any applicable national or regional
securities exchange or pursuant to the terms and provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement, the Pre-Closing Holders and the
Stockholder Representative hereby acknowledge, covenant and agree to hold any information that is non-public in confidence in
accordance with the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement. In the event this Agreement is terminated for any reason, the parties
shall promptly return or destroy such information in accordance with the Confidentiality Agreement.

(b)    Subject to applicable Law and upon reasonable notice, the Company shall afford Buyer and its employees, attorneys,
accountants, consultants and other representatives reasonable
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access, during normal business hours during the Pre-Closing Period, to its properties, books, contracts, Tax Returns and records and
appropriate individuals as Buyer may reasonably request (including employees, attorneys, accountants, consultants and other
professionals), and during such period, the Company shall furnish promptly to Buyer such information concerning its Business,
properties and personnel as Buyer may reasonably request, in each case including such access and information as is reasonably
necessary in order to conduct an audit pertaining to billing and reimbursement procedures associated with clinical and other studies
performed by or on behalf of the Company; provided, however, that the Company may restrict the foregoing access to the extent that
(i) any applicable Law requires the Company to restrict or prohibit access to any such properties or information to Buyer or (ii) such
access would waive any attorney-client privilege, work product doctrine or other privilege applicable to such documents or
information; provided, that the Company will use best efforts to provide Buyer with such information in a form and manner that will
not require the waiver of such privilege. Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing, the Company shall afford Buyer
reasonable access to its employees and consultants for purposes of discussing and negotiating employment and/or consulting
arrangements between the Surviving Corporation or its Affiliate and such employees and consultants to be effective after the
Effective Time. With respect to the furnishing by the Company of competitively sensitive information, outside antitrust counsel will
be consulted prior to the exchange of such information, and such information shall only be exchanged in accordance with the
safeguards and in the manner recommended by outside antitrust counsel for both parties to ensure that the exchange of such
information would not violate any applicable Laws. In addition, any information obtained from the Company pursuant to the access
contemplated by this Section 6.3(b) shall be subject to the Confidentiality Agreement. Any access to any of the Company’s facilities
shall be subject to the Company’s reasonable security measures and insurance requirements.

Section 6.4    Notification of Certain Matters.

(a)    By the Company. The Company shall promptly, after any of the Company’s officers obtains actual knowledge of such
matter, notify Buyer of any representation or warranty made by it contained in this Agreement becoming untrue or inaccurate in any
material respect, or any failure of the Company in any material respect to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or
agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it under this Agreement; provided, however, that the delivery of any notice pursuant to
this Section 6.4(a) shall not limit or otherwise affect the remedies available hereunder to Buyer or the representations, warranties or
covenants of the Company or the conditions to the obligations of Buyer. The Company shall promptly provide to Buyer in writing
copies of all Product Data reasonably relating to the Business and the TeneoOne Business arising, occurring, received or delivered
during the Pre-Closing Period. The Company shall promptly disclose any information that would reasonably be deemed to be
material information with respect to each Regulated Product and Company Product arising, occurring, received or delivered during
the Pre-Closing Period.

(b)    By Buyer. Buyer shall promptly, after any of Buyer’s officers obtain actual knowledge of such matter, notify the
Company of any representation or warranty made by it contained in this Agreement becoming untrue or inaccurate in any material
respect, or any failure
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in any material respect of Buyer to comply with or satisfy in any material respect any covenant, condition or agreement to be
complied with or satisfied by it under this Agreement; provided, however, that the delivery of any notice pursuant to this Section
6.4(b) shall not limit or otherwise affect the remedies available hereunder to the Company or the representations, warranties or
covenants of Buyer or the conditions to the obligations of the Company.

Section 6.5    HSR Act and Antitrust Approvals. In connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Company
shall (and, to the extent required, shall cause its Affiliates, including its “ultimate parent entity” as that term is defined in the HSR
Act, to) (a) comply promptly, but in no event later than fifteen (15) Business Days after the date hereof, with the notification and
reporting requirements of the HSR Act and request early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act and (b) as soon as
practicable, make such other filings or start any pre-notification proceedings with any foreign Governmental Authorities as may be
required under any applicable similar foreign Law. The Company shall use reasonable best efforts to respond to any Antitrust
Information or Document Requests made of the Company or any of its Affiliates.

Section 6.6    Consent of Company Stockholders. Promptly following the execution and delivery of this Agreement and receipt of
the Merger Consent (and in any event within two (2) Business Days after receipt of the Merger Consent), the Company shall:

(a)    prepare and mail to every Pre-Closing Holder a consent solicitation and information statement in a form satisfactory to
Buyer (the “Stockholder Notice”) in accordance with applicable Law, including Sections 228 and 262 of the DGCL, the CGCL, the
Company Charter and the Company Bylaws (i) notifying such Company Stockholder that (A) action has been taken by less than
unanimous written consent of the Company Stockholders, (B) this Agreement was duly adopted and (C) appraisal and dissenters
rights are available pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL, the CGCL and any other applicable Law of any other applicable
jurisdiction, (ii) soliciting such stockholders’ execution of a Written Consent enclosed therein and (iii) enclosing a Letter of
Transmittal; and

(b)    duly take all other lawful actions to obtain the Requisite Stockholder Approval. Any materials other than the
Stockholder Notice (including any amendments thereto) submitted to Company Stockholders in accordance with this Section 6.6
shall be subject to Buyer’s advance review and reasonable approval. Promptly following receipt of duly executed Written Consents
representing the Requisite Stockholder Approval, the Company shall cause its corporate Secretary to deliver copies of such Written
Consents to Buyer, together with a certificate executed on behalf of the Company by its corporate Secretary certifying that such
Written Consents reflects the Requisite Stockholder Approval.

Section 6.7    Data Room Disk. No later than three (3) days following the date of this Agreement, the Company shall deliver to
Buyer a disk containing copies of all documents then contained in the “TNB-585 Amgen Due Diligence” virtual data room at
comhttps://teneobio.sharepoint.commaintained by the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, which virtual data room shall contain all documents included in such virtual data room as of 11:59 p.m. (Eastern Time)
on the date that is one (1) day prior to the
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date of this Agreement, and the phrase “made available to Buyer” or similar phrases as used in the Agreement shall mean the subject
documents were posted to such data room.

Section 6.8    Restructuring.

(a)    Prior to the Closing, the Company shall use its best efforts to (i) prepare, execute and deliver all agreements,
instruments, certificates and other documents, (ii) make all filings, disclosures, applications and notifications, and (iii) perform all
such actions as may be required or advisable in connection with the consummation of the transactions pursuant to the Restructuring
Step Plan; provided that any such documents, filings, disclosures, applications, notices and other materials so prepared shall be
subject to Buyer’s review and approval prior to execution or submission (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld).

(b)    Prior to the Closing, the Company shall provide evidence in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer that (i) the
Company owns one hundred percent (100%) of the Equity Interests in each of TeneoThree, TeneoFive, TeneoSix, TeneoSeven,
TeneoEight, and TeneoNine (collectively, the “Acquired Subsidiaries”) free and clear of all Liens pursuant to the Restructuring Step
Plan, (ii) the Company has distributed or sold, as applicable, all Equity Interests in the Excluded Entities held by the Company
pursuant to the Restructuring Step Plan, and (iii) the other transactions described in the Restructuring Step Plan, including the
consummation of the TeneoOne Sale, have been completed as provided therein (the “Restructuring”). At the Closing, the Company
shall directly hold one hundred percent (100%) of the Equity Interests in each of the Acquired Subsidiaries and the Pre-Closing
Holders shall hold one hundred percent (100%) of the Equity Interests of the Company.

ARTICLE VII.
COVENANTS OF BUYER

Section 7.1    HSR Act and Antitrust Approvals. In connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Buyer shall (i)
comply promptly, but in no event later than fifteen (15) Business Days after the date hereof, with the notification and reporting
requirements of the HSR Act and use its reasonable best efforts to obtain early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act
and (ii) as soon as practicable, make such other filings or start pre-notification proceedings with any foreign Governmental
Authorities as may be required under any applicable similar foreign Law. Buyer shall use its reasonable best efforts to respond to
any Antitrust Information or Document Requests made of Buyer or any of its Affiliates.

Section 7.2    Director & Officer Indemnification and Insurance.

(a)    Prior to the Closing, the Company shall obtain, at its expense, a fully prepaid directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
policy approved by Buyer (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), which (i) has an effective term
of up to six (6) years from the Effective Time and (ii) covers the Company’s directors and officers for matters occurring at or prior to
the Effective Time (the “Company D&O Policy”). Buyer shall cause the Company D&O Policy to be maintained in full force and
effect for the term of such policy.
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(b)    Buyer shall cause the Company for a period of not less than six (6) years from the Effective Time to provide
indemnification of the Company’s former and current officers and directors that are no less favorable to those Persons than the
provisions of the indemnification agreements with the Company and the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Company, in
each case, as of the date of this Agreement.

Section 7.3    Employment Matters.

(a)    For a period of not less than twelve (12) months after the Closing Date, Buyer and its Affiliates shall provide, or shall
cause the Surviving Corporation to provide, to each employee of the Company and its Subsidiaries who continues in employment
with Buyer and its Affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation) immediately following the Closing (each, a “Continuing
Employee”), (i) a base salary or regular hourly wage, as applicable, that is not less than the base salary or regular hourly wage, as
applicable, provided to such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the execution of this Agreement, (ii) annual cash-based
bonus targets that are no less favorable than the cash-based bonus targets provided to such Continuing Employee immediately prior
to the execution of this Agreement, and (iii) employee and fringe benefits (including, health, welfare, retirement and severance
benefits but excluding equity and long-term incentive compensation) that are, in the aggregate and at a minimum, substantially
equivalent to the benefits provided to such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the execution of this Agreement.

(b)    Effective as of the Closing and thereafter, Buyer and its Affiliates shall recognize, or shall cause the Surviving
Corporation to recognize, each Continuing Employee’s employment or service with the Company (including any current or former
Affiliate of the Company or any predecessor of the Company) prior to the Closing for all purposes, including for purposes of
determining, as applicable, eligibility for participation, vesting and entitlement of the Continuing Employee under all employee
benefit plans maintained by the Surviving Corporation, Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer, including vacation plans or arrangements,
retirement plans and any severance or welfare plans (but excluding equity-based compensation plans), except to the extent such
recognition would result in a duplication of benefits and other than for benefit accrual purposes under any defined benefit pension
plan. In addition, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Buyer and its Affiliates shall use commercially reasonable
efforts, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to use commercially reasonable efforts, to the extent not prohibited by the terms, or
by any third party administrator, of any fully insured medical, dental, pharmaceutical or vision benefit plan of the Surviving
Corporation, Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer (i) to cause any pre-existing conditions or limitations, eligibility waiting periods,
actively at work requirements, evidence of insurability requirements or required physical examinations under any health or similar
plan of the Surviving Corporation, Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer to be waived with respect to Continuing Employees and their
eligible dependents, except to the extent that any waiting period, exclusions or requirements still applied to such Continuing
Employee under the comparable Company Benefit Plan in which such Continuing Employee participated immediately before the
Closing, and to (ii) credit each Continuing Employee with all deductible payments, co-payments and other out-of-pocket expenses
incurred by such Continuing Employee and his or her covered dependents under the medical, dental,
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pharmaceutical or vision benefit plans of the Company prior to the Closing during the plan year in which the Closing occurs for the
purpose of determining the extent to which such Continuing Employee has satisfied the deductible, co-payments, or maximum out-
of-pocket requirements applicable to such Continuing Employee and his or her covered dependents for such plan year under any
medical, dental, pharmaceutical or vision benefit plan of the Surviving Corporation, Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer, as if such
amounts had been paid in accordance with such plan (to the extent such credit would have been given under comparable Company
Benefit Plans prior to the Closing).

(c)    Effective no later than the day immediately prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall take or cause to be taken all
actions necessary to terminate any and all Company Benefit Plans intended to qualify as qualified cash or deferred arrangements
under Section 401(k) of the Code (each, a “Company 401(k) Plan”). The Company shall provide Buyer with evidence that such Plan
has been terminated (the form and substance of which shall be subject to review and approval by Buyer) no later than the day
immediately prior to the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, in connection with the termination of such Company Benefit
Plans, all Company matching contributions will fully vest. Prior to the Closing Date and thereafter (as applicable), the Company and
Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to permit each Continuing Employee to make rollover contributions of “eligible
rollover distributions” (within the meaning of Section 401(a)(31) of the Code), excluding rollovers of outstanding plan loans, in an
amount equal to the full account balance distributed or distributable to such Continuing Employee from the Company 401(k) Plan to
Buyer’s benefit plan intended to qualify as qualified cash or deferred arrangements under Section 401(k) of the Code. With respect
to each Company Benefit Plan sponsored or maintained by a professional employer organization, the Company shall take all
necessary action to (i) cause the active participation by the Company and its employees in such plan to terminate and cease effective
prior to the Closing, and (ii) terminate the service agreement with such professional employer organization effective prior to the
Closing.

(d)    If any Person who is a “disqualified individual” (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and the Department
of Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder) with respect to the Company or its Subsidiaries (including any Excluded Entity)
may receive any payment(s) or benefit(s) that would reasonably be expected to constitute parachute payments under Section 280G
of the Code in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, then: (a) the Company shall undertake
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain and deliver to Buyer a Parachute Payment Waiver from each such “disqualified
individual”; and (b) as soon as practicable following the delivery of the Parachute Payment Waivers (if any) to Buyer, the Company
shall prepare and distribute to its shareholders a disclosure statement describing all potential parachute payments and benefits that
may be received by such disqualified individual(s) who executed a Parachute Payment Waiver and shall submit such payments to its
shareholders for approval, in each case, in accordance with the requirements of Section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code and the
Department of Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, such that, if approved by the requisite majority of the shareholders,
such payments and benefits shall not be deemed to be “parachute payments” under Section 280G of the Code (the foregoing actions,
a “280G Vote”). Prior to the Closing, if a 280G Vote is required to be
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undertaken pursuant to the foregoing subclause (b), the Company shall deliver to Buyer evidence reasonably satisfactory to Buyer,
(i) that a 280G Vote was solicited in conformance with Section 280G of the Code, and the requisite shareholder approval was
obtained with respect to any payments and/or benefits that were subject to the Company shareholder vote (the “Section 280G
Approval”) or (ii) that the Section 280G Approval was not obtained and as a consequence, pursuant to the Parachute Payment
Waiver, such “parachute payments” shall not be made or provided. The form of the Parachute Payment Waiver, the disclosure
statement, any other materials to be submitted to the Company’s shareholders in connection with the Section 280G Approval and the
calculations related to the foregoing shall be subject to advance review by Buyer, and the Company shall consider in good faith any
comments provided by Buyer. Prior to the Company soliciting the approval described in this paragraph, Buyer shall notify the
Company of any payments Buyer or any of its Affiliates intends to make to any such disqualified individuals, if such payments
would reasonably be considered parachute payments under Section 280G of the Code (such payments, “Buyer Parachute
Payments”); provided that, if Buyer does not timely notify the Company of such Buyer Parachute Payments, this Section 7.3(d) shall
not apply to such Buyer Parachute Payments.

(e)    Nothing contained in this Agreement shall, or shall be construed so as to, (i) prevent or restrict in any way the right of
the Buyer or its Affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation) to terminate, reassign, promote or demote any employee,
independent contractor, director or other service provider of the Company or its Subsidiaries (or to cause any of the foregoing
actions) at any time following the Closing, or to change (or cause the change of) the title, powers, duties, responsibilities, functions,
locations, salaries, other compensation or terms or conditions of employment or service of any such service providers at any time
following the Closing; (ii) constitute an amendment or modification of any Company Benefits Plan or employee benefit plan; or (iii)
create any third party rights in any such current or former service provider of the Company or its Subsidiaries (including any
beneficiary or dependent thereof); or (iv) obligate the Buyer to adopt or maintain any particular plan or program or other
compensatory or benefits arrangement at any time or prevent the Buyer from modifying or terminating any such plan, program or
other compensatory or benefits arrangement at any time.

ARTICLE VIII.
JOINT COVENANTS

Section 8.1    Support of Transaction. Without limiting any covenant contained in Article VI or Article VII, Buyer and the Company
shall each, and Buyer shall cause its Subsidiaries to: (a) use reasonable best efforts to assemble, prepare and file any information
(and, as needed, to supplement such information) as may be reasonably necessary to obtain as promptly as practicable all
governmental and regulatory consents required to be obtained in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby (other than
approvals under the HSR act or any other approvals, consents and decrees under antitrust or competition law, which matters are
exclusively addressed in Sections 6.5, 7.1 and 8.6); (b) use reasonable best efforts to obtain all material consents and approvals of
third parties that any of Buyer, the Company or their respective Affiliates are required to obtain in order to consummate the Merger,
including the Required Third Party Consents; and (c) take such other action as may reasonably be necessary or
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as another party may reasonably request to satisfy the conditions of Article IX or otherwise to comply with this Agreement and to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby as soon as practicable (but in any event prior to the Outside Date).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall Buyer or its Affiliates be obligated to bear any expense or pay any fee (other than
the payment of nominal administrative, processing or similar fees or charges or legal fees to its attorneys) or grant any concession in
connection with obtaining any consents, authorizations or approvals required in order to consummate the Merger pursuant to the
terms of any Contract to which the Company is a party.

Section 8.2    Escrow Agreement. Each of the Company, the Stockholder Representative and Buyer shall execute and deliver to one
another, at the Closing, the Escrow Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F (the “Escrow Agreement”).

Section 8.3    Stockholder Approval. Within two (2) Business Days after the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Company
shall, in accordance with the DGCL and the CGCL, the Company Charter and the Company Bylaws, obtain and deliver to Buyer the
Merger Consent.

Section 8.4    Further Assurances. Each party hereto agrees that, from time to time after the Closing Date, it will execute and deliver,
or cause its Affiliates to execute and deliver, such further instruments, and take (or cause its Affiliates to take) such other action, as
may be reasonably necessary to carry out the purposes and intents of this Agreement.

Section 8.5    Tax Matters.

(a)    The Stockholder Representative shall prepare and timely file, or shall cause to be prepared and timely filed, all Tax
Returns in respect of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that relate to taxable periods ending on or before the Closing that are
required to be filed after the Closing, and the Pre-Closing Holders shall pay, or cause to be paid, all Taxes due with respect to such
Tax Returns to the extent such Taxes were not reflected in Closing Date Funded Debt (as finally determined in accordance with
Section 3.4(b)). At least twenty (20) days prior to filing any such Tax Return, the Stockholder Representative shall submit a copy of
such Tax Return to the Buyer for the Buyer’s review and comment and shall incorporate all reasonable comments provided by Buyer
no less than five (5) Business Days prior to the due date of such Tax Returns. The Pre-Closing Holders shall make the payment due
to the Company under this Section 8.5(a) at least two (2) Business Days before payment of Taxes (including for the avoidance of
doubt estimated Taxes) is due to the applicable Tax Authority.

(b)    The Company shall prepare and timely file, or cause to be prepared and timely filed, any Tax Return (a “Straddle Period
Tax Return”) required to be filed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for any Straddle Period, and the Pre-Closing Holders
shall pay, or cause to be paid, all Taxes due with respect to such Tax Returns to the extent such Taxes are both (i) allocable to the
Pre-Closing Tax Period and (ii) not reflected in Closing Date Funded Debt (as finally determined in accordance with Section 3.4(b)).
The Company shall deliver at least ten (10) days prior to the due date (taking into account any extension) for the filing of such
Straddle Period Tax Returns to the Stockholder Representative for the Stockholder Representative’s
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review a draft of all such Straddle Period Tax Returns. The Company shall consider in good faith any reasonable comment that the
Stockholder Representative submits to the Company no less than five (5) Business Days prior to the due date of such Straddle Period
Tax Returns. The Pre-Closing Holders shall make the payment due to the Company under this Section 8.5(b) at least two (2)
Business Days before payment of Taxes (including, for the avoidance of doubt, estimated Taxes) is due to the applicable Tax
Authority.

(c)    For purposes of this Agreement, with respect to a Straddle Period, (x) in the case of any Property Taxes, the amount of
such Property Taxes that relates to the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be equal to the amount of such Property Taxes for the entire
Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days during the Straddle Period that are in
the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the denominator of which is the total number of calendar days in the Straddle Period, and (y) in the
case of any Taxes other than Property Taxes, the amount of such Taxes that relates to the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be determined
as though the taxable year of the Company and its Subsidiaries terminated at the close of business on the Closing Date.

(d)    Buyer and the Company and its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and the Stockholder Representative, the Pre-Closing
Holders and their respective Affiliates, on the other hand, shall promptly notify each other upon receipt by such party of written
notice of any inquiries, claims, assessments, audits or similar events with respect to Taxes or Tax Returns of the Company and its
Subsidiaries relating to a Pre-Closing Tax Period (any such inquiry, claim, assessment, audit or similar event, a “Tax Contest”). Any
failure to so notify the other party of any Tax Contest shall not relieve such other party of any liability with respect to such Tax
Contest except to the extent such party was actually prejudiced as a result thereof. The Stockholder Representative may elect to
control the conduct of any Tax Contest that relates solely to taxable periods ending on or before the Closing Date and is not expected
to have a material adverse effect on Buyer or the Company with respect to taxable periods (or portions thereof) beginning after the
Closing Date (a “Seller Tax Contest”), including any settlement or compromise thereof; provided, however, that the Stockholder
Representative shall keep Buyer reasonably informed of the progress of any Seller Tax Contest, and Buyer shall be entitled to
participate in any Seller Tax Contest. The Stockholder Representative shall not settle or compromise any Seller Tax Contest without
obtaining Buyer’s prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Buyer shall have sole control of the
conduct of all other Tax Contests, including any settlement or compromise thereof; provided, however, that Buyer shall keep the
Stockholder Representative reasonably informed of the progress of any such Tax Contest, and the Stockholder Representative shall
be entitled to participate in any such Tax Contest at the Pre-Closing Holders’ sole cost and expense. Buyer shall not settle or
compromise any such Tax Contest with respect to which Pre-Closing Holders are liable pursuant to Article XI without obtaining the
Stockholder Representative’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. [***]

(e)    The Pre-Closing Holders shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by Buyer, in connection with
the filing of any Tax Returns of the Company and its Subsidiaries and in any audit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to
Taxes. Buyer and the
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Pre-Closing Holders agree to furnish or cause to be furnished to the other, upon request, as promptly as practicable, such information
and assistance relating to Taxes, including access to books and records, as is reasonably necessary for the filing of all Tax Returns by
Buyer or the Pre-Closing Holders, the making of any election relating to Taxes, the preparation for any audit by any Tax Authority
and the prosecution or defense of any claim, suit or proceeding relating to any Tax. Each of Buyer and the Pre-Closing Holders shall
retain all books and records with respect to Taxes for a period of at least seven (7) years following the Closing.

(f)    All Transfer Taxes, if any, arising out of or in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be
paid one-half (1/2) by the Pre-Closing Holders and one-half (1/2) by Buyer when due. The Pre-Closing Holders further agree, upon
request, to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any certificate or other document from any Tax Authority or any other
Person as may be necessary to mitigate, reduce or eliminate any Transfer Taxes that could be imposed in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby.

(g)    In the case of any conflict, overlap or inconsistency between this Section 8.5 and Article XI, this Section 8.5 shall
control as to Tax matters.

Section 8.6    HSR Act and Antitrust Approvals.

(a)    Each of Buyer and the Company shall exercise its reasonable best efforts and take all necessary steps to (i) obtain
termination or expiration of the waiting period under the HSR Act and such other approvals, consents and clearances as may be
necessary, proper or advisable under any foreign antitrust or competition laws (collectively, “Antitrust Laws”), in each case, as soon
as practicable (but in any event prior to the Outside Date), (ii) furnish to the other party all information required for any application
or other filing to be made pursuant to any Law in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (iii)
otherwise cooperate with the other parties hereto in connection with any filing and in connection with resolving any investigation or
other inquiry of any Governmental Authority.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, including the provisions contained in Article VI
and Article VII, none of Buyer, Merger Sub, the Company or their respective Affiliates shall be required to, and the Company and its
Affiliates may not, without the prior written consent of Buyer, become subject to, consent to, or offer or agree to, or otherwise take
any action with respect to, any requirement, condition, limitation, understanding, agreement or Governmental Order to: (i) pay any
sums or concede anything of value (other than filing fees under the HSR Act and other Antitrust Laws and reasonable professional
advisors’ fees in connection therewith); (ii) sell, license, assign, transfer, divest, hold separate or otherwise dispose of, or agree to
sell, license, assign, transfer, divest, hold separate or otherwise dispose of, any assets, business or portion of the business of the
Company, Buyer or their respective Affiliates or otherwise commit to take any action that would reasonably be expected to limit
Buyer’s, Merger Sub’s, the Company’s or any of their respective Affiliates’ action with respect to, or their ability to retain, one or
more businesses, product lines or assets; (iii) conduct, restrict, operate, invest or otherwise change the assets, business or any portion
of business of Buyer, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates in any manner; (iv) impose any restriction, requirement or
limitation on the operation of the business or any portion of the business of
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Buyer, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates; (v) terminate, modify or extend any existing relationships and contractual
rights and obligations of Buyer, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates; (vi) establish or create any relationships and
contractual rights and obligations of Buyer, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates; (vii) terminate any relevant venture or
other arrangement; (viii) effectuate any other change or restructuring of Buyer, the Company or their respective Affiliates (and, in
each case, to enter into agreements or stipulate to the entry of an Order or file appropriate applications with the Federal Trade
Commission, the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice or other Governmental Authority); or (ix) litigate (or defend)
against any administrative or judicial Action (including any proceeding seeking a temporary restraining order or preliminary
injunction) challenging any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as violative of any applicable Law; provided that, if
requested by Buyer (in its sole and absolute discretion), the Company shall, and shall cause any of its controlled Affiliates to,
become subject to, consent to, or offer or agree to, or otherwise take any action with respect to, any such requirement, condition,
limitation, understanding, agreement or Governmental Order so long as such requirement, condition, limitation, understanding,
agreement or Governmental Order is only binding on the Company or any of its controlled Affiliate after the Closing (in the event
the Closing occurs). In addition, Buyer and its Affiliates shall be permitted to acquire any Equity Interest in, acquire any, all or
substantially all of the assets of, merge, consolidate, enter into a share exchange or business combination with, or enter into any
other similar transaction or series of transactions with, any Person and the parties agree that no such transaction shall be a breach of
Section 8.1 or this Section 8.6.

(c)    Each of Buyer and the Company shall promptly furnish to the other party copies of any notices or written
communications received or given by such party or any of its Affiliates from or to any third party or any Governmental Authority
with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and such party shall permit counsel to the other party an
opportunity to review in advance, to the extent reasonably practicable, and shall consider in good faith the views of such counsel in
connection with, any proposed written communications by such party and its Affiliates to any third party or any Governmental
Authority concerning the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Each of Buyer and the Company agrees to provide the other
party and its counsel the opportunity, on reasonable advance notice, to participate in any substantive meetings or discussions, either
in person or by telephone, between such party and any of its Affiliates, agents or advisors, on the one hand, and any third party or
any Governmental Authority, on the other hand, concerning or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby; provided
that Buyer shall lead all communications and strategy for dealing with the FTC, the DOJ and any other Governmental Authority in
connection with any review pursuant to the HSR Act or any other applicable Antitrust Laws. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, each of Buyer and the Company shall provide to the other (or the other’s respective advisors) upon request copies of all
correspondence between such party and any Governmental Authority relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Buyer and the Company, as applicable, may, as such party deems
advisable and necessary, (1) redact materials provided to the other under this Section 8.6(c) to (A) remove references concerning the
valuation of Buyer, Merger Sub, the Company, or any of their respective Subsidiaries or assets, (B) as necessary to
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comply with contractual arrangements, and (C) as necessary to address reasonable privilege concerns, and (2) designate any
competitively sensitive materials provided to the other under this Section 8.6(c) as ‘outside counsel only,’ which materials and the
information contained therein shall be given only to outside counsel of the recipient and will not be disclosed by such outside
counsel to employees, officers, or directors of the recipient without the advance written consent of the party providing such
materials. In addition, to the extent reasonably practicable, all discussions, telephone calls, and meetings with a Governmental
Authority regarding the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall include representatives of both Buyer and the Company.
Subject to applicable Law, each of Buyer and the Company will consult and cooperate with each other in connection with any
analyses, appearances, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, and proposals made or submitted to any Governmental
Authority regarding the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by such party or on its behalf.

(d)    Buyer shall be responsible for the payment of, and shall pay or cause to be paid on its behalf, all filing fees under the
HSR Act and other similar Antitrust Laws (whether domestic or foreign), to the extent applicable.

ARTICLE IX.
CONDITIONS TO OBLIGATIONS

Section 9.1    Conditions to the Obligations of Buyer, Merger Sub and the Company. The obligations of Buyer, Merger Sub and the
Company to consummate, or cause to be consummated, the Merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions, any
one or more of which may be waived in writing by all of such parties:

(a)    All waiting periods under the HSR Act applicable to the Merger shall have expired or been terminated and all consents
or approvals applicable to or advisable in connection with the Merger under any foreign antitrust law shall have been obtained.

(b)    No Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any
statute, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, injunction or other order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) which is in
effect and which prohibits, restrains, enjoins or makes illegal the consummation of the Merger, and there shall not be any threatened,
instituted or pending action by a Governmental Authority seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the consummation of the Merger or
other transactions under this Agreement.

(c)    The Merger Consent shall have been validly obtained and be in full force and effect.

Section 9.2    Conditions to the Obligations of Buyer and Merger Sub.

The obligations of Buyer and Merger Sub to consummate, or cause to be consummated, the Merger are subject to the
satisfaction of the following additional conditions, any one or more of which may be waived in writing by Buyer and Merger Sub:
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(a)    Each of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Article IV, disregarding all qualifications
contained herein relating to materiality or Material Adverse Effect, shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date hereof and
as of the Closing Date, as if made anew at and as of that date, except with respect to representations and warranties which speak as
to an earlier date, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct at and as of such date, except for (i) any inaccuracy
or omission that would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) notwithstanding Section 9.2(a)(i), (A) the
Fundamental Representations, shall be true and correct in all respects except for such inaccuracies which are de minimis,
individually or in the aggregate and (B) the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.11 and Section 4.20 shall be true
and correct in all material respects.

(b)    Each of the covenants of the Company to be performed at or prior to the Closing shall have been performed in all
material respects.

(c)    The Company shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate signed by an officer of the Company, dated as of the Closing
Date, certifying that, to the knowledge and belief of such officer, the conditions specified in Section 9.2(a) and Section 9.2(b) have
been fulfilled.

(d)    The Company shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate in accordance with the requirements of Treasury Regulation
Sections 1.897-2(h) and 1.1445-2(c)(3) dated within thirty (30) days prior to the Closing Date certifying that the Company is not a
“United States real property holding corporation” within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the Code along with written
authorization for Buyer to deliver such notice form to the IRS on behalf of the Company upon Closing.

(e)    There shall not have occurred since the Company Balance Sheet Date any Material Adverse Effect nor shall events have
occurred that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(f)    The Required Third Party Consents shall have been obtained in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer.

(g)    The Restructuring shall have been completed pursuant to the Restructuring Step Plan.

(h)    The Company shall have delivered to Buyer the Second Amended and Restated License Agreements executed by each
of TeneoTwo, TeneoFour and TeneoTen and such Second Amended and Restated License Agreements shall not have been
terminated and shall be in full force and effect.

(i)    No less than three (3) days prior to the Closing Date, the Company will have obtained and delivered to Buyer true,
correct and complete copies of Written Consents executed by Company Stockholders representing (a) ninety percent (90%) of the
votes represented by all outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis and
(b) each Pre-Closing Holder who owns in excess of five percent (5%) of the
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outstanding Company Capital Stock on a fully diluted basis (the “Requisite Stockholder Approval”) and such Requisite Stockholder
Approval shall have been validly obtained and be in full force and effect at the Closing.

(j)    Evidence satisfactory to Buyer that each Company Benefit Plan intended to be qualified under Section 401(k) of the
Code has been terminated effective as of the day immediately prior to the Closing pursuant to resolutions duly adopted by the board
of directors of the Company sponsoring such Company Benefit Plan(s).

(k)    If a 280G Vote is required to be undertaken under Section 7.3(d) hereof, (i) the Company shall have solicited from each
Person who is eligible to receive a payment that may constitute a “parachute payment” under Section 280G of the Code prior to
soliciting the Section 280G Approval and, to the extent received by the Company, delivered to Buyer each signed Parachute
Payment Waiver and (ii) to the extent any Parachute Payment Waivers are executed, the Company’s shareholders shall have
(A) approved, pursuant to the method provided for in the regulations promulgated under Section 280G of the Code, any such
“parachute payments” or (B) shall have voted upon and disapproved such “parachute payments,” and, as a consequence, such
“parachute payments” shall not be paid or provided for in any manner and Buyer and its Affiliates shall not have any Liabilities with
respect to such “parachute payments.”

Section 9.3    Conditions to the Obligations of the Company. The obligations of the Company to consummate, or cause to be
consummated, the Merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following additional conditions, any one or more of which may be
waived in writing by the Company:

(a)    Each of the representations and warranties of Buyer and Merger Sub contained in Article V, disregarding all
qualifications contained herein relating to materiality or Material Adverse Effect, shall be true and correct in all material respects as
of the Closing Date, as if made anew at and as of that date, except with respect to representations and warranties which speak as to
an earlier date, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct at and as of such date, except for (i) any inaccuracy or
omission that would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Buyer’s ability to consummate the Merger, and
(ii) the representations and warranties set forth in Section 5.1, Section 5.2, Section 5.3, and Section 5.4 shall be true and correct in
all respects except for such inaccuracies which are de minimis, individually or in the aggregate.

(b)    Each of the covenants of Buyer and Merger Sub to be performed at or prior to the Closing shall have been performed in
all material respects.

(c)    Buyer shall have delivered to the Company a certificate signed by an officer of Buyer, dated as of the Closing Date,
certifying that, to the knowledge and belief of such officer, the conditions specified in Section 9.3(a) and Section 9.3(b) have been
fulfilled.

Section 9.4    Waiver of Conditions; Frustration of Conditions. All conditions to the Closing shall be deemed to have been satisfied
or waived following the Effective Time. None of the Company, Buyer or Merger Sub may rely on the failure of any condition set
forth in this
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Article IX to be satisfied if such failure was caused by the failure of the Company, on the one hand, or Buyer or Merger Sub, on the
other hand, respectively, to comply with its obligations under this Agreement.

ARTICLE X.
TERMINATION

Section 10.1    Termination. This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated hereby abandoned at any time
prior to the Closing:

(a)    by duly authorized mutual written consent of Buyer and the Company;

(b)    by written notice to the Company from Buyer if:

(i)    there is any material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of the Company
set forth in this Agreement, such that the conditions specified in Section 9.2(a) or Section 9.2(b) would not be satisfied at the
Closing, except that, if such breach is curable by the Company through the exercise of its reasonable best efforts, then, for a
period of up to thirty (30) days after receipt by the Company of notice from Buyer of such breach, but only as long as the
Company continues to use its reasonable best efforts to cure such breach (the “Company Cure Period”), such termination not
to be effective until the end on the Company Cure Period, and such termination shall become effective only if such breach is
not cured within the Company Cure Period;

(ii)    the Closing has not occurred on or before October 25, 2021 (the “Outside Date”), unless Buyer’s or Merger
Sub’s breach is the primary reason for the Closing not occurring on or before such date;

(iii)    the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby is permanently enjoined, prohibited or
otherwise restrained by the terms of a final, non-appealable order or judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction; or

(iv)    if the Merger Consent has not been delivered within one (1) Business Day following the execution and delivery
of this Agreement; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.1(b)(iv) shall
terminate upon delivery of the Merger Consent;

(c)    by written notice to Buyer from the Company if:

(i)    there is any material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of Buyer or
Merger Sub set forth in this Agreement, such that the conditions specified in Section 9.3(a) or Section 9.3(b) would not be
satisfied at the Closing, except that, if any such breach is curable by Buyer through the exercise of its reasonable best efforts,
then, for a period of up to thirty (30) days after receipt by Buyer of notice from the Company of such breach, but only as long
as Buyer continues to
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exercise such reasonable best efforts to cure such breach (the “Buyer Cure Period”), such termination not to be effective until
the end on the Buyer Cure Period, and such termination shall become effective only if such breach is not cured within the
Buyer Cure Period;

(ii)    the Closing has not occurred on or before the Outside Date, unless the Company’s breach is the primary reason
for the Closing not occurring on or before such date; or

(iii)    the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby is permanently enjoined, prohibited or
otherwise restrained by the terms of a final, non-appealable order or judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction.

Section 10.2    Effect of Termination. Except as otherwise set forth in this Section 10.2, in the event of the termination of this
Agreement pursuant to Section 10.1, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and have no effect, without any liability on the
part of any party hereto or its respective Affiliates, officers, directors, employees or stockholders, other than liability of the
Company, Buyer or Merger Sub, as the case may be, for any fraud or willful breach of this Agreement occurring prior to such
termination, provided that the provisions of this Article X, and Article XIII, and the definitions used therein, shall survive the
termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XI.
INDEMNIFICATION

Section 11.1    Survival of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of Buyer, Merger Sub and the
Company contained herein shall survive the Closing and the Buyer Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to seek indemnification
pursuant to Section 11.2(a) or Section 11.3(a), as applicable, (i) with respect to Section 4.15 (Taxes), until the thirtieth (30th) day
following the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations (including any extensions thereto) (ii) with respect to all other
Fundamental Representations, until the date that is seven (7) years following the Closing, (iii) with respect to the Semi-Fundamental
Representations, until the date that is three (3) years following the Closing, and (iv) with respect to all other representations and
warranties of Buyer, Merger Sub and the Company herein, until the date that is fifteen (15) months following the Closing. Each
Indemnified Party must give written notice to the respective Indemnifying Party of any claim for indemnification under this Article
XI in accordance with Section 11.5. Any claim for indemnification made in writing by the Indemnified Party on or prior to the
expiration of the applicable survival period shall survive until such claim is finally and fully resolved. All of the covenants and other
agreements of Buyer, Merger Sub and the Company contained in this Agreement shall survive until fully performed or fulfilled.

Section 11.2    Indemnification of Buyer. From and after the Closing, Buyer and its Affiliates (including, from and after the Closing,
the Surviving Corporation) and each of their respective officers, directors, employees, agents and each Person, if any, who controls
or may control Buyer within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (each, a “Buyer Indemnified Party”) shall be
indemnified, held harmless and reimbursed by the Pre-Closing Holders, on a
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several and not joint basis in accordance with their Pro Rata Percentage (except with respect to fraud of which such Pre-Closing
Holder had actual knowledge, in which case such Pro Rata Percentage limitation shall not apply), against any and all Losses,
whether or not involving a Third Party Claim, arising out of, related to, or resulting from, directly or indirectly:

(a)    the breach or violation of or inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made by the Company on the date of this
Agreement or on the Closing Date contained in this Agreement (in each case, as such representation or warranty would read if all
qualifications as to materiality, including each reference to the words “Material Adverse Effect,” “material” and “materiality” and all
similar phrases and words, were deleted therefrom);

(b)    the breach or violation of any covenant or agreement of the Company contained in this Agreement or in any other
document executed and delivered by the Company or any PreClosing Holders, as applicable, in connection with the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby;

(c)    any fraud by the Company under this Agreement;

(d)    any Action by a stockholder or former stockholder of the Company, or by any other Person, seeking to assert, or based
upon: (i) ownership or rights to ownership of any shares of Company Capital Stock, Company Options or any other Equity Interest
in the Company or interest in the Final Merger Consideration, or (ii) any right of a stockholder or optionholder of the Company
(other than the right to receive the Final Merger Consideration or the Option Consideration, as the case may be, pursuant to this
Agreement), including any option, preemptive right or right to notice or to vote;

(e)    any Actions or disputes with respect to (i) the allocation or payment among the Pre-Closing Holders and any other
Person of any Final Merger Consideration or Option Consideration pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, (ii) any claim that the
Payment Spreadsheet is not true, complete and correct in all respects, (iii) appraisal or dissenters’ rights under DGCL and CGCL,
(iv) any claims arising in connection with the Restructuring; or (v) any other claims by any stockholder or former stockholder of the
Company, in its capacity as such, against the Company or its directors, officers, or agents;

(f)    any Liabilities related to the Excluded Entities or the Excluded Business or the TeneoOne Sale, whether before or after
the Closing, including the Excluded Employee Liabilities; provided, however, that with respect to TeneoOne, Liabilities under this
Section 11.2(f) shall not include Liabilities of the Company arising out of obligations of the Company arising after the Closing under
any Listed Contracts;

(g)    any Pre-Closing Taxes;

(h)    any Taxes imposed on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the TeneoOne Sale to the extent such
Taxes are in excess of the Assumed Tax Liability; and

(i)    the matters set forth in Schedule 11.2(i).
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Section 11.3    Indemnification of Pre-Closing Holders. From and after the Closing, each of the Pre-Closing Holders and each of
their respective officers, directors, employees, shareholders, partners, members or other equity holders, agents and representatives
(each, a “Pre-Closing Holder Indemnified Party”) shall be indemnified and held harmless by Buyer against such Pre-Closing
Holder’s Pro-Rata Percentage of any and all Losses, whether or not involving a Third Party Claim, arising out of or directly or
indirectly resulting from:

(a)    the breach or violation of or inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made by Buyer or Merger Sub on the date of
this Agreement or on the Closing Date contained in this Agreement or in any other document executed and delivered by Buyer or
Merger Sub in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (in each case, as such representation or
warranty would read if all qualifications as to materiality, including each reference to the words “Material Adverse Effect,”
“material” and “materiality” and all similar phrases and words, were deleted therefrom); or

(b)    the breach or violation of any covenant or agreement of Buyer or Merger Sub contained in this Agreement or in any
other document executed and delivered by Buyer or Merger Sub in connection with the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby, whether occurring before or at the Closing but not after the Closing.

Section 11.4    Limits on Indemnification.

(a)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, an Indemnifying Party shall not be liable for any
claim for indemnification pursuant to Section 11.2(a) or Section 11.3(a) unless and until the aggregate amount of indemnifiable
Losses which may be recovered from the Indemnifying Party under Section 11.2(a) or Section 11.3(a), as the case may be, equals or
exceeds four million five hundred thousand U.S. Dollars ($4,500,000) (such amount, the “Deductible”), after which the
Indemnifying Party shall be liable for the full amount of all Losses and not only those in excess of the Deductible; provided,
however, that the foregoing limitations set forth in this Section 11.4(a) shall not apply to (i) breaches of, or inaccuracies in, the
Fundamental Representations or (ii) Actions based upon fraud; provided, further, that claims for indemnification pursuant to any
other provision of Section 11.2 or Section 11.3 are not subject to the monetary limitations set forth in this Section 11.4.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, recovery from the Escrow Funds shall serve as
the sole and exclusive source of indemnification from which the Buyer Indemnified Parties may collect Losses for which they are
entitled to indemnification from the Pre-Closing Holders under Section 11.2(a), provided, however, that the foregoing limitations set
forth in this Section 11.4(b) shall not apply to (i) breaches of, or inaccuracies in, the Fundamental Representations, (ii) breaches of,
or inaccuracies in, the Semi-Fundamental Representations or (C) Actions based upon fraud. Recovery from the Escrow Funds and
the right of set-off under Section 11.8 shall serve as the sole and exclusive source of indemnification from which the Buyer
Indemnified Parties may collect Losses for which they are entitled to indemnification from the Pre-Closing Holders for breaches of
the Semi-Fundamental Representations under Section 11.2(a).
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(c)    For as long as there are funds available in the Escrow Funds to cover the Buyer Indemnified Parties’ indemnifiable
Losses, any and all Losses payable by the Pre-Closing Holders as Indemnifying Parties to the Buyer Indemnified Parties with
respect to Losses for which they are entitled to indemnification from the Pre-Closing Holders under Section 11.2(a) will be paid in
cash first out of the Escrow Funds, and in the event such Losses exceed, or are not paid and satisfied in full from, the Escrow Funds,
the Buyer Indemnified Parties shall have the right to satisfy in full such Losses by means of exercising Buyer’s rights of set-off
under Section 11.8. Except for with respect to Fundamental Representations, Semi-Fundamental Representations and Actions based
upon fraud, in no event shall a Pre-Closing Holder be liable for any Losses in excess of such Pre-Closing Holder’s Pro-Rata
Percentage of the Escrow Funds for any Losses arising out of or resulting from Losses for which the Buyer Indemnified Parties are
entitled to indemnification from the Pre-Closing Holders under Section 11.2(a).

(d)    Except with respect to Actions based upon fraud committed by such Pre-Closing Holder or of which such Pre-Closing
Holder had actual knowledge, in no event shall a Pre-Closing Holder be liable for any Losses with respect to Material Claims in
excess of the portion of the Final Merger Consideration actually paid to such Pre-Closing Holder.

(e)    For purposes of this Agreement, “Material Claims” means Losses arising out of or relating to: (i) any breaches of or
inaccuracies in any Fundamental Representations or (ii) any matter for which indemnification may be sought under clauses (b)
through (e) of Section 11.2.

(f)    The amount of any Losses for which indemnification is provided under this Article XI shall be net of any amounts
actually recovered by the Indemnified Party under insurance policies with respect to such Losses (net of the present value of any
increase in premiums actually imposed by the applicable insurance carrier as a result of the occurrence of the Loss, the Deductible
and all costs and expenses incurred in recovering such insurance proceeds with respect to such Loss).

(g)    The right of Buyer to indemnification pursuant to Section 11.2 will not be affected by any investigation conducted or
knowledge acquired (or capable of being acquired) at any time, whether before or after the execution and delivery of this Agreement
or the Closing, with respect to any accuracy of any representation or warranty, or performance of or compliance with any covenant
or agreement herein.

(h)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall any amounts included in the calculation of
Closing Date Funded Debt, Closing Date Net Working Capital, or Transaction Expenses be indemnifiable pursuant to this Article XI
or Section 8.5 (i.e., no “double counting”).

(i)    Except for the representations and warranties contained in Article IV, Buyer and Merger Sub acknowledge and agree
that none of the Company or the Subsidiaries or their respective Representatives nor any other Person makes, and Buyer and Merger
Sub are not relying on, any other express, implied or statutory representation or warranty with respect to the Company or the
Subsidiaries or otherwise, including with respect to any projections, forecasts or other future results or outcomes for the Company
and Subsidiaries.
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Section 11.5    Notice of Loss; Third Party Claims.

(a)    A claim for indemnification for any matter not involving a Third Party Claim may be asserted by written notice to the
party from whom indemnification is sought.

(b)    In the event that any Action shall be instituted or asserted by any third party in respect of which payment may be sought
under Section 11.2 or Section 11.3 (regardless of the limitations set forth in Section 11.4) (each, a “Third Party Claim”), the
Indemnified Party shall promptly cause written notice of the assertion of any Third Party Claim of which it has knowledge and that
may be covered by this indemnity to be forwarded to the Indemnifying Party. The failure of the Indemnified Party to give reasonably
prompt notice of any Third Party Claim shall not release, waive or otherwise affect the Indemnifying Party’s obligations with respect
thereto except to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is actually prejudiced as a result of such failure. The Indemnifying Party
shall have the right, at its sole option and expense, to be represented by counsel reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party and
to defend against, negotiate, settle or otherwise deal with any Third Party Claim that relates to any Losses indemnified by it
hereunder; provided, however, that the Indemnifying Party may not assume control of defense to a Third Party Claim (i) involving
any criminal proceeding, action, indictment, allegation or investigation, or in which relief other than monetary damages is sought,
(ii) involving the alleged misuse, infringement, misappropriation or violation of any Intellectual Property, (iii) involving a purported
class action, (iv) if the Indemnifying Party has not notified the Indemnified Party in writing that it will be liable to indemnify the
Indemnified Party with respect to all Losses relating to such Third Party Claim subject to the limitations of Section 11.4 or (v) if the
Third Party Claim relates to the Company Intellectual Property. In addition, the Indemnifying Party may not maintain the defense of
a Third Party Claim if it has failed to defend such Third Party Claim in good faith. If the Indemnifying Party elects to defend
against, negotiate, settle or otherwise deal with any Third Party Claim that relates to any Losses indemnified by it hereunder, it shall
within thirty (30) days (or sooner, if the nature of the Third Party Claim so requires) notify the Indemnified Party of its intent to do
so. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to defend against, negotiate, settle or otherwise deal with any Third Party Claim that relates
to any Losses indemnified against hereunder, or is not permitted to assume the defense of a Third Party Claim pursuant to the
proviso to the third sentence of this Section 11.5(b), the Indemnified Party may defend against, negotiate, settle or otherwise deal
with such Third Party Claim, subject to the provisions below. If the Indemnifying Party shall assume the defense of any Third Party
Claim pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the Indemnified Party may participate, at his or its own expense, in the defense of
such Third Party Claim; provided, however, that such Indemnified Party shall be entitled to participate in any such defense with
separate counsel at the expense of the Indemnifying Party if (A) so requested by the Indemnifying Party to participate, (B) in the
reasonable opinion of outside counsel to the Indemnified Party a conflict or potential conflict exists between the Indemnified Party
and the Indemnifying Party that would make such separate representation advisable, or (C) in the reasonable opinion of outside
counsel to the Indemnified Party there are legal defenses available to the Indemnified Party that are different from or additional to
those available to Indemnifying Party; and provided, further, that the Indemnifying Party shall not be required to pay for more than
one such counsel (plus any appropriate local counsel) for all Indemnified Parties in
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connection with any Third Party Claim. If after assuming the defense of a Third Party Claim the Indemnifying Party determines that
it is not required to provide indemnification therefor, it shall promptly notify the Indemnified Party, cease to control the defense of
such Third Party Claim, and shall nonetheless be responsible for all costs of defense incurred by it prior to such notice. The parties
hereto agree to reasonably cooperate with each other in connection with the defense, negotiation or settlement of any such Third
Party Claim. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 11.5 to the contrary, neither the Indemnifying Party nor the Indemnified Party
shall, without the written consent of the other party, settle or compromise any Third Party Claim or permit a default or consent to
entry of any Governmental Order unless (1) the claimant provides to such other party an unqualified release of the Indemnified
Parties and Indemnifying Parties from all liability in respect of such Third Party Claim, (2) such settlement does not involve any
injunctive relief binding upon the Indemnified Party or any of its Affiliates, (3) such settlement does not encumber any of the
material assets of any Indemnified Party or impose any restriction or condition that would apply to or materially affect any
Indemnified Party or the conduct of any Indemnified Party’s business and (4) such settlement does not involve any admission of
liability or wrongdoing by any Indemnified Party or any of its Affiliates.

(c)    In the event that the Indemnified Party conducts the defense of a Third Party Claim pursuant to this Section 11.5, the
Indemnifying Party will remain responsible for any and all other Losses that the Indemnified Party may incur or suffer resulting
from, arising out of, relating to, in the nature of or caused by the Third Party Claim to the fullest extent provided in this Article XI.

Section 11.6    Tax Treatment. To the extent permitted by Law, the parties hereto agree to treat all payments made under this Article
XI, under Section 8.5, under any other indemnity provision contained in this Agreement, and for any misrepresentations or breach of
warranties or covenants, as adjustments to the Final Merger Consideration and the Option Consideration for all Tax purposes.

Section 11.7    Remedies. From and after the Closing, except as specifically provided herein, the sole and exclusive remedy of any
Indemnified Party for any breach or failure to be true and correct, or alleged breach or failure to be true and correct, of any
representation or warranty in this Agreement, shall be indemnification in accordance with this Article XI. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, this Section 11.7 shall not operate to limit the rights of the parties to seek equitable remedies (including specific
performance or injunctive relief) or any remedies available to it under applicable Law in the event of (a) a party’s failure to comply
with its indemnification obligations hereunder or (b) fraud, willful breach or intentional misrepresentation committed by or on
behalf of any party.

Section 11.8    Set-Off. In addition to all other remedies contemplated herein and subject to the limitations set forth in Section 11.4
above, Buyer may set off, deduct or retain any amount due to the Pre-Closing Holders in respect of any bona fide claim for
indemnification against any of the Pre-Closing Holders pursuant to this Agreement against any Milestone Payments. In the case of
any claim for a breach of Semi-Fundamental Representations, the aggregate amount that Buyer may set-off shall equal one hundred
and thirty five million U.S. Dollars ($135,000,000).
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Section 11.9    No Right of Contribution. No Pre-Closing Holder shall have any right of contribution against the Company or the
Surviving Corporation with respect to any breach by the Company of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or
agreements.

Section 11.10    No Circular Recovery. Each Pre-Closing Holder hereby agrees that it will not make any claim for indemnification
against Buyer, the Surviving Corporation or the Company by reason of the fact that such Pre-Closing Holder was a controlling
Person, director, employee or representative of the Company or the Surviving Corporation or was serving as such for another Person
at the request of Buyer or the Company (whether such claim is for Losses of any kind or otherwise and whether such claim is
pursuant to any statute, organizational document, contractual obligation or otherwise) with respect to any claim brought by an
Indemnified Party against any Pre-Closing Holder relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby. With
respect to any claim brought by an Indemnified Party against any Pre-Closing Holder relating to this Agreement and any of the
transactions contemplated hereby, each Pre-Closing Holder expressly waives any right of subrogation, contribution, advancement,
indemnification or other claim against the Company with respect to any amounts owed by such Pre-Closing Holder pursuant to this
Article XI.

Section 11.11    Release of Escrow Funds. Subject to the further terms and conditions of the Escrow Agreement and this Article XI,
Buyer and the Stockholder Representative shall execute joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent instructing the Escrow Agent
to disburse the Escrow Funds in accordance with this Section 11.11:

(a)    On the date that is fifteen (15) months after the Closing (the “Escrow Release Date”), the amount remaining in the
Escrow Funds minus the aggregate amount determined by Buyer in good faith to be held in reserve to satisfy any pending claims
(the “Pending Claim Reserve”) shall be released by the Escrow Agent to the Exchange Agent for distribution to the Pre-Closing
Holders (provided, that amounts payable in respect of Company Options shall be paid by to the Surviving Corporation for payment
through its payroll system) in accordance with such Pre-Closing Holders’ Pro-Rata Percentage of such amount.

(b)    Following the Escrow Release Date, any Pending Claim Reserve shall remain in escrow until the resolution of all
applicable claims to which such reserve relates. To the extent that such pending claim or claims are resolved in favor of Buyer, the
amount determined to be owing to Buyer shall be paid to Buyer, with the amount of any such reserve remaining in the Escrow Funds
after such payment to Buyer, if any, being released by the Escrow Agent to the Exchange Agent for distribution to the Pre-Closing
Holders (provided, that amounts payable in respect of Company Options shall be paid by to the Surviving Corporation for payment
through its payroll system) in accordance with such Pre-Closing Holders’ Pro-Rata Percentage of such amount.

ARTICLE XII.
STOCKHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE

Section 12.1    Designation and Replacement of Stockholder Representative. The parties hereto have agreed that it is desirable to
designate a representative to act on behalf of holders of the Pre-
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Closing Holders, as the exclusive agent and attorney-in-fact for and on behalf of such Persons as specified herein (the “Stockholder
Representative”). By virtue of the approval of the Merger and this Agreement by the Pre-Closing Holders and without any further
action of any of the Pre-Closing Holders or the Company, Company has designated Fortis Advisors LLC as the Stockholder
Representative, and the receipt of the Requisite Stockholder Approval by the Company Stockholders shall constitute ratification and
approval of such designation. The designation of any Person as the Stockholder Representative, and the powers, immunities and
rights to indemnification granted to the Stockholder Representative Group hereunder: (i) are and shall be considered a power of
attorney coupled with an interest, and, except as set forth in this Article XI, such designation is irrevocable and shall not be affected
by the death, incapacity, illness, bankruptcy, dissolution or other inability to act of any of the Pre-Closing Holders, and (ii) shall
survive the delivery of an assignment by any Pre-Closing Holder of the whole or any fraction of his, her or its interest in the Escrow
Funds or Milestone Payments.

Section 12.2    Authority and Rights of the Stockholder Representative; Limitations on Liability. The Stockholder Representative
shall have such powers and authority as are necessary to carry out the functions assigned to it under this Agreement, the Escrow
Agreement and the Stockholder Representative Engagement Agreement; provided, however, that the Stockholder Representative
shall have no obligation to act on behalf of the Pre-Closing Holders, except as expressly provided herein, in the Escrow Agreement
and in the Stockholder Representative Engagement Agreement, and for purposes of clarity, there are no obligations of the
Stockholder Representative in any ancillary agreement, schedule, exhibit or the Company Disclosure Schedules. Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, the Stockholder Representative shall have full power, authority and discretion to (a) give and receive
notices and communications on behalf of the Pre-Closing Holders, (b) estimate and determine the amounts of Stockholder
Representative Expenses and to pay such Stockholder Representative Expenses in accordance with Section 3.5, (c) to resolve on
behalf of the Pre-Closing Holders any disputes related to the occurrence of any Milestone or the payment of any Milestone Payment,
including to commence litigation in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and to comply with Governmental Orders and
awards of any arbitrators related thereto, and to settle any such disputes on behalf of the Pre-Closing Holders, and (d) after the
Closing, negotiate and enter into amendments to this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement for and on behalf of the Pre-Closing
Holders. All actions taken by the Stockholder Representative under this Agreement, the Escrow Agreement or the Stockholder
Representative Engagement Agreement shall be binding upon the Pre-Closing Holders and their successors as if expressly
confirmed and ratified in writing by each of them, and all defenses which may be available to any Pre-Closing Holder to contest,
negate or disaffirm the action of the Stockholder Representative taken in good faith under this Agreement, the Escrow Agreement or
the Stockholder Representative Engagement Agreement are waived. The Stockholder Representative may resign at any time and
may be removed or replaced by a majority vote of the Advisory Group. The immunities and rights to indemnification shall survive
the resignation or removal of the Stockholder Representative or any member of the Advisory Group and the Closing and/or any
termination of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement. Certain Pre-Closing Holders have entered into an engagement agreement
(the “Stockholder Representative Engagement Agreement”) with the Stockholder Representative to provide direction to the
Stockholder Representative in connection with its services under this Agreement,
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the Escrow Agreement and the Stockholder Representative Engagement Agreement (such Pre-Closing Holders, including their
individual representatives, collectively hereinafter referred to as the “Advisory Group”). Neither the Stockholder Representative nor
its members, managers, directors, officers, contractors, agents and employees nor any member of the Advisory Group (collectively,
the “Stockholder Representative Group”), shall have any liability to Buyer, the Company or any holder of Common Stock, Preferred
Stock or Company Options with respect to actions taken or omitted to be taken in good faith in its capacity as the Stockholder
Representative under this Agreement, the Escrow Agreement or the Stockholder Representative Engagement Agreement (except for
those arising out of the Stockholder Representative’s gross negligence or willful misconduct). The Pre-Closing Holders
acknowledge that the Stockholder Representative shall not be required to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any
financial liability in the exercise or performance of any of its powers, rights, duties or privileges or pursuant to this Agreement, the
Escrow Agreement, the Stockholder Representative Engagement Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby. The
Stockholder Representative shall at all times be entitled to rely on any directions received from the Majority Holders; provided,
however, that the Stockholder Representative shall not be required to follow any such direction, and shall be under no obligation to
take any action in its capacity as the Stockholder Representative, unless the Stockholder Representative is holding funds delivered to
it under Section 3.5 and has been provided with other funds, security or indemnities which, in the sole determination of the
Stockholder Representative, are sufficient to protect the Stockholder Representative against the costs, expenses and liabilities which
may be incurred by the Stockholder Representative in responding to such direction or taking such action. The Stockholder
Representative shall be entitled to engage such counsel, experts and other agents and consultants as it shall deem necessary in
connection with exercising its powers and performing its function hereunder and (in the absence of bad faith on the part of the
Stockholder Representative) shall be entitled to conclusively rely on the opinions and advice of such Persons. The Stockholder
Representative shall be entitled to: (i) rely upon the Payment Spreadsheet, (ii) rely upon any signature believed by it to be genuine,
and (iii) reasonably assume that a signatory has proper authorization to sign on behalf of the applicable Pre-Closing Holder or other
party. The Stockholder Representative shall be entitled to reimbursement for all Stockholder Representative Expenses first, from the
Stockholder Representative Expense Fund, second from any distribution of the Escrow Funds or Milestone Payments otherwise
distributable to the Pre-Closing Holders at the time of distribution, and third, directly from the Pre-Closing Holders. The Stockholder
Representative Group shall be entitled to indemnification and defense by the Pre-Closing Holders and shall be held harmless against
any loss, liability or Stockholder Representative Expenses arising out of actions taken or omitted to be taken in good faith in its
capacity as the Stockholder Representative under this Agreement, the Escrow Agreement or the Stockholder Representative
Engagement Agreement (except for those arising out of the Stockholder Representative’s gross negligence or willful misconduct),
including the costs and expenses of investigation and defense of claims. In the event that the Stockholder Representative determines,
in its sole and absolute discretion, that the funds paid to the Stockholder Representative pursuant to Section 3.5 exceed the
Stockholder Representative Expenses, as soon as reasonably determined by the Stockholder Representative that the Stockholder
Representative Expense Fund is no longer required to be withheld, the Stockholder Representative shall transfer such excess amount
to the Escrow Agent solely for disbursement (or otherwise cause such excess
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amount to be disbursed) to the Pre-Closing Holders as Final Merger Consideration in accordance with each Pre-Closing Holder’s
Pro-Rata Percentage; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or the Escrow Agreement,
in no event shall such excess amount otherwise become payable to Buyer.

ARTICLE XIII.
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 13.1    Waiver. Any party to this Agreement may, at any time prior to the Closing, by action taken by its Board of Directors,
or officers thereunto duly authorized, waive any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement or (without limiting Section 13.11)
agree to an amendment or modification to this Agreement by an agreement in writing executed in the same manner (but not
necessarily by the same Persons) as this Agreement. No waiver by any of the parties hereto of any default, misrepresentation or
breach of representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement hereunder, whether intentional or not, shall be deemed to extend to
any prior or subsequent default, misrepresentation or breach or affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of any prior or
subsequent such occurrence. No waiver by any of the parties of any of the provisions hereof shall be effective unless explicitly set
forth in writing and executed by the party sought to be charged with such waiver.

Section 13.2    Notices. All notices and other communications among the parties shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have
been duly given (i) when delivered in person, (ii) when delivered after posting in the United States mail having been sent registered
or certified mail return receipt requested, postage prepaid, (iii) when delivered by FedEx or other nationally recognized overnight
delivery service, or (iv) when delivered by facsimile or email (in each case in this clause (iv), solely if receipt is confirmed),
addressed as follows, provided that with respect to notices deliverable to the Stockholder Representative, such notices shall be
delivered solely via email or facsimile:

(a)    If to Buyer, Merger Sub or the Surviving Corporation, to:

Amgen Inc.
One Amgen Center Drive
Thousand Oaks, California 91320-1799
Attention: Corporate Secretary
Facsimile: 805.499.6751

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Latham & Watkins LLP
650 Town Center Drive
Costa Mesa, California 92626
Attention: Charles Ruck; Daniel Rees
Email: charles.ruck@lw.com; daniel.rees@lw.com

(b)    If to the Company, prior to the Closing, to:
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TeneoBio, Inc.
7999 Gateway Blvd #320
Newark, CA 94560
Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Email: rbuelow@teneobio.com

with copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP
550 Allerton Street, Redwood City, CA 94063
Attention: Colin Chapman; Michael Irvine
Email: cchapman@gunder.com; mirvine@gunder.com

(c)    If to the Stockholder Representative, to:

Fortis Advisors LLC
Attention: Notices Department (Project Tuxedo)
Email: notices@fortisrep.com
Facsimile No.: (858) 408-1843

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP
550 Allerton Street, Redwood City, CA 94063
Attention: Colin Chapman; Michael Irvine
Email: cchapman@gunder.com; mirvine@gunder.com

or to such other address or addresses as the parties may from time to time designate in writing.

Section 13.3    Assignment. No party hereto shall assign this Agreement or any part hereof without the prior written consent of the
other parties; provided, that Buyer or Merger Sub may assign this Agreement or any part hereof to an Affiliate thereof without the
consent of any other party hereto; provided, that Buyer or Merger Sub, as applicable, shall remain liable for any obligations so
assigned. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their
respective successors and permitted assigns.

Section 13.4    Rights of Third Parties. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to confer
upon or give any Person, other than the parties hereto, any right or remedies under or by reason of this Agreement.

Section 13.5    Release. In consideration of each Pre-Closing Holder’s right to receive their applicable portion of the Final Merger
Consideration, and as a condition and inducement to the Company’s, Buyer’s and Merger Sub’s willingness to enter into this
Agreement, effective as of the Closing Date, each Pre-Closing Holder, on behalf of itself, himself or herself and each of its, his or
her agents, trustees, beneficiaries, directors, officers, Affiliates, Subsidiaries, estate, successors, assigns, members and partners
(each, a “Pre-Closing Holder Releasor”), hereby (a) acknowledges, warrants and agrees that he, she or it has no claims against the
Company,
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Buyer and/or Surviving Corporation and their respective Affiliates, and each of their respective current and former officers,
directors, employees, partners, members and advisors (collectively, the “Pre-Closing Holder Releasees”), and (b) irrevocably and
unconditionally releases and forever discharges the Pre-Closing Holder Releasees of and from any and all actions, causes of action,
suits, proceedings, judgments, debts, dues, claims and demands whatsoever, whether in law or in equity, which the Pre-Closing
Holder Releasor may have against each of the Pre-Closing Holder Releasees, now or in the future, in each case, in respect of any
cause, matter or thing relating to (i) such Pre-Closing Holder Releasor’s ownership or purported ownership of Pre-Closing Holder
Releasor’s Company Capital Stock or other securities of the Company, (ii) the negotiation or execution of this Agreement or any of
the other documents referenced in this Agreement or the consummation of the Merger and any transactions contemplated thereby, or
(iii) any other matters related to the Company (the “Pre-Closing Holder Released Claims”). Each Pre-Closing Holder Releasor
acknowledges, warrants and agrees that he, she or it does not rely, and has not relied, on any representation or statement not set forth
in this Agreement made by any representative of the Company or anyone else with regard to the subject matter, basis or effect of this
release, and is familiar with Section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California (“Section 1542”), which provides as follows: A
GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO
EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER
MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
this release shall not cover, and Pre-Closing Holder Released Claims do not include, (A) claims arising from the rights of such Pre-
Closing Holder Releasor under this Agreement (including the right to receive any payments due to such Pre-Closing Holder
Releasor as contemplated hereunder), (B) if such PreClosing Holder Releasor is an employee of the Company, such Pre-Closing
Holder Releasor’s rights, if any, to accrued and unpaid salary or bonus due to such Pre-Closing Holder Releasor through the date
hereof, vested employee benefits as of the date hereof, and business expenses incurred prior to the date hereof, (C) any rights of
indemnification that a Pre-Closing Holder Releasor may have by reason of his or her status as a director, officer, or fiduciary of the
Company, pursuant to the Company Charter, the Company Bylaws, or under applicable Law, subject to this Agreement, or (D) any
other rights that cannot by Law be released by private agreement. Each Pre-Closing Holder Releasor hereby waives and relinquishes
on behalf of himself, herself or itself, his, her or its heirs, executors, administrators and assigns any rights and benefits that such Pre-
Closing Holder Releasor may have under Section 1542 or any similar statute or common law principle of any jurisdiction. Each Pre-
Closing Holder Releasor acknowledges that he, she or it may hereafter discover facts in addition to or different from those that Pre-
Closing Holder Releasor now knows or believes to be true with respect to the subject matter of this release, but it is Pre-Closing
Holder Releasor’s intention to fully and finally and forever settle and release any and all Pre-Closing Holder Released Claims (other
than such PreClosing Holder Released Claims expressly reserved and excluded herein) that do now exist, may exist or heretofore
have existed with respect to the subject matter of this release. In furtherance of this intention, the releases contained herein shall be
and remain in effect as full and complete general releases notwithstanding the discovery or existence of any such additional or
different facts. This release is conditioned upon the consummation of the Merger as contemplated in herein and shall become null
and void, and shall have no effect whatsoever,
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without any action on the part of any Person, upon termination of this Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof for any
reason.

Section 13.6    Expenses. Each party hereto, other than the Stockholder Representative (whose expenses shall be paid out of funds
paid to the Stockholder Representative under Section 3.5), shall bear its own expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement
and the transactions contemplated hereby whether or not such transactions shall be consummated, including all fees of its legal
counsel, financial advisers and accountants; provided, however, that the fees and expenses of the Independent Auditor, if any, shall
be paid in accordance with Section 3.4; provided, further, that the parties hereto shall pay Transfer Taxes in accordance with Section
8.5; provided, further, that Buyer shall pay all fees payable to the Antitrust Authorities in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement in accordance with Section 8.6(c); provided, further, that, in the event that the transactions
contemplated hereby are not consummated, the Company shall reimburse the Stockholder Representative for all costs and expenses
incurred by the Stockholder Representative in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 13.7    Governing Law. This Agreement, and all claims or causes of action based upon, arising out of, or related to this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the Laws of the State of
Delaware, without giving effect to principles or rules of conflict of laws to the extent such principles or rules would require or
permit the application of Laws of another jurisdiction.

Section 13.8    Captions; Counterparts. The captions in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be considered a part of
or affect the construction or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement. This Agreement may be executed in two or more
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
Counterparts and any other document required to be executed and delivered hereunder may be delivered via facsimile, electronic
mail (including .pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000 (e.g., www.docusign.com)) or
other transmission method and any counterpart or such document so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly
delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.

Section 13.9    Schedules, Exhibits and Annexes. The Disclosure Schedules, Exhibits and Annexes referenced herein are a part of
this Agreement as if fully set forth herein. All references herein to the Disclosure Schedules, Exhibits and Annexes shall be deemed
references to such parts of this Agreement, unless the context shall otherwise require. Any disclosure made by a party in the
Disclosure Schedules with reference to any section or schedule of this Agreement shall be deemed to be a disclosure with respect to
all other sections or schedules to which the relevance of such disclosure is reasonably apparent. Certain information set forth in the
Disclosure Schedules is included solely for informational purposes and may not be required to be disclosed pursuant to this
Agreement. The disclosure of any information shall not be deemed to constitute an acknowledgment that such information is
required to be disclosed in connection with the representations and warranties made in this Agreement, nor shall such information be
deemed to establish a standard of materiality.
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Section 13.10    Entire Agreement. This Agreement (together with the Disclosure Schedules, Exhibits and Annexes to this
Agreement), the Escrow Agreement, and that certain Non-Disclosure Agreement, dated March 10, 2021, between Buyer and the
Company (the “Confidentiality Agreement”) constitute the entire agreement among the parties relating to the transactions
contemplated hereby and supersede any other agreements, whether written or oral, that may have been made or entered into by or
among any of the parties hereto or any of their respective Subsidiaries relating to the transactions contemplated hereby. No
representations, warranties, covenants, understandings or agreements, oral or otherwise, relating to the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement exist between the parties, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, the Escrow Agreement, and the
Confidentiality Agreement.

Section 13.11    Amendments. This Agreement may be amended or modified in whole or in part, only by a duly authorized
agreement in writing executed in the same manner as this Agreement and which makes reference to this Agreement. The approval of
this Agreement by the stockholders of the Company shall not restrict the ability of the Board of Directors of the Company to
terminate this Agreement in accordance with Section 10.1 or to cause the Company to enter into an amendment to this Agreement
pursuant to this Section 13.11 to the extent permitted under Section 251(d) of the DGCL.

Section 13.12    Publicity. The Company agrees that, from the date hereof through the Closing Date, no public release or
announcement concerning the transactions contemplated hereby shall be issued or made by or on behalf of any party without the
prior consent of Buyer, except the Company may make any disclosures or announcements necessary to comply with applicable Law
or regulations. Buyer shall prepare, subject to the Company’s review and comment, a joint press release to be issued on or promptly
(and in any event within two (2) Business Days) after the date of this Agreement. The Company agrees to keep the terms of this
Agreement confidential, except to the extent and to the Persons to whom disclosure is required by applicable Law or securities
exchange regulation or for purposes of compliance with financial reporting obligations; provided, that the Company may disclose
such terms to its employees, accountants, advisors and other representatives as necessary in connection with the ordinary conduct of
businesses (so long as such Persons agree to, or are bound by contract or professional or fiduciary obligations to, keep the terms of
this Agreement confidential and so long as the Company shall be responsible to the other parties hereto for breach of this Section
13.12 or such confidentiality obligations by the recipients of its disclosure).

Section 13.13    Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent
jurisdiction, the other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. The parties further agree that if any
provision contained herein is, to any extent, held invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the Laws governing this Agreement,
they shall take any actions necessary to render the remaining provisions of this Agreement valid and enforceable to the fullest extent
permitted by Law and, to the extent necessary, shall amend or otherwise modify this Agreement to replace any provision contained
herein that is held invalid or unenforceable with a valid and enforceable provision giving effect to the intent of the parties.
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Section 13.14    Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.

(a)    Any Action based upon, arising out of or related to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby may be
brought in the Delaware Chancery Court (or, if the Delaware Chancery Court shall be unavailable, any other court of the State of
Delaware or, in the case of claims to which the federal courts have exclusive subject matter jurisdiction, any federal court of the
United States of America sitting in the State of Delaware), and, in each case, appellate courts therefrom, and each of the parties
irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of each such court in any such Action, waives any objection it may now or hereafter
have to personal jurisdiction, venue or to convenience of forum, agrees that all claims in respect of such Action shall be heard and
determined only in any such court, and agrees not to bring any Action arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby in any other court. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect the right of any party to serve process in
any manner permitted by Law or to commence legal proceedings or otherwise proceed against any other party in any other
jurisdiction, in each case, to enforce judgments obtained in any Action brought pursuant to this Section 13.14(a).

(b)    EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW,
ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY ACTION ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT
OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. EACH PARTY HERETO (I) CERTIFIES THAT NO
REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR
OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF ANY ACTION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE
FOREGOING WAIVER AND (II) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN
INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVER AND
CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 13.14.

Section 13.15    Enforcement. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur, and that the parties would not have any
adequate remedy at law, in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their
specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to
prevent breaches of this Agreement and to specifically enforce the terms and provisions of this Agreement, without proof of actual
damages or otherwise, in addition to any other remedy to which any party is entitled at law or in equity. Each party agrees to waive
any requirement for the securing or posting of any bond in connection with such remedy. The parties further agree not to assert that a
remedy of specific enforcement is unenforceable, invalid, contrary to law or inequitable for any reason, nor to assert that a remedy
of monetary damages would provide an adequate remedy. To the extent any party hereto brings an Action to enforce specifically the
performance of the terms and provisions of this Agreement (other than an Action to enforce specifically any provision that by its
terms requires performance after the Closing or expressly survives termination of this Agreement), the Outside Date shall
automatically be extended to (a) the twentieth (20th) Business Day following the resolution of such Action or (b) such other time
period established by the court presiding over such Action.
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Section 13.16    Tax Advice. Each party hereto acknowledges and agrees that it has not received and is not relying upon Tax advice
from any other party, and that it has and will continue to consult with its own advisors with respect to Taxes.

Section 13.17    Privilege. Buyer and the Company agree that the attorney-client privilege of the Company and its Subsidiaries shall
continue to belong to them following the Closing and shall not pass to or be claimed by any Pre-Closing Holder (and any attorney-
client privilege of the Pre-Closing Holders shall continue to belong to the Pre-Closing Holders following the Closing and shall not
pass to or be claimed by the Company or its Subsidiaries), provided that, as to all communications prior to the Closing among
outside legal counsel to the Company (including Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP or Hogan
Lovells US LLP) and the Company and the Pre-Closing Holders and their respective Affiliates that relate to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and are subject to the attorney-client privilege and the exception of client confidence, none of
Acquirer, the Company or any of their Affiliates shall disclose (nor shall any Pre-Closing Holder or any of its Affiliates be required
to disclose) any such communications in any legal proceeding in support of a claim by any of them against the Stockholder
Representative, any Pre-Closing Holder any of their Affiliates (unless such communication is no longer subject to attorney-client
privilege for reasons other than the actions of Parent, the Company or any of their Affiliates).

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have hereunto caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above
written.

TENEOBIO, INC.

By: /s/ Roland Buelow    
Name: Roland Buelow
Title: Chief Executive Officer

TUXEDO MERGER SUB, INC.

By: /s/ Jonathan P. Graham    
Name: Jonathan P. Graham
Title: Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

AMGEN INC.

By: /s/ Robert A. Bradway    
Name: Robert A. Bradway
Title: Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President

FORTIS ADVISORS LLC, solely in its capacity as Stockholder Representative
hereunder

By: /s/ Ryan Simkin    
Name: Ryan Simkin
Title: Managing Director



List of Exhibits and Annexes Omitted from the Agreement and Plan of Merger
Referenced in Exhibit 2.7 Above

Pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item 601(b)(2), the Exhibits and Annexes to the Agreement and Plan of Merger referenced in Exhibit 2.7 above, as listed below,
have not been filed. The Registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted Exhibit or Annex to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Commission”) upon request; provided, however, that the Registrant may request confidential treatment of omitted items.

Exhibits
Exhibit A – Form of Written Consent
Exhibit B – Form of Certificate of Merger
Exhibit C – Form of Certificate of Incorporation
Exhibit D – Form of Escrow Agreement
Exhibit E – Forms of Second Amended and Restated Assignment and License Agreements

Annexes
Annex A – TNB-585
Annex B – Pro Forma Payment Spreadsheet
Annex C – Eligible Programs
Annex D – Restructuring Step Plan
Annex E – Sample Net Working Capital Statement



Exhibit 31

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Robert A. Bradway, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President of Amgen Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Amgen Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this quarterly report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 2, 2021 /s/ ROBERT A. BRADWAY
Robert A. Bradway
Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer and President
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Peter H. Griffith, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Amgen Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Amgen Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this quarterly report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 2, 2021 /s/ PETER H. GRIFFITH
Peter H. Griffith
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Amgen Inc. (the “Company”)
hereby certifies that:

(i) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended September 30, 2021 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 2, 2021 /s/ ROBERT A. BRADWAY
Robert A. Bradway

Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer and President

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”), or other document
authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required
by Section 906, has been provided to Amgen Inc. and will be retained by Amgen Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.
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Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Amgen Inc. (the “Company”)
hereby certifies that:

(i) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended September 30, 2021 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 2, 2021 /s/ PETER H. GRIFFITH
Peter H. Griffith

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”), or other document
authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required
by Section 906, has been provided to Amgen Inc. and will be retained by Amgen Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.
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